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DAY 1 – 11 JANUARY 2016 

 

  [10.03 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning everyone. Happy New Year to everyone. A 5 

great way to start the year, focus the mind on a hearing. Now, just in 

terms of appearances, I have got an appearance schedule here, which 

Mr Laing and Ms McCullum for the Council? 

 

MR LAING:   Your Honour, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms White for the Crown. Mr Williams for 

CIAL and Orion. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Airport and Orion. Ms Limmer for Fulton Hogan. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Broughton for the Riccarton Wigram Community 

Board. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Stoaks, thank you, we found a slot for you 

tomorrow morning, Mr Stoaks. We found a slot for you tomorrow 

morning and we will talk about that shortly. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you very much, I very much appreciate it. Thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Woodford, good morning, and Mr Pickering.  

 

MR PICKERING:  Good morning. 

 35 

  [10.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Now, there are just a couple of housekeeping 

matters before I heard from you, Mr Laing, on the Council’s opening. 

Just in terms of today’s schedule, it is unfortunately going to take us 40 

through past 5.00 pm until about 5.45 pm on the current timetable 

depending on how much progress we actually make. That is necessary 

in order to accommodate people who have other commitments on other 

days, so it is to assist submitters.  

 45 
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 The next thing I thought I would just note for all parties is that the 

Stage 1 Subdivision decision is imminent and it is the Panel’s hope that 

we would issue that within the next couple of days in order that parties 

understand that decision before this matter comes to a close, although I 

also think that on that basis it is likely that I will adjourn the hearing at 5 

the close of tomorrow on a similar basis that I have done in the past, to 

allow for a timetabled exchange of response, closing submissions, and 

in this case I think part of that timetable may be to seek parties 

assistance on matters of making sure the Stage 1 decision and what we 

issue for in due course on this matter is as consistent as it can be. So 10 

that is just a drafting consistency issue I am referring to there. So just to 

signal that that is what is in my mind at the moment, subject to any 

parties views on that.  

 

 The other thing I was going to say, now, perhaps to address you, 15 

Mr Laing, on this. We have some Panel questions on drafting matters 

anticipating either to Mr Collins or Ms Oliver, and it did occur to me 

that to make that most efficient there are a number of questions from 

Ms Dawson and Mr Willis, I wonder whether we could perhaps recall 

Mr Collins to come back in a form of hot tubbing with Ms Oliver for 20 

questioning from the Panel on drafting matters this afternoon. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, certainly, Mr Collins will be here throughout and 

Ms Oliver is here today all day.  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR LAING:   So there would not be any problems about that at all your 

Honour.  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, well, what we would have in mind is that on matters 

of contention between the parties the Panel will ask its questions at the 

relevant time of the witnesses when they are called in terms of due 

process, but when it comes to technical drafting issues it might be most 

efficient that we have both witnesses together in the witness box, 35 

bearing in mind there might be different responsibilities that might be 

shared in some cases.  

 

MR LAING:   Yes, is your Honour thinking about doing that before any other 

party opens or? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I was just thinking out loud, that it might be 

appropriate to - - - 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Oliver is of course the last Council witness, and that could 45 

then morph into sort of joint questions. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so what we might do is have Ms Oliver’s questioning 

on matters of contention and so forth, and then have her remain in the 

witness box for further Panel questioning, and at that stage we will 

have Mr Collins re-sworn back in and have them hot tub for that 5 

session, and then to allow for questions arising from that. 

 

MR LAING:   Further submitter questions arising from that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   I guess I may have some too, but it is mainly going to be 

submitters I think. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thanks very much Mr Laing. All right, I think 15 

that is all of the matters of housekeeping and we have had a chance to 

read all submissions and obviously the evidence in advance, but on that 

basis if you just take that lead and do not forget - - - 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, I will just go through it and we can deal with any questions 20 

then. So my opening submissions, introduction there, I simply explain 

the background to the current hearings, the Panel’s direction about re-

notification, and things have moved on very considerably since that 

time. It has been a very collaborative process, which I refer to in my 

paragraph 1.3, a number of the parties have participated, it has been a 25 

very good process in my view, and one that has taken place largely 

without too much legal intervention. 

 

 So we are now limited to a number of pretty discrete issues, obviously 

subject to any questions the Panel has got in any drafting matters. So I 30 

would just like to thank the submitters who have taken part in that 

process, it has certainly been quite lengthy and I think at times difficult, 

but it has certainly resulted in a much better proposal I think that you 

have got now before you today. 

 35 

 Going over to my page 3, I just flag there two legal issues as I need to 

in terms of scope. One relates to Tegel and the scope of their 

submission and I will explain that a bit later on, and the second one 

relates to the Awatea Residents Association who seek some fairly 

challenging and special type of relief. 40 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 In my 2.2 I simply adopt our earlier submissions on scope and then in 

2.3 I flag what is quite an important issue for this hearing and that is 45 

whether the Panel can in fact even deal with on a jurisdictional basis 
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many of the requests for re-zonings which are contrary to the Higher 

Order documents, and certainly those that are outside the either existing 

urban area or the greenfield priority areas which are on map A of 

chapter 6 and I will deal with that in my submissions in more detail. 

 5 

 So then in my section 3 I deal with the summary of outstanding issues 

and this is on drafting - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR LAING:   - - - and they are quite discrete and you will be hearing quite a 

lot of evidence about them; I do not think I am going to need to take 

you through those in any detail.  The first one relates to clause B in 

policy 8.1.4.1 and that deals with consistency with ODPs and 

Mr Collins, you will hearing evidence, has proposed – fairly late but 15 

nevertheless – proposed an amendment that tries to deal with the issues 

that have been raised there.   

 

 The next one is consistency that this activity status the question where 

there is a failure to comply with an ODP or a failure to meet the 20 

residential net density standards, and I provide there some references to 

Mr Collins’ evidence and there is opposing evidence on those points 

from the Crown and Ngai Tahu. 

 

 My C there is a variation on the activity status for residential net 25 

density standards.  This has been subject to some redrafting as you will 

hear, to deal with the problem about density transfer, and the Panel may 

recall this was an issue that arose out of earlier hearings - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and I have to say has been quite challenging, but I am happy 

to answer any questions about that and Mr Collins can deal with that as 

well, but there has been a lot of redrafting to try to make those 

transcript provisions (a) workable, (b) sufficiently certain, and also 35 

make sure that nothing sort of falls through the gaps.  But I am happy 

to take you through that or Mr Collins will anyway. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, okay, thank you. 

 40 

MR LAING:   And then D is a very minor point relating to activity status post-

greenfield subdivision but I do not think that needs to detain you very 

long today because the relative witness has not been able to come up 

with any real solution to deal with that issue. 

 45 
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 Then on page 5 my E, this is a matter relating to the activity status for 

retirement villages.  The Council says it should be controlled, the 

relevant submitters say it should be permitted.   

 

 And then finally there is, in my F, there are amendments to 14.9.25 that 5 

are proposed by the Crown.  Mr Collins says they are not required but 

this is a matter that I think respectfully could be the subject of some 

further caucusing to sort out.  It is really mainly a drafting issue and it 

has really only arisen very late because of the – and no criticism of the 

Crown – but it has arisen very late because of when the Crown rebuttal 10 

evidence was received. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that further caucusing, are you referring to that as 

being as between the Crown and the Council? 

 15 

MR LAING:   It will be at least Ms McIntyre and Mr Collins. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR LAING:   It could be one way forward there. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MR LAING:   I do not think I need to deal with – my section 4 I deal with the 

memorandum being filed by the parties and also like to note in 4.2 the 25 

Cashmere Land Holdings is sold - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and I will tell the Panel as soon as that settlement has taken 30 

place.  But that will probably fit in quite well, your Honour, if there is a 

reasonable amount of time for final submissions in closing we can deal 

with that later on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 35 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MR LAING:   In my section 5 I simply set out the summary from Mr Collins’ 

evidence, I do not think I need to read that to you, it is a summary and 40 

you will note however that there has been a lot of work done in refining 

the proposal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   And then if I go to my page 7 if the Panel pleases, I then go into 

what are the outstanding issues in relation to ODPs.  In 6.1 I say there 

that there has been no evidence on various ODPs there and so those 

matters are more or less not in contention as far as the Council is 

concerned any longer - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - except that I do note under E, that is Yaldhurst, Mr Stokes 

is appearing to make submissions although he is not giving evidence. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   He has been put on the programme now so - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Yes, so looking at the memorandum this morning I think 

we found time tomorrow morning at 10.00 am. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, he is on first thing tomorrow is he not?  And then in 6.2 I 

then deal with other ones where there has been evidence filed but there 20 

have been further negotiations and as far as I am concerned at least 

those matters there are now being resolved as between the Council and 

other submitters. 

 

 I then deal with matters where there are residual disagreement and they 25 

are quite distinct and discrete.  But firstly the Riccarton Park ODP and 

the issue there relates to a setback, whether there should be any special 

setback to deal with the amenity effects of transmission lines, and that 

will be the evidence and cross examinations today and tomorrow.  

South Masham, this is the one where there is the scope issue with Tegel 30 

but in my submission there is a Council submission that does cover that 

so in my view that is not an impediment to the Panel dealing with that 

matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But there is a difference between the Council and Tegel 35 

on the substance of the relief (INDISTINCT 2.36)? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes there is but that might be resolved I think in the course of – 

the Council, there is an area of constraint, but the Council, the issue is 

whether that should be extended to deal with potential odour issues and 40 

the Council has come up with a different proposal through Ms Oliver 

and she can explain that when she gives evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and there is also another party interested in this one 

as well is there not? 45 
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MR LAING:   Yes there is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is the Luneys Buchanan. 

 

MR LAING:   Luneys, sorry. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And obviously the substantive issue of what if any 

provision is appropriate for reverse sensitivity in this context is alive. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, yes, it is, and there is evidence from Tegel on that point. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.   

 

MR LAING:   6.8 I just note that there is a Fulton Hogan submission but not 

evidence to dealing with interim use for quarrying in ODP areas or 15 

removal of their landholdings from the South Masham area but there is 

no evidence from Fulton Hogan on that topic but they are cross 

examining witnesses so I will just note that. 

 

 Awatea, there is an issue there that I set out in 6.9 and 6.10 but in my 20 

submission that the relief there sought is beyond scope.  It relates to 

property financial issues.  The Panel cannot be involved in a situation 

where directing the Council to take certain steps of a property nature. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Then Hendersons, you will hear quite a lot of evidence about the 

Hendersons’ ODP.  Ms Oliver has been quite frank that the boundary 

of the Regional Policy Statement GPA area is not ideal and she 

discusses that in her evidence, but feel is constrained to conclude that 30 

you cannot go beyond the GPA boundary at this stage.  So that is 

discussed in her evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we had notice from Mr Lewis I think on Friday 

about his witness Mr Tisch - - - 35 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Being unable to be contacted and as far as he understood 

as of late last week he did not think he was going to be available to give 40 

evidence, so you did not ask for any directions from the Panel on that 

and it was just a matter of informing us, but it may be that there is a 

question about whether or not Mr Tisch’s evidence can be accepted in 

on the basis of being a written brief, that is not the subject of cross-

examination and given the weight that that would accord to it, but 45 

nevertheless there is a written brief from Mr Tisch and at this stage Mr 
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Lewis has informed us that he has not been able to find him for him to 

come along and give evidence and be cross-examined. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 5 

MR LAING:   Well I was just waiting to see what happened today, your 

Honour, but it is entirely within the Panel’s discretion to admit that 

evidence I have to concede, but my view you really cannot place much 

weight on it. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will leave with Mr Lewis as to whether or not he 

manages to get in touch with him. 

 

MR LAING:   He needs to find out whether he is going to be here I assume.  I 

am assuming Mr Tisch will not be here. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   In 6.2 one point too I just deal with Mr Lewis’s evidence and Mr 

Tish’s evidence and the Council’s position is that irrespective of any 20 

other consideration the rezoning is outside the ODP area, it is outside 

the Greenfields priority area and should therefore not be granted by the 

Panel.  There is also ongoing wastewater and storm water constraints 

which will be dealt with in evidence as well as some transportation 

issues that are dealt with by Mr Milne. So all those reasons in my 25 

submission that relief should not be granted.   

 

 6.30 I just refer to some submitters there who have recorded agreement 

for the zoning. 

 30 

 Then turning to South Halswell, there is an issue round a small part of 

the ODP area which is in the South Eastern corner and various 

submitters are opposed to the Residential New Neighbourhood zoning 

for those areas, again it will be subject of evidence that are the same at 

the stage, but I set out in A, B and C there the competing submitters 35 

and as to what they are saying. 

 

 In 6.15 I just deal very briefly with the issues around storm water and 

flooding.  There is no doubt that the area does have some constraints 

but the Council’s position is that those constraints are not such that at 40 

this stage should preclude the New Neighbourhood zoning being 

upheld.  Mr Kingsbury, the Council witness will deal with the issue 

around liquefaction and no doubt he will be cross-examined in due 

course. 

 45 
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 At 16.16 I just deal with what I have already said that the Council does 

accept that there is difficulties about achieving a 15 households per 

hectare density yield there across all the land, but then that is actually 

already contemplated by the RPS. 

 5 

 South Halswell, there is some evidence there that will be need to be 

dealt with and I do not have anything to say more at this stage, and at 

South West Halswell there is a very minor matter there, the submission 

by Holistic Education Trust, Mr Norton in his rebuttal evidence has 

suggested some wording to he is satisfied that the submission, but he 10 

also says are very minor matter of wordings, to change that as well to 

some corrections. 

 

 So then I deal with the re-zonings generally and I summarise the 

Council’s legal position there.  This will be very familiar to the Panel 15 

and I do not think I need to go through at this stage but in my 

submission there is a very strong imperative that the areas outside the 

Greenfield priority areas cannot be the subject of the New 

Neighbourhood zoning and I just set out all the summative 

considerations there. 20 

 

 Then I deal with witnesses and that is already on the schedule and is 

there any questions at this stage? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just check with the Panel. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson, any questions? 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions, Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:    I just have one question, are you able to indicate to us where 35 

Parliament is at with regard to the passing of the special legislation in 

regard to Riccarton Park, at what point are we at? 

 

MR LAING:   I am not entirely certain, it is probably better addressed to the 

representatives of Riccarton Park people. I have seen the Bill but I have 40 

not been following it closely through Parliament. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay, thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one question Mr Laing, I assume it is just a typo but on 

your submissions at 6.15 you talk about Mr Kingsbury. 

 5 

MR LAING:   I am sorry, yes, I was supposed to have corrected that.  Yes, can 

we just deal with that formally now, at 6.15 that sentence should read 

“in response to liquefaction issue, Mr Kingsbury’s rebuttal evidence 

concludes the liquefaction hazard does not pose undue risk”. My 

apologies, I had a note to deal with it and I did not do it. 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   I thought I had misread it, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   Is there anything else? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, nothing from me, Mr Laing, if you could call Mr 

Collins. 

 

MR LAING:   I call Mr Collins. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Limmer, you are one of the counsel I see you are 

down to cross-examine Mr Collins, are you okay to come back this 

afternoon if there are any questions arising?  I will give you an 

opportunity to question again at that point. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, I am here for Ms Oliver anyway sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, that is all right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<ANDREW MICHAEL COLLINS, affirmed [10.26 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [10.26 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Andrew Michael Collins? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have the qualification and roles that are set out in your 

evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared not only a statement of evidence-in-chief, 

but also a rebuttal statement? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Before I ask you whether you confirm that true and correct, you 

have got some changes to make, if I could ask to hand to the Panel? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN   Thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   Hopefully we have enough copies, we can get some more.  For 

the record this document is headed Consequential Referencing 25 

Amendments Required to Standard 8.2.3.1A(2) shown below 

highlighted in yellow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will call that Exhibit A I think Mr Collins. 

 30 

EXHIBIT #A – REFERENCING AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO 

STANDARD 8.2.3.1A(2) 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Collins, can you just briefly explain what those changes 

amount to? 35 

 

MR COLLINS:   The changes are simply cross-referencing errors that I picked 

up post my rebuttal and it is as a result of, you will see there, deletion 

of clause B and the numbers have been amended accordingly, but I 

noted that the cross-references in 2A and 2E were incorrect so I have 40 

corrected those. 

 

MR LAING:   So these are corrections to the revised proposal dated 5 January 

2016, is that correct? 

 45 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, they are. 
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MR LAING:   Subject to those changes do you confirm that your evidence is 

true and correct? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I do. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Can you please answer any questions? 

 

MR COLLINS:    Happy to. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Limmer, you are up first. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Does the witness not read the highlights package? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I do. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:    Do you want me to read it? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Call it early January so you are entitled to provide a 

summary, Mr Collins. 

 

MR LAING:   I am sorry, it is my fault too. 

 25 

MR COLLINS:    Thank you, my evidence is limited to the objectives, policies 

and rules framework for the RNNZ.  My involvement with the district 

plan review and more specifically with the Residential New 

Neighbourhood zone provisions commenced in early September.  I 

have been closely involved in the redrafting of the RNNZ provisions in 30 

response to the submissions and the expert conferencing and mediation 

processes. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 35 

 In the drafting of the RNNZ provisions I have been mindful of the need 

for coherent, workable and flexible planning provisions that meet the 

Minister’s expectations as set out in the Order in Council.  Amongst 

other things I have been mindful of the Panel’s decision on Chapter 3 

and particularly objective 3.3.2, the clarity of language and efficiency 40 

objective, and also the Panel’s directions and expectations set out in 

minutes relating to this hearing. 

 

 I have sought to ensure that consenting pathways and practical 

provisions are available for a wide range of subdivision and 45 
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development scenarios.  I have found the conferencing and mediation 

processes to be collaborative and constructive. 

 

 The higher order statutory documents that need to guide the Panel’s 

decision making as a result of section 14 of the order, and sections 32, 5 

32A(a) and 74 to 77D of the Resource Management Act, they are all set 

out in section 6 of my evidence. 

 

 I wish to draw your attention to paragraph 6.8 of that evidence where I 

list the most relevant objectives and policies in chapter 6 of the 10 

Regional Policy Statement, and paragraph 6.9 of my primary evidence 

where I summarise the key policy directions from the RPS objectives 

and policies. 

 

 I have been mindful of the requirements of section 32 and 32A(a) 15 

throughout, and I consider that the revised proposal, as attached to 

Ms Oliver’s rebuttal evidence, represents the most appropriate package 

of objectives, policies and rules, having regard to a range of 

alternatives considered through the notification, conferencing and 

medication processes.   20 

 

 So starting with chapter 8, I propose a common objective and a set of 

policies that will apply to subdivision use and development in the 

RNNZ.  These are contained in chapter 8 with a single objective and 

policy in chapter 14 that cross-references to the RNNZ objective and 25 

policies in chapter 8. 

 

 While this objective and these policies could potentially be replicated 

fairly easily in chapter 14 rather than simply cross-referencing through 

to chapter 8, this would require a few amendments to separate out 30 

subdivision aspects in chapter 8 from the use and development aspects 

in chapter 14.  On balance, I felt that the approach of having a single 

combined objective and set of policies for both chapters 8 and 14 has 

received endorsement from the parties and is expected to work 

particularly well for proposals with integrated subdivision and land use 35 

elements, such as many of the comprehensive developments. 

 

 Integration of the RNNZ provisions with the rest of the District Plan 

has been an important focus, and paragraph 7.5 of my evidence 

explains which other objectives and policies in other city wide 40 

chapters, and in chapter 8, apply to the RNNZ and which are proposed 

to not apply. 

 

 The objectives and policies applying to this zone have been 

significantly rationalised.  I have proposed one objective, which is 45 
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8.1.4, and nine associated policies.  I will not talk to all of these now, 

but I am happy to answer questions.   

 

 That said, I think I wish to note that policy 8.1.4.1, which is the outline 

development plan, and policy 8.2.4.3 development density, are two of 5 

the most important policies for the RNNZ and the two that have 

benefitted the most I think from the collaborative inputs of many 

people through the conferencing and mediation.  They are designed to 

give effect to the Regional Policy Statement directions for Greenfield 

priority areas.   10 

 

 The development density policy provides the basis for the 

corresponding residential net density standards that follow, including 

flexible yet effective provisions for density staging and density transfer.   

 15 

 Turning to the chapter 8 rules, we have got a new controlled activity 

rule, C6, and a new restricted discretionary activity rule, which is 

RD2A, proposed for subdivision in the Residential New 

Neighbourhood Zone, and this approach has enabled significant 

rationalisation of the subdivision standards in 8.2.3.1A, and also of the 20 

matters of control and the matters for discretion.  Subdivision standards 

and matters for discretion have also been significantly rationalised, and 

matters of control proposed.   

 

  [10.35 am] 25 

 

 Provisions made for density staging and density transfer arrangements 

in the residential net density standard, in particular in clause D, and this 

works by enabling an applicant to propose a lower density over part or 

all of an application area, so long as this is offset by other lands 30 

nominated for higher density, so as to comply with the overall 

minimum net density standard which in most situations is 15 

households per hectare.   

 

 An enforceable legal instrument is required and just in exhibit A we 35 

have just noted a couple of those cross-reference changes that need 

correcting in that standard.   

 

 Turning to the land are of subdivision standards, they are being set with 

a minimum four hectare threshold for controlled activity status with a 40 

restricted discretionary activity status for subdivisions of smaller areas.  

A non-notified and non-written approval process is provided for both 

consenting pathways and I understand that these standards are agreed 

by the parties. 

 45 
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 New definitions are proposed for net density which I have drawn from 

the definition of the RPS, outline development plan and for 

comprehensive residential development, and I believe those new 

definitions are important to guide rules implementation.   

 5 

 And in Chapter 14, as I say, integration of the provisions for this zone 

with the rest of the District Plan has been an important focus through 

the re-drafting exercise.  

 

 Section 10 of my evidence explains that the other objectives and 10 

policies in chapter 14 that are addressed in the Panel’s Stage 1 decision, 

they do apply to the RNNZ and I wish to note that the opportunity has 

been taken through rebuttal evidence to try and achieve consistency 

with the Panel’s Stage 1 Residential decision, as far as I can anyway. 

 15 

 I support controlled activity status for retirement villages in the RNNZ 

and I have taken into account the Stage 1 Residential decision in 

coming this conclusion.  I also support controlled activity status for 

comprehensive residential developments of 6,000 square metre size or 

larger, and significantly reduce the number of applicable standards so 20 

as to incentivise and provide flexibility for such developments.   

 

 The same flexibility and incentivisation also applies to smaller 

comprehensive residential developments, albeit with restricted 

discretionary activity status, for reasons that I set out in my evidence.   25 

 

 Similar to this is a corresponding subdivision standard.  What started 

out as a contentious standard has now been drafted in a manner that 

appears to be accepted by all parties due to its rationale having been 

more clearly expressed and understood.   30 

 

 In most cases a non-compliance with activity standards or built form 

standards triggers RDA status.  The non-complying activity category 

has been used sparingly.   

 35 

 Built form standards have been rationalised, and also amended to 

achieve consistency with the Panel’s Stage 1 decisions as much as 

possible. 

 

 So that is my primary evidence, and very briefly, all I will say for my 40 

rebuttal is that in that rebuttal evidence I note that the matters of 

contention in relation to the revised objectives, policy and rules 

package are relatively confined.  My rebuttal evidence narrows the 

remaining issues even further as I have agreed with several suggestions 

made by other planners and have recommended amendments in the 45 

revised proposal accordingly.   
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 I think there are only six matters of contention, four of which relate to 

Chapter 8 and two relate to Chapter 14 in terms of the objectives/rules 

package, and they have been summarised in Mr Laing’s submission, so 

maybe I can leave it at that. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. And this time, now would you answer any 

questions? 10 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, happy to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms Limmer? 

 15 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [10.39 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Collins, at 7.11 of your evidence you 

accept gravel extraction is a potentially appropriate interim use in the 

New Neighbour Zones, is that correct? 20 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But in your view it is just one of a number of potentially 

appropriate interim uses.  Is that a fair summary? 25 

 

MR COLLINS:   That is a fair summary. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And do you expect that most or many of those would be rural 

in nature? 30 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR COLLINS:   I think many would be.  I conceive to be a range of other land 

use interim possibilities as well. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes and the rural activities are now enabled through a 

permitted activity rule in the chapter, aren’t they? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, that is correct. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   So this policy would not have direct relevance to their ability 

to establish as permitted activities? 
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MR COLLINS:   Well, where they are permitted they will not need to have 

recourse to the policy so much but it will be a good guidance for any 

land use application that is not a permitted activity. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Now you have not referred to it in your evidence but do 5 

you consider strategic objective 3.3.15D relevant to these provisions? 

 

MR COLLINS:   If you could refresh my memory as to which one that is or 

may I refer to it? 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Have you got it with you? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Probably got it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   It is probably easier if you look at it yourself. 15 

 

MR COLLINS:   I will probably recall this if you want to read out or tell me 

the comment - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:  It is on the screen probably now. 20 

 

MR COLLINS:  Oh, sorry. 

 

MS LIMMER:  So my question was do you consider that objective relevant to 

the new neighbourhood provisions? 25 

 

MR COLLINS:  Oh, well, the fact that it is in Chapter 3 it is certainly relevant. 

 

MS LIMMER:  And looking at the other strategic objectives, are there any 

others or what other specific land use activities might also be an interim 30 

use on new neighbourhood land, have an objective expressly 

recognising their importance to the city? 

 

MR COLLINS:  I am looking at the screen only and I do not see any others 

specifically mentioned. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:  Right and I am assuming that you have looked at this chapter 

in depth in preparing the evidence so would you accept there are no 

other strategic objectives with the same specific land use recognition? 

 40 

MR COLLINS:  I have read Chapter 3 in depth but it was a good couple of 

months ago so I do not recall any specific other land use there but my 

opinion is certainly framed by the fact that while this guidance here in 

Chapter 3 that will assist a quarrying application, it is certainly not the 

be all and end all and I want the policies for the RNNZ to be applicable 45 

for a range of uses. 
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MS LIMMER:  Yes. Do you agree, Mr Collins, that a policy expressly 

referring to gravel extraction would provide more recognition, its 

importance to the city and its recovery than the generic policy at the 

moment? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Ms Limmer, can you remind me of what the general policy 

is in number terms just so I can have it in front of me? 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes, Sir, 8.1.4.1 B. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Yes, I have got it, thanks. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yes and what we will see in clause B is, of course, 

subdivision use and developments consistent with the development 15 

requirements of the ODP or otherwise achieved similar or better 

outcomes, and then we have added in “and any interim”, it is not 

underlined because this was added in before the conferencing and 

mediation, oh, sorry, before the mediation process, “and any interim 

subdivision use and development that does not compromise the timely 20 

implementation of or outcomes sought by the ODP”.  In answer to your 

question, if quarrying was specifically mentioned as an interim 

subdivision use and development, it would still have to be qualified that 

it does not compromise the timely implementation of or outcomes 

sought by the ODP. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:  I imagine from a quarrying perspective it would add strength 

to the policy but from a plan drafting perspective which has regard to a 30 

range of land use and developments there is always the risk that when 

you start listing activities it somehow suggests that others not listed are 

not as appropriate and as a drafting style I have preferred not to get into 

listing. 

 35 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:  Well, Mr Collins, my question was actually one that goes back 

to the strategic objective which is just about gravel extraction and my 

question is do you agree that a policy or your policy with express 40 

reference to it would provide more recognition to its importance to the 

city and its recovery?  Express reference as opposed to no express 

reference? 

 

MR COLLINS:  It would give more effects to that one clause of Chapter 3, 45 

correct. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Does that fully your question.  I mean, Mr Collins, bear in 

mind you put aside your view which we do have on what your 

preference is but I think the question was asked can, at least as I took it, 

whether having the provision that Ms Limmer’s client is seeking would 5 

have given greater relevance to that issue.  Ms Limmer, you may want 

to re-put it. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Sir, I was just going to ask the same question again.  Really, 

my question is just do you agree it would provide more recognition to 10 

the importance of that activity if it were expressly referred to? 

 

MR COLLINS:  It would give more importance to the recognition of quarrying 

activity if it was specifically referred to, yes. 

 15 

MS LIMMER:  Now, at paragraph 2.2 of your evidence you list some briefs 

that you referred to in the preparation of your evidence and you refer to 

Mr Long’s evidence from the Stage One Subdivision hearing, did you 

also read the evidence of Mr Bligh and Mr Willis from the same 

hearing? 20 

 

MR COLLINS:  I very much, a quick review, I cannot recall the details of that 

evidence. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Did you read the evidence of Mr Copeland, Mr English or 25 

Ms Radburnd for the Council from the Stage Two Rural Hearing before 

preparing the evidence? 

 

MR COLLINS:  I do not recall those briefs, no. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:  If you have read Mr Bligh and Mr Willis’ evidence, would you 

agree the weight of their evidence is that distance to the demand centre 

of urban Christchurch has a significant effect on the costs of gravel? 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, well, I could agree to that even without having read 35 

their evidence. 

 

MS LIMMER:  And would you also agree that the weight of their evidence is 

that extracting gravel in as close a proximity to urban Christchurch as 

possible is economically advantageous to the city? 40 

 

MR COLLINS:  Well, yes, closer to their point of views that the extraction is 

rather at cost savings and I just wish to say that nothing in the drafting I 

have here would wish to suggest otherwise.  I believe that in response 

to the submission’s point some provisions have been added in here to 45 

allow for that outcome and as a discretionary activity and potentially 
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limited notified – it would have to be assessed on its merits so I do 

anticipate a process where quarrying would be considered on its merits. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes and so if it is a matter of fact extraction of aggregate, this 

land, the new neighbourhood land prior to ultimate development would 5 

provide economic benefits to the city, do you agree this would 

contribute to strategic objective 3.3.1 as well being the expedited 

recovery and future enhancement of the city? 

 

MR COLLINS:  Well, that would be one element of recovery. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes, finally, Mr Collins, if the Panel decided some form of 

express provision for quarrying as an interim use were appropriate, is it 

your planning opinion that this would be best placed in a policy such as 

your 8.1.4.1 or on specific ODPs or both? 15 

 

MR COLLINS:  Where there is a specific context for an ODP, either history or 

of a background of interest in quarrying I believe it is appropriate on an 

ODP.  As a more generic thing, given that there are a number of 

Greenfield priority areas around the city, and I personally do not know 20 

the aggregate resource in all of them, this has been drafted in such a 

way to at least contemplate an application in any such area.  From that 

point of view a policy reference would be helpful for any application 

that is received and I personally would get, I would refer to 8.1.4.1B 

and the ability to have some sort of interim use, I would regard that as 25 

supportive for some applications. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, just - - -  30 

 

MR COLLINS:   I am not saying it is going to be appropriate in all cases 

though, and that is why in absence of evidence for any particular 

quarrying I am a bit reluctant to give very strong policy recognition to 

quarrying without that evidence. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well that evidence was part of the Stage 1 Subdivision hearing 

by Ms Willis but my question was actually a bit different.  I understand 

your view and I have read your evidence, I am really asking you if the 

Panel decided that some form of express provision, albeit qualified by 40 

reference to ultimate outcomes and adverse effects for example, if that 

were appropriate and if you accept that the gravel resource is 

equivalent throughout these greenfield areas, would your preference as 

a planner be for that recognition to sit in a policy or on particular 

ODPs? 45 
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MR COLLINS:   If the Panel was persuaded by the evidence that you have just 

said, and was mindful to make that specific recognition then I consider 

it will be inappropriate in this policy 8.1.4.1B to mention it as a 

possible interim use. 

 5 

MS  LIMMER:   Sir, those are all my questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Limmer.  Now Ms White. 

 

MS WHITE:   Now before I start my questioning I do have some information 10 

in relation to the Riccarton Racecourse Bill timeframe - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, thank you. 

 

MS WHITE:   - - - so I was wondering if that would be helpful. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you may address that if you like. 

 

MS WHITE:  So the Riccarton Racecourse Bill is before the Select Committee, 

with the Select Committee report due on 7 March 2016 and its 20 

companion legislation, the Riccarton Racecourse Development 

Enabling Bill, is also currently before the Select Committee, with the 

Select Committee report due on 7 March 2016.  So the most that can be 

said at this stage is that both bills would be passed sometime after 7 

March 2016.  Thank you. 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [10.52 am] 

 

MS WHITE:   Mr Collins, I would like to take you to the ODP development 

requirements, so if we take for example those for Awatea on page 103 30 

of Sarah Oliver’s rebuttal. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Is there another page reference there?   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is at the top of the page, that numbering? 35 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, that is 103 of 286 on the top right hand corner. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Sorry, my numbering does not have that.  Can you give me 

the provision you are - - - 40 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, 8.6.30D.  I was just wondering if we could get that up on 

the screen as well.  It is up on the screen, Mr Collins.  So if we just go 

through those heading topics there, integration - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well just pause a minute, let us let Mr Collins find it. 



 Page 23 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

 

MR COLLINS:   Thank you.  Which ODP are we talking about, sorry? 

 

MS WHITE:   For Awatea. 

 5 

MR COLLINS:   Awatea.   

 

MS WHITE:   We have got integration, open space, recreation and community 

facilities.  Access and transport is another topic.  Storm water, water 

and wastewater and then staging.  Now each of these development 10 

requirement topics are generally the same for each of the ODPs, are 

they not? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 15 

MS WHITE:   Now I would like to compare the ODP development 

requirements with the matters for discretion in 8.2.4.2A and those are 

from page 28 onwards of Sarah Oliver’s rebuttal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is capital A, Ms White? 20 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, or page 14 if you look at the bottom of her numbering.  Do 

you have that there? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I do, thanks, yes. 25 

 

MS WHITE:   So comparing the two, if you take water and wastewater 

development requirements from the ODP, if a developer failed the 

water and wastewater development requirements, whether the 

subdivision can be adequately serviced by infrastructure is covered by 30 

matter for discretion 8.2.4.2.AT is it not? 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

 So T goes across to the - - - 35 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS WHITE:   And if you took the access and transport development 

requirement, this is covered by mater for discretion 8.2.4.2A M to P, 40 

movement networks? 

 

MR COLLINS:   That is correct. 

 

MS WHITE:   And the vehicle access matters are covered in I and J? 45 
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MR COLLINS:   That is correct. 

 

MS WHITE:  Now all of the ODP development requirements have an 

equivalent matter for discretion in 8.2.4.2A do they not? 

 5 

MR COLLINS:   Could you please say that again?  All of the? 

 

MS WHITE:   ODP development requirements. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 10 

 

MS WHITE:   Going through those headings, have an equivalent matter for 

discretion in 8.2.4.2A.  If you went through a similar exercise, across 

each. 

 15 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   Now restricted discretionary activity status is appropriate when 

there is certainty as to the type of potential effects generated by an 

activity, is it not? 20 

 

MR COLLINS:   Often, yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   Now I would like to take you to chapter 14, the comprehensive 

residential development matters for discretion, which is page 57 of 25 

Sarah Oliver’s rebuttal.  14.9.25, up on the screen. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And you will be aware that the Crown’s submission is that the 30 

new matters E to G should be replaced with cross reference to the 

equivalent matters from the Stage 1 Residential Decision and H should 

be deleted.  And I would like to compare matter 14.13.1E of the 

Residential Stage 1 Decision with 14.9.26G of Sarah Oliver’s rebuttal 

version.  So that is about car parking, garaging and access. 35 

 

 So if you look at what is up there in E would you accept that that 

provides flexibility as how good access and integration of space for 

parking is to be achieved? 

 40 

MR COLLINS:   I believe it covers much the same things and that has in fact 

been the basis for my drafting of – I have actually attempted in the 

redrafting here to encompass all of the key elements from these other 

provisions. 

 45 
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MS WHITE:   But when you look at those key elements where does your 

drafting in G refer to convenience, which is a matter in 3 and 1 of the 

Panel’s relevant considerations, but I cannot see reference to it in G.? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Well it does not use the word “conveniently”, just like it does 5 

not use a number of other words.  It is an adjective that I decided was 

going to be amply provided for by the wording as I have got in G, 

which is consideration of accessibility, safety, quality of the pedestrian 

environment. 

 10 

MS WHITE:   And what about the effects on neighbours, which is a matter 

in 3? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 15 

MR COLLINS:   G does not specifically mention that. 

 

MS WHITE:   I would like to turn to matter H which provides that the built 

form standards are to be used as a flexible guideline. 

 20 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   If you took for example built form standard 14.6.3.11A, and that 

has a minimum building set back of 4 metres from the road boundary.  

So that is 14.6.3.11A. 25 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   If you are applying the built form standards as a flexible 

guideline, other than the four metre number that is referenced in 30 

paragraph A, there is no guidance in that standard as to whether good 

design outcomes are achieved are there? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Not in A, no. 

 35 

MS WHITE:   Those are all my questions. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Sorry, can I qualify? 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, of course. 40 

 

MR COLLINS:   I do think it is important to understand why I have clause H 

there and that is a particular effort went in the drafting to make the 

comprehensive residential developments subject to as few standards as 

possible which I believe is consistent with the Panel’s own decision for 45 

Chapter 3.   
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 So we went through and worked out what would be the minimum 

number of standards that ought to apply if you like in a firm way and 

then we did not want to say that the others are not important, but 

simply that they might be applied flexibly so that in this instance, 5 

someone may come up with a very good development on a constraining 

site that for whatever reason that a 3.8 metre standard for the road 

billing set back. 

 

 Rather than ruling that out completely, it would be a guideline whereas 10 

if someone came up with a one metre setback for example the decision 

makers in their wisdom, looking at this standard but as a guideline 

might say look that is just too much of a departure.  I feel that H is 

important so that we do not lose sight of all of those other standards 

which do apply to development normally. 15 

 

MS WHITE:   Those are my questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms White, now Mr Neill? 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Just one series of questions and it relates to retirement villages 

have I read it right that it is your view that all retirement villages should 

be controlled activity status in the plan? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Not in the plan, no.  I have read the Panel’s decision on the 25 

residential and I think all of those other residential zones they are to be 

permitted activities except for I believe the residential medium density 

when they are to be restricted discretionary.  Of course that came out 

after I had formed a view on this.  As notified the retirement villages 

were full discretionary I believe and I felt that the controlled activity 30 

status because in a RNNZ are different from other residential zones, 

you are dealing with zones under development and they are often quite 

large footprint areas, and they can have an impact on the connectivity 

of roads, footpaths, there is a mixture of public and private services 

often which sometimes require conditions on them in a way that is a 35 

discrete site and so another residential zone may not.   

 

 So I did feel that I definitely wanted to have an enabling provision and 

I felt that controlled activity with the expressed non notification part of 

that, I felt that that would be a very efficient provision and one that 40 

even the retirement villages would actually feel was appropriate.  In my 

experience very often, land use consent of some kind is required and 

that is not to take anything away from the permitted activity status that 

has been settled on for the other zones. 

 45 
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 But I just think that the context of an emerging Greenfield zone is that 

they can have some effects which require some discussion with and 

potentially conditions, so that is really where I landed on. 

 

MR NEILL:   To follow that up you are therefore accepting that the Stage 1 5 

Decision where there was restricted discretionary and permitted 

activities in certain areas, you are not questioning that? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Not at all. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Collins.  I have a few questions and 

a number more that we will probably get to this afternoon.  Perhaps if I 

just start with just continuing briefly the conversation you had with Ms 

Limmer, and I understood your concern to be that by referencing 20 

aggregate processing you might de-emphasise other activities that 

might be suitable, is that where you were getting at with your 

comments in that regard? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, it is somewhat of a drafting style I tend to adopt when a 25 

list can get long sometimes and when I drafted the provision that 

provides for something, although generically, that has been a 

preference, but to some extent sir, it is a style issue. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I guess that was really where my question was heading 30 

was do you think that there is a drafting way around that particular 

concern and for example whether you could refer to in that policy the 

aggregate processing, including but not limited to for example 

aggregate processing, that kind of drafting address your concerns? 

 35 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, it would. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you.  Just turn to the issue of whether the breach of 

the ODP, when you are inconsistent with an ODP or the residential net 

density standard with your restricted discretionary or discretionary, and 40 

as I read your evidence you seem to place a fair bit of weight on the 

question of notification and you went for discretionary because the way 

the plan is currently set up you would assume that that would be 

notified whereas a restricted discretionary would not, am I correct and 

that is certainly part of the argument you would put forward? 45 
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MR COLLINS:   It is certainly part of it. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Part of the argument, yes, okay.  Right, so I guess my question 

was if the plan, and it is not necessarily black and white on whether 

RDA is not notified and a discretionary is notified, I mean there is 5 

some discretion in the way it is worded as I understand it.  If in fact you 

could when the circumstances were justified, notify or limitedly notify 

a RDA consent, would that change your opinion of how that 

classification should apply? 

 10 

MR COLLINS:   Look I have given this quite a lot of thought since, well 

throughout, but particularly since receiving the Crown’s views on this.  

I guess of all of the standards in Chapter 8 when I regard the ODP 

standard and the residential development density standards is probably 

two of the most important to the extent that they derive fairly directly 15 

from the Regional Policy Statement directions and of course the 

replacement district plan is to give effect to the RPS amongst other 

things.  In policy 6.3.3 of the RPS is quite strong in terms of requiring 

development in accordance with outline development plans, just as 

policy 6.3.7 is very strong on its policy direction for the density. 20 

 

 So unlike some of the other standards I feel partly there is a messaging 

thing in here and with the way we have set up the subdivision rules 

with some being controlled and those under four hectare area are being 

restricted discretionary, the default activity status for a lot of these 25 

subdivisions will be restricted discretionary activity albeit on a non-

notified non service basis. 

 

 So with that being the default status I just then feel for those that do 

comply with the ODP and do comply with the density, I feel that 30 

notwithstanding that our matters of discretion are fairly robust, I just 

think that a change of activity status for discretionary activity is 

appropriate and, you know, I bear in mind our starting point for this as 

notified is that certainly for the density one, it was going to be a non-

complying activity status. 35 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 So we have shifted the activity status to be a more enabling, weigh up 

on its merits, discretionary activity status, and I felt that that movement 40 

was sufficient in maintaining that separation between the default RDA 

and, you know, for those that comply with the ODP and those that do 

not. 

 

MR WILLIS:   So I guess I understand your argument that there is a – and I 45 

think you used the word signalling issue here.  But from a straight 
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planning perspective, a notified RDA versus a notified discretionary, 

provided that is a discretion broadly enough defined and 

comprehensive, in your view is there any difference in planning law 

and practice as to how those two applications would be considered? 

 5 

MR COLLINS:   No.  In this case probably not because I accepted our matters 

for discretion for even the restricted discretionary are fairly 

comprehensive, so I do not consider there will be a lot of difference.  

So for me, it is certainly not a die in the ditch matter, sir, if you in your 

wisdom was to decide that restricted discretionary status for 10 

applications that are not consistent with the development requirements 

of the ODP, if that was your preference then the planning integrity of 

the rest of the provisions can still work fine. 

 

 But for me, on balance, you know, the combination of the RPS 15 

direction, the messaging compared to the default status, and the 

non-notification rule as I believe it stands at the moment, 

notwithstanding you have not issued your decisions on it yet, but those 

three reasons kind of tip it in favour of discretionary for me.   

 20 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  And just one of the other points you raised there was the 

situation where a site less than four hectares will be RDA anyway, and 

you said that would be quite a few or I think some expression like that, 

do you have much of an idea or any data on how many are likely to be 

in that category?  How many sites we have in those ODP areas that are 25 

actually less than four hectares?  Is this something that is going to be 

common or is it - - -  

 

MR COLLINS:   No, I do not.  I do not, I am afraid.  But what it does cater for 

are the, you know, and I think Ms Seaton refers to the post greenfield 30 

situation, for example, where land has already been subdivided down to 

certain development block sizes, and then it might be further 

subdivided.  I mean, most of those I suspect may be less than four 

hectares.  But yes, for the initial greenfield subdivision a lot of the 

major developers, including those who are submitters in this process, I 35 

suspect will be dealing with larger areas.   

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  All right.  And we will just move on then, just to talk 

about that post-greenfield subdivision issue.  Now I was not entirely 

clear from your evidence whether you were saying that you did not 40 

think you could – and I think Ms Seaton I think said that she could not 

see how you could achieve the controlled activity status – I am not too 

sure whether you expressed a view on whether you could do it, or 

whether your view was that you should not do it? 

 45 



 Page 30 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

MR COLLINS:   No, you can do anything, it is a should.  What I will just say 

is that through the conferencing and the mediation I guess many minds 

were at work.  I had a role, as did a number of planners, and we were 

all looking at the appropriate provisions and trying to work out what 

was the most appropriate package, and there was quite a – it seemed to 5 

be accepted by all parties, and I do not think I have seen anything in 

evidence since which suggests otherwise, but that people have come to 

understand why an area size threshold could differentiate between the 

controlled activity subdivisions and the restricted discretionary 

subdivisions.   10 

 

 And one of the fundamental differences is that, you know, the larger 

blocks, there is a lot more flexibility for connections of roads for 

services, just the ability to address issues which the Council’s 

consenting team and the urban design team deal with on a day to day 15 

basis.  The smaller the sites get, just the more constrained they are, the 

more limited with their options there are, and of course there is that 

grey area where the controlled activity is to, you know, they have to be 

approved, to what extent can they be changed and still approved. 

 20 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 So for those smaller sites I believe we got to a point of acceptance as to 

about the four hectare sort of activity status threshold, and that most 

people were comforted by the fact that it was an activity status 25 

threshold but that the processes would be similar in that if the 

non-notified subdivision rule as it stands, you know, the non-notified, 

non-service for RDA subdivisions, if that remains, then in terms of 

process efficiency it should not be too different.   

 30 

 So Mr Willis, so having kind of stepped to that basic premise of the 

drafting, it then becomes the fact that a lot of the smaller subdivisions 

will be RDAs, which I think is entirely appropriate and quite common 

around the country. 

 35 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  So coming back to my question, it is a question of 

substance rather than technical drafting difficulty that you have 

expressed a view on here? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay.  Well I will leave the other question then.  Look, I 

have some other questions, but they are probably better questions to be 

put later on, so I will leave it there.  Thank you. 

 45 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, sure. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Collins.  Thank you very much for all your 

work on this.   5 

 

MR COLLINS:   That is a pleasure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Willis has asked most of my questions and I will have 

more questions to ask when you come back later, but I just thought I 10 

would ask a couple of questions because they relate more specifically to 

your evidence.   

 

MR COLLINS:   Mm’hm. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   First of all, and if you feel that you should leave answering 

this question to later when you come again with Ms Oliver then say, but 

it relates to the activity standard that Mr Jones has talked about for 

Prestons which is 8.2.3.1A(b), which you have suggested in response to 

Mr Jones that we delete it, which is the residential net density that 20 

requires between 13 and 15 households per hectare across the Prestons 

ODP.   

 

 Both you and Mr Jones come to the conclusion that that rule or standard 

would be adequately covered by what was D in the residential net 25 

density standard – I think it has now become C – which talks about that 

subdivision shall achieve different net density requirements where 

specific density areas are defined in the ODP.   

 

 And I am just wondering, and just agreeing with Mr Jones that B is not 30 

needed because it is covered by D – are you sure that those two 

standards actually cover the same matter?  D seems, from my reading, 

to be more about specific density areas, whereas C was a generalised 

reduction in density for Prestons – I mean, really saying that the 

minimum of 13 is adequate in Prestons rather than the normal 15.   35 

 

 Can you explain your thinking around your agreement with Mr Jones 

on that? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I will try, and then maybe I can think further and have 40 

another response later on, but my thinking was that C would trump, if 

you like, clause A, the 15 households per hectare standard.  If an ODP 

did specifically mention the different density, so for Prestons the 

minimum of 13 households per hectare, and where it does, and so for 

Prestons, if we look at the ODP there for Prestons, where it is clear, I 45 

felt that that should prevail, and if an ODP does not say that well then C 

will not apply and A would apply. 
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 So I probably need now to go back to the Prestons ODP and make sure 

that it is adequately covered there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  I mean, I understand how you are saying, and that is a 

question I am going to put to you and Ms Oliver is there is this sort of a 5 

mix between some density standards being in the ODP and some being 

in this rule, and I am interested in getting that nice and consistent, and a 

good theory to that.  But that is one thing you have just touched on - - -  

 

MR COLLINS:   I will make a note.   10 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   But just I suppose the question is really for you and perhaps 

you can come back to it later is where C, the new C, talks about specific 15 

density areas defined in an outline development plan, is that talking 

about or referring to a completely different density standard across the 

whole of the Prestons ODP area, which is what the deleted B would 

have referred to? 

 20 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, so what I anticipated it saying was that where an ODP, 

like if in the case of Prestons, it was 13 across the whole of the ODP, I 

would expect the narrative to clearly express that.  However, for a lot 

of the ODPs there are just specific areas maybe areas Density B or 

whatever. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, which there also are in Prestons. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, and for those specific areas it is what is on the ODP or 

indeed he approved subdivision consent there that would prevail so I 30 

have tried to write it in such a way that it covers both scenarios but I 

will have another look. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, so I think you just need to be clear because in the 

case of Prestons we have the two different ones with specific Density A 35 

and B areas. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yep. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then this generalised difference. 40 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  You are right. 

 45 

MR COLLINS:  I will check it out and answer that. 
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MS DAWSON:  All right, thank you very much for that.  I just want to come 

back to a matter that was discussed with Ms White, so I will just talk to 

you about that while you are here now. It goes to the assessment 

matters in Chapter 14, think it was number H that she referred you to.  

So it is the comprehensive residential assessment matters 14.9.26 or 25, 5 

number H, and you explained in your response to Ms White and you 

have said that in your evidence how the rules limit the number of 

standards, built form standards that apply to comprehensive residential 

developments but that the other built standards that are not applied as 

standards would be applied through at the time of considering the 10 

application.   

 

 Now the matters of discretion only apply to restricted discretionary 

activities, and so H would only apply when the comprehensive 

development is a restricted discretionary activity, but is that what you 15 

intend?  Would you intend that the other built form standards would be 

considered flexibly as design outcomes for the controlled activity?  

Comprehensive residential developments or only when they come to be 

considered as a restricted discretion? 

 20 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, if I could maybe just point you to 14.8A which is the 

matters - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:  Oh, yes. 

 25 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, and you will see in red - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:  Oh, it is the same thing. 

 

MR COLLINS:  In red there. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yeah, I have got a similar statement there because with the 

comprehensive residential developments in particular, you know, they 35 

are going to be either a controlled activity or a restricted discretionary 

depending on the development site size and in both cases I feel it is 

appropriate to refer to those other standards. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, sorry, I had overlooked it and in listening to you - - - 40 

 

MR COLLINS:  That is all right. 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - I had overlooked that you had put it in there as well, so 

that is exactly my question, thank you very much for that.  And then 45 

my final question is about the matters for control and matters, 
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particularly the matters for control for subdivision in 8.2.4.1A.  You 

have chosen to just list sort of headlines or just straight brief statements 

of the matters for control.  Property Act says servicing et cetera, are 

you familiar with the provisions that the Council’s put forward as 

matters of control and matters of discretion to date in the general 5 

subdivision chapter and the way they have been formed?  In other 

words, that they are a lot more detailed. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yes, I am familiar but I would need the reference document in 

front of me to answer anything specific there but yes I am aware they 10 

were a lot more detailed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   A lot more detailed. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, but so I guess my question and I will ask it again is given 

the Council’s had a preference in the for normal, so all other 

subdivision and all other zones to have quite a lot of detail about 

matters such as whether there is adequate capacity for servicing and 20 

what infrastructure upgrades and all manner of matters, whereas in this 

chapter, for this part of this chapter, for these zones you have chosen to 

have a very much more limited just headline list. 

 

  [11.25 am] 25 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yep. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Do you see if there is any inconsistency or need for 

consistency and would you see all the matters that the Council thinks is 30 

necessary for those other zones being able to be adequately captured 

under your list of headings here? 

 

MR COLLINS:  So I think the answer is yes, there is an inconsistency between 

the summarised approach I am putting forward here and the more 35 

detailed there.  I think this will work.  I believe that, you know, these 

are listing the matters over which Council can exercise control and I 

think by nature of those topic areas I believe Council has the full scope 

to still impose conditions of consent as they normally would.   

 40 

 I have seen both styles of drafting around the traps and I guess here, I 

have just continued that theme of simplification that I guess I have 

adopted throughout the provisions so whether I have – yeah, it would 

still work fine if we cross-referenced to the more detailed matters of 

control but I do believe this will work and we have had similar 45 

discussion through the conferencing mediation processes amongst the 



 Page 35 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

planners.  You know, is it sufficient to list in this way and the 

conclusion I came to seemed to have been arrived at by the others as 

well that this would still work, so again I am afraid it is a matter of 

style. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Have you by any chance had a discussion with, I think it is 

Mr Long, who is the lead for the other subdivision chapters as to why 

he has a preference for the different style, the more expensive style and 

whether there is, you know, have you looked at his understanding? 

 10 

MR COLLINS:  I have not had a specific discussion with him as to why he 

prefers the more expansive style but I have certainly had a discussion 

with him over this drafting and whether he is happy with the more 

truncated drafting style and he is.  So, yeah, but quite why – I do not 

know, I suppose if I was to have that kind of discussion with him as to 15 

why the more detailed matters of control over numerous pages is 

preferred I would at the same discussion regarding the matters of 

discretion and in other areas and I suppose I have just tried to simplify 

but without losing the effectiveness of the rule. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:  So yes, so it really is a style, your preference and yet, and yet 

there is nothing lost. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Correct, it is purely a style thing and if you were to prefer the 

more expansive one we could cross-reference to your decisions on that 25 

and it would be fine. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Okay, thank you very much for explaining that, those all my 

questions for now, thank you. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Collins, that leaves me with only really one issue that I 

wanted to just test a little bit further and that is in regard to the question 

of restricted discretionary versus discretionary activity classification for 

density and for ODP compliance, and you have explained – I do not 

want to go back over that – but what I am looking at in particular at the 35 

moment is looking at the Act and you would be familiar with the fact 

that under section 104C of the Act, that is the section that directs what 

one must consider in regard to a restricted discretionary activity. 

 

MR COLLINS:  Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And B is the one that pertains here, “must consider only”, 

so it is not just “must consider”, it is constraining what must not be 

considered, “must consider only those matters over which it has 

restricted the exercise of its discretion in the plan or proposed plan”.   45 
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 What is your view as to whether or not in a consent process, given the 

reasons you have described, what is your view about whether the 

Regional Policy Statement objectives and policies themselves should 

be matters for consideration in the consent? 

 5 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR COLLINS:   Okay.  I need to think about that for a second.  I have turned 

my mind to the very same question, I recall, as we were drafting this 

and I have 104C here in front of me.  I think where there is a matter of 10 

discretion say related to density, if that had been an express matter I 

think a decision-maker would have the ability to consider relevant 

objectives and policies in this District Plan and other documents that 

relates to that confined matter. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that in other words if the matter of restricted discretion 

was described in certain terms you are saying well that could still allow 

for the consideration of related policy instruments on that matter of 

discretion including the RPS?  It is part of your answer? 

 20 

MR COLLINS:   I think so, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you think it is important that the matters of 

discretion are sufficiently framed so as to allow for the consideration of 

the Regional Policy Statement, bearing in mind it might change from 25 

time to time, the Policy Statement? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I think regardless of the drafting here, I probably should 

refresh my memory here but under section 104 which I believe also 

applies, I probably should take time to refresh, but my understanding is 30 

that 104 there is already still an obligation for the consent authority to 

have regard to the relevant provisions of a Regional Policy Statement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well leave aside the legal arguments and no doubt 

the lawyers will help me on that, but if I put it on a qualified basis to 35 

you, coming back to it, my question was do you think it is important 

that the consent authority can consider the Regional Policy Statement 

in circumstances and the policies that apply to that, bearing in mind 

that document might change from time to time.  Do you think it is 

important that they have access in their discretion to considering that 40 

document from time to time when the question comes back to changing 

density or departing significantly from the ODP development 

requirements? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I think the answer to that is no.  I would prefer the District 45 

Plan to be self-sufficient and tight on what it is to refer to and in its 



 Page 37 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

drafting in the first place to give effect to the RPS.  And I think if we 

can get the drafting now to your satisfaction that it gives effect to the 

RPS then when subsequent applications come along for a restricted 

discretionary activity it would be preferable if it could be considered 

just on the basis of this plan’s content. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I will not test you further on that but that is 

your answer, subject to which parties can make legal submissions on 

how best to get there. 

 10 

MR COLLINS:    Yes and just subject to my earlier answer I think 104 still 

applies and that requires regard to those other provisions anyway but 

that is a legal matter I would need to brush up on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes but, no I wanted to be clear about your evidential 15 

answer, leaving the law to one side.  I think your evidential answer to 

me was on balance your planning preference is for the plan to be self-

contained? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, correct. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much, Mr Collins.  I suppose 

one other related question, were the Panel – and of course the Panel has 

to consider a lot of matters which we have not yet heard submissions 

on, evidence about on this whole topic. But were the Panel say to go to 25 

discretionary activity as opposed to restricted discretionary, would it be 

appropriate in your view for the plan to include policies on notification 

tracks?  In other words, to make available the potential for limited 

notification on appropriate cases with some policy guidance about that 

rather than leaving it to the Act? 30 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, and are you talking, sir, about the discretionary status 

just for those departures in relation to density and ODPs or 

(INDISTINCT 4.58)? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes and it was really just to drill into the substance of 

concern because your evidence refers to concern around the related 

consequences for notification - - - 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 40 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and I guess I was just testing with you whether or not 

it could still be conceivable and appropriate indeed to have explicit 45 
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policy guidance, direction or whatever on notification tracks, even if it 

was discretionary. 

 

MR COLLINS:   I think that could well be helpful because I do take on board a 

couple of the examples in evidence of really quite discrete matters 5 

where maybe someone may not comply with a development 

requirement or in such a case it may well be that only neighbours are 

affected or potentially no-one else is affected.  So, some direction there 

would be really appropriate. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, now any questions arising, Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms White? 15 

 

MS WHITE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 

 20 

MR LAING:   No, sir, I do think in terms of 14.9.25, there would be some 

advantage in some further caucusing on that rather than get involved 

with a lot of cross examination on the topic I think. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well do you want to confer over the break and if 25 

there is any consensus on that I think we can make direction that will fit 

with the timetable. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Laing. Well we will take - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry, sir, may I be excused until this afternoon? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly, I was just going to say, Mr Collins, we will 35 

see you this afternoon, you are excused for the moment.  You are free 

to talk to your client.  I do not think there are any provisos to that, 

Mr Laing. 

 

MR LAING:    Thank you, your honour. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.36 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will take the morning recess. 

 45 

ADJOURNED [11.36 am] 
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RESUMED [11.53 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing, just call your next witness. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  Ms Schroder? 
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<JOSEPHINE SCHRODER, affirmed [11.53 am] 



 Page 41 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.54 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Josephine Frederika Jane Schroder? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is right. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You hold the position and have the qualifications referred to in 

your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, that is right. 10 

 

MR LAING:   You wish to make any corrections to you evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Yes, I do.  I wish to make one correction to my evidence-

in-chief and that relates to page 21 of my evidence, figure 9 and just to 15 

say that “the unit illustrated on the site actually has a site coverage of 

47 percent” rather than the other 50 percent that I have stated. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Hang on a minute. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Just clarifying that as figure 9. 

 

MS SCHRODER:   So page 21, figure 9. 

 

MR LAING:   It says “a standalone house with over 50 percent site coverage” 25 

et cetera and you wish that to be changed to? 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Rather that is a site coverage of 47 percent and it has a 30 

range of other non-compliances that apply. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just make the first change first with over 50 

percent becomes 47 percent (INDISTINCT 0.33). 

 35 

MR LAING:   And the other change, Ms Schroder? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I will exclude the other change, I will just make that 

change to keep it simple I think. 

 40 

MR LAING:   So subject to that one change can you confirm that the contents 

of your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS SCHRODER:   I do. 

 45 

MR LAING:   Could you now deal with your summary of evidence please? 
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MS SCHRODER:   Yes, I can, thank you.  The evidence that I have provided 

focuses on the Residential New Neighbourhood zone rules and 

assessment matters in respect to Chapter 8 and Chapter 14.  The revised 

approach to the zone provides for the traditional subdivision route with 5 

the option within the zone to provide well designed high density 

residential blocks through a comprehensive residential development 

process.   

 

 That is either allowing for a land use consent first or undertaking 10 

parallel land use and subdivision consents for a site.  The zone 

provisions were developed recognising the Greenfield areas need to 

deliver outcomes so that a community focus in respect of functionality 

and design, creating new urban villages rather than discrete site of 

residential suburbs, and the principles that support this are identified 15 

through the CRPS and objectives and policies of the Revised Proposed 

District Plan. 

 

 With increased residential densities and expectation for more 

community focused comprehensive design a provisions packages was 20 

needed that could effectively manage the relationship of subdivision 

land use.  I consider that the rules and assessment matters of the revised 

proposal of 5 January 2016 are clear, useable and less prescriptive than 

is notified. 

 25 

 They provide a balance between design flexibility and the certainty 

desired by the development community.  Importantly they also provide 

the interrelationship between Subdivision and Chapter 8 and land use in 

Chapter 14 and give clarity to the status of an activity, although I 

understand this has been subjective to some discussion today. 30 

 

 I also consider that the packages presented today in conjunction with 

the activity status provided is the minimum level of regulation that can 

effectively ensure that the objectives and policies are met.  As such I 

believe that the Council should also develop an effective monitoring 35 

regime in conjunction with this proposal. 

 

 In respect to Chapter 7 and Chapter 14 urban design rules and 

assessment matters, I understand that the only outstanding matters 

between parties relates to the wording of the assessment matters which 40 

has been further discussed today and by Mr Collins this morning.  In 

regard to Chapter 8, rules and assessment matters, the key aspects of 

the proposal that have been modified from that is notified are as 

follows in respect of urban design. 

 45 
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 A minimum subdivision of site size is proposed, but has been reduced 

from 6 hectares to 4 hectares and from a restricted discretionary 

activity to a controlled activity standard with a non-notified 

discretionary activity status as has been discussed today provided for 

sites below 4 hectares.  A minimum 6,000 square metre site area for 5 

comprehensive residential development is proposed as controlled 

activity, as notified this is 7,000 square metres. 

 

 This includes the benefit of additional height and site coverage as well 

as relief from a number of other standards.  Minimum lot sizes have 10 

been retained as notified with surety of a diversity of typologies 

provided through the matters of control rather than a standard as was 

notified.  The number of terrace lots permitted has increased to 20 

percent from 10 percent of the total subdivision via mediation. 

 15 

 The rules relating to public open space have been retained including a 

respect to cul-de-sac length, road frontages to reserves, reserve widths 

and walkable block size.  These rules are fundamental to ensuring the 

functionality, safety, amenity and subsequent use of public space, as 

well as mitigating potential reverse sensitivity effects from the use of 20 

adjacent neighbours. 

 

 All of the parties involved in mediation have had a considerable 

involvement in ensuring a simple, rationalised and consolidated 

package of matters of control and discretion.  Having reviewed these 25 

matters against the objectives and policies I consider they are 

sufficiently comprehensive to support them while significantly 

reducing complexity from those matters as notified. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 30 

 

 I also consider that the non-statutory Residential New Neighbourhood 

Design Guide will provide further clarity and assistance to applicants.  

Overall I consider the revised proposal in regard to chapter 8 

adequately acknowledges the importance of the design and layout of 35 

subdivisions as new urban communities and recognises the relationship 

between subdivision and land use, as well as provides more flexible 

options for development.   

 

 In respect to chapter 14, as with the RNNZ rules in chapter 8, the 40 

chapter 14 built form standards have also been the subject of evidence 

and mediation as part of Stage 1 Residential hearings and more recent 

formal and informal mediation.  A number of the rules that were in the 

notified proposal have been deleted and I consider the rules package as 

revised is at a minimum level of prescription that will still ensure that 45 

objectives and policies are met. 
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 As discussed earlier, chapter 8 and chapter 14 Residential New 

Neighbourhood provisions are highly inter-related and this is reflected 

in the way that the rules package has been structured.  Standards 

including for site coverage, height and outdoor living space provide in 5 

my opinion sufficient flexibility to ensure an adequate level of on-site 

amenity while mitigating interface effects. 

 

 In addition, flexibility in the standards has been provided for through 

comprehensive development, recognising that there is more scope to 10 

address innovative solutions on larger size (INDISTINCT 1.42) on 

smaller sites. 

 

 Outdoor living space provisions have been simplified and recession 

planes been relaxed to recognise small and minimum site sizes.  15 

Standards in relation to site coverage have been set to ensure a level of 

on-site amenity and neighbours’ amenity, rather than simply building 

larger houses on smaller sites, and while adding to the diversity and 

typology and affordability. 

 20 

 In conjunction with these standards I consider the amenity standards 

are appropriate to achieve public space amenity and safety including in 

regard to landscaping, building setbacks, the location of garaging and 

the height of fencing. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Schroder, there is no cross-examination of you so I 

will just check for Panel questions.  Yes, Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:  No questions. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions from me either, thanks, Ms Schroder. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Your evidence is very clear and I do not have any 

questions either so you are free to go. 40 

 

MS SCHRODER:   Thank you very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.02 pm] 

 45 

MR LAING:   Your honour, the next witness is Ms Reeves. 
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<JANET HELEN REEVES, affirmed [12.03 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [12.03 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, your full name Janet Helen Reeves? 

 

MS REEVES:   It is. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You hold the position and have the qualifications referred to in 

your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS REEVES:   I do. 10 

 

MR LAING:   And just to clarify, you have a document of evidence-in-chief 

and you also have a statement of rebuttal evidence as well do you not? 

 

MS REEVES:   That is correct, yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Did you wish to make any corrections to your evidence? 

 

MS REEVES:   No. 

 20 

MR LAING:   So do you now confirm that the contents and corrections of both 

your statements of evidence are correct? 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes. 

 25 

MR LAING:   And could you now proceed to your summary please. 

 

MS REEVES:  Thank you. My primary task has been to manage the production 

of a simplified, rational and fit for purpose suite of outline development 

plans for 15 of the Greenfield priority areas and Riccarton Park.  30 

Riccarton Park, just to let you know, was previous known as 

Champions Mile so I hope there is no confusion there. 

 

 All of the Greenfield priority areas had some form of ODP.  These 

were included in various locations in the notified versions of stages 1 35 

and 2 Residential and Subdivision chapters.  Those for the former 

Living G zones were detailed and complex and those for the un-zoned 

Greenfield priority areas were preliminary and simplistic.   

 

 I have had considerable experience of the years of the way in which 40 

ODPs have helped or hindered the implementation of greenfield 

development and had already given thought to a style of ODP which I 

considered appropriate to achieving the high quality outcome sought 

and which were to give effect to policy 6.3.2 and 6.3.3 of the RPS. 

45 
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  [12.05 pm] 

 

 This revised format comprises an ODP plan indicating physical 

development requirements with fixed and indicative components and 

an accompanying explanatory narrative.  I like to think of these two 5 

together as a development brief. The revised ODPs, plans and 

narratives are attached to the rebuttal evidence of Ms Oliver.  They 

now have a standardised form although there are necessary variations 

to cater for site specific requirements and to provide for the changeover 

in provisions from Living G to residential new neighbourhoods. 10 

 

 These revised ODPs have been formed via an (INDISTINCT 1.00) 

process with considerable input from Council staff and submitters.  

There remain very few outstanding areas of disagreement as to the 

content of the ODPs.  Those which remain mainly relate to zoning 15 

requests where the ODP merely reflects the Council’s position on that 

zoning.  However there are still a few other minor points of difference.   

 

 My position on these is as follows. In respect to the proposed Riccarton 

Park ODP I do not agree with the submitter that the requirement in the 20 

narrative for special interfaced treatments for properties adjacent to 

distribution lines is unnecessary.  As discussed in my rebuttal evidence 

at paragraph 3.2, attention also needs to be paid to the visual impact of 

power lines and pylons.  This requirement is included in the narrative 

of other ODPs where there are power lines.   25 

 

 However I would like to point out, as Ms Semple has in her opening 

legal submission, the wording in the narratives for the various ODPs is 

inconsistent.  This was unfortunately due to lack of scrutiny on my part 

due to the tight timeframes.  If there is an opportunity to standardise the 30 

wording I would seek to do this.  In my opinion each of the ODP areas 

affected by overhead power lines should have the following 

requirement under development requirements integration. “To help 

mitigate the impact of transmission and/or distribution lines, special 

interface treatment such as deeper lots and boundary planting within 35 

the lots will be required”. So that is what it should say but 

unfortunately it does not say that. 

 

 In the case of South Halswell ODP, firstly I do not agree with the 

submitter’s request that the land adjacent to Kennedy’s Bush Road be 40 

open space.  My rebuttal evidence discusses this at paragraph 6.4.  

While use of this land as open space would contribute to landscape and 

recreational values, I do not consider there is sufficient argument to 

withdraw this area of land from residential development, given the 

generous provision of open space within and surrounding the ODP 45 

area. 
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 Secondly, I do not support setbacks and landscape treatments along 

Kennedys Bush Road. This was Kennedy’s Bush Residents’ 

Association’s submission.  They have not provided evidence on that, 

rebuttal evidence. 5 

 

 As explained in paragraph 21.4 of my evidence-in-chief I consider that 

such a requirement would unduly restrict development on private 

property.  And finally in respect to South Masham ODP, I do not agree 

with the submitter, Fulton Hogan, that the land subject to 10 

(INDISTINCT 3.55) should be shown in the ODP as having greater 

development constraints. As explained at paragraph 14.2 of my 

evidence-in-chief, my opinion is that their total land handling is of 

sufficient size to compensate for any loss in development capacity 

caused by quarrying prior to development. 15 

 

 My second task has been to prepare a draft Residential New 

Neighbourhood Design Guide.  Although put together rather hurriedly 

with limited input from Council staff, submitters and other developers, 

I hope that even in its current draft form it helps to explain the whole 20 

residential new neighbourhood package more clearly.  In particular Ms 

Schroder and I are conscious that by its very nature the practise of 

urban design is less tangible than other disciplines.  My intention is that 

the design guide puts a frame around a cloud.  In particular the guide 

provides advice targeted at Greenfield development areas in multiple 25 

ownership.  Achieving co-ordinated and efficient development of these 

areas will be a challenge and requires landowners to work together. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 30 

 While the design guide, together with the District Plan provisions 

included in the ODPs provide a framework, good urban design and 

integrated neighbourhood development will still be largely at the behest 

of developers, landowners and their consultants to a considerable 

extent.  The guide cannot be finalised until your decision on the 35 

Residential New Neighbourhood provisions is released. Also, some 

areas of the guide need to be expanded upon such as working with the 

Council, the use of assessment matters and techniques for minimising 

the visual impact of power lines and any other matters raised during 

this hearing and as a result of further consultation that we intend to 40 

carry out.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Laing, just a couple of procedural matters.  In that 

summary from Ms Reeves I heard her perhaps slightly expand on the 

theory of her rebuttal in regard to the Riccarton Park Racecourse ODP 45 

where she refers to setbacks from transmission lines. 
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MR LAING:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I think she added the point that if she had more time she 

would have actually recommended for that sort of regime of setback to 5 

apply to the other - - -  

 

MR LAING:   Because there are jurisdictional issues around that, Your 

Honour, which I think we have to put to one side at this stage.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and I am just mindful that perhaps Ms Semple 

actually elected not to cross-examine Ms Reeves and to be fair to her, if 

she felt that she wanted to cross-examine on that supplementary 

comment – because I think the theory of the Riccarton Racecourse 

position includes one of inconsistency of treatment between this 15 

particular ODP and others. 

 

MR LAING:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And I think the evidence - - - 20 

 

MR LAING:  That is raised in their opening legal submissions - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, it is. 

 25 

MR LAING:  - - - as well so I think obviously Ms Reeves was really trying to 

be upfront about that issue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, yes, absolutely and it is not a criticism of Ms Reeves 

at all, I am sure that is her opinion but it may be that given the extent to 30 

which it was not signalled in a rebuttal, if someone could let 

Ms Semple know that if she wanted to make the election to recall Ms 

Reeves for cross-examination she could. 

 

MR LAING:  Yes, I am more than happy about that, Your Honour. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Oh, Ms Semple’s down the back, sorry.  Sorry, I 

apologise. All right, so there is one other matter which is were you 

intending to address Mr Stoaks’ questions on the Yaldhurst ODP with 

this witness?  I see he is sitting down the back and he hasn’t asked for 40 

cross-examination rights but again, in terms of the Yaldhurst ODP and 

his notice, it just occurred to me that it might well be that this witness 

can assist both him and the Panel on anything in response to the 

memorandum appreciating it only came to my attention this morning. 

 45 

MR LAING:  I’ve seen Mr Stoaks’ memorandum but it is not evidence. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. 

 

MR LAING:  And for any (INDISTINCT 2.53) only deal with evidence so I 

think to a degree but we can ask her if she has any comments about Mr 5 

Stoaks’.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I just thought it may be helpful bearing in mind that not 

everyone here is, not all the participants here are totally familiar with 

the subtleties of process and there are some factual points put in his – 10 

or questions on which this witness may have an opinion, I guess, in a 

memorandum that is attached to his notice which puts various sort of 

propositions in regard to storm water requirements, road access points 

and so forth. 

 15 

MR LAING:  I think to a degree they are really cut, they are dealt with by our 

evidence, Ms O’Brien, Mr Norton, Mr Milne.  If there were any 

specific matters within Ms Reeves’ expertise that Mr Stoaks wanted to 

put to her, I am happy, just for the sake of clarity if he wanted to 

cross-examine now.   20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, well, perhaps I will just ask Mr Stoaks, give him the 

opportunity.  Mr Stoaks, are you there? 

 

MR STOAKS:  Yes, I am, Sir. I did request earlier on that I could 25 

cross-examine witnesses so if that helps the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, we do not have you down for cross-examination of 

this witness and I have only just this morning read your memorandum 

and Mr Laing’s explained there are other witnesses in the Council list 30 

that you could presumably test if you wished, but if you wanted to 

come forward and ask one or two questions of this witness now on 

these matters, I will leave you that ability to do that notwithstanding 

that we have not got you down for cross-examination. 

 35 

MR STOAKS:  Thank you very much, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Do you think you could cover that in about five minutes? 

 

MR STOAKS:  I would rather not with this witness but perhaps with Brian 40 

Norton, the storm water.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So you would prefer to ask Mr Norton about it? 

 

MR STOAKS:  Yes, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  And what about the road issue, road connection issue? 

 

MR STOAKS:  Road issues I would like to discuss, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, well, if I could just disclose at this point if you 5 

come forward to the microphone behind Mr Laing, please and just to 

disclose that – I think, I am not entirely sure – but prior to my 

appointment and a couple of years before that I acted for the 

Transport Agency on matters to do with an ODP in this particular 

vicinity. I think it might have involved an open investment group or 10 

something to that effect so I am putting that on record to the extent to 

which if it is an issue, other Panel members can deal with the matters of 

detail on this bearing in mind that I have previously acted for the 

NZTA on some matters. 

 15 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 All right, subject to parties’ positions on that, if you could let me 

consider whether or not it is appropriate for me to recuse on it and 

leave it to other members or not.  At this point, I have not got a firm 20 

view.  I do not really know the substance of the issues you're about to 

test. 

 

MR STOAKS:  If you would like me to - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So, you ask the questions you wish to ask this witness and 

we will have you noted for Mr Norton as well. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR STOAKS [12.16 pm] 

 30 

MR STOAKS:  In an ODP where there are different land ownerships within it, 

would you accept that those different land ownerships will require 

roading and services to enable the subdivisions of their own properties 

when we are talking like several properties about 8,000 square metres? 

 35 

MS REEVES:  Yes, they will require roads. 

 

MR STOAKS:  So, therefore, if that is a requirement that is required to actually 

implement that ODP should not those connections not be shown on the 

ODP as a requirement?  And I notice in a lot of the ODPs it does 40 

actually show some of the road connections that are required to 

different land ownerships. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So it is a requirement is the first question, you can answer 

that please. 45 

 



 Page 52 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

MS SCHRODER:  Yeah, the approach that I have taken with all the ODPs is 

that the collector roads are shown but not the local roads.  The local 

roads are level of detail that can be shown at the subdivision stage. 

 

MR STOAKS:  Is it not correct though that you have also shown other road 5 

accesses to other land ownerships that are not collector roads?  

Effectively points of entry if you like but they are not necessarily 

collector roads but roads required to connect other land ownerships. 

 

MS REEVES:  Yes, there are accesses from existing roads that are shown so - - 10 

- 

 

MR STOAKS:  So if some land ownerships within an ODP require that access 

should they not, therefore, be shown on that plan to ensure that 

happens? 15 

 

MS REEVES:  They are not shown like within the detail of the ODP.  They are 

only as shown around the boundaries. 

 

MR STOAKS:  Mm, but my point being that there is different land ownerships 20 

within the ODP. 

 

MS REEVES:  Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:  And if they are minor land ownerships in relation to the overall 25 

ODP would you accept you are in a position of being at the mercy of 

the developer if there is no such requirement put into the ODP that they 

must be connected? 

 

MS REEVES:  There is a requirement on all the ODPs for a connected road 30 

network.  It is just not that it is not shown on the plan because we will 

not know the detail at this stage, you know, particularly with multiple 

owners.  Who knows, you know, which people want to develop and 

which do not and we find that with the Living G zones where we have 

put in that detail that it is counterproductive and so as you carry on with 35 

the development, those local roads get more and more out of kilter with 

what is required and they have to be changed so that is the reason why 

the local roads are not shown at this stage. 

 

MR STOAKS:  Specifically with the Living G Yaldhurst zone, a new ODP is 40 

proposed for that, can you confirm that there is been no notification to 

the owners within that existing ODP? 

 

MS REEVES:  The existing ODP has not been changed.  It is been simplified 

so we have already got an ODP that is in the plan, so all that has 45 

happened to that is that a lot of the detail has been taken out. 
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MR STOAKS:  Would you accept in relation to storm water for that ODP that 

an addition has been placed in the ODP that actually shows a storm 

water basin that is outside of the ODP? 

 5 

MS REEVES:  It does, it does and that is because the knowledge is known 

about that and we have done that in southwest Halswell as well.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, Mr Stoaks, you are getting on to a topic I think you 

said you were going to ask Mr Norton? 10 

 

MR STOAKS:  Oh, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Is that right: 

 15 

MR STOAKS:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just otherwise I might have to guide the witness as to 

questions she can say, Mr Norton understands the answers on better or 

whatever but if you are not intending to traverse that; leave that alone. 20 

 

MR STOAKS:  Thank you, and I will save that questioning for Mr Norton, I 

will leave it there, thanks very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you very much, I will just check for panel 25 

questions.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:  Just in regard to the Yaldhurst ODP, there is a collector road 

indicative alignment shown in the plan as proposed, isn’t there?  It is 

page 91 of 286 of Sarah Oliver’s rebuttal. 30 

 

MS REEVES:  There is a collector road shown through that, yes.   

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 35 

MR NEILL:   There is also a key activity centre shown on Yaldhurst Road? 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   It maybe a question for one of the other witnesses, Mr Milne, I 40 

think, was any consideration given in the preparation of that to a Park 

and Ride, from a bus perspective? 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes, the key activity centre is shown on this ODP but all the 

ins and outs of that have been traversed in the Commercial hearing, so 45 

all this is recorded as that. 
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MR NEILL:   Yes, okay, no thank you for that, cheers. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   No, thank you, I think you have answered my question in your 

earlier comments, thank you. 

 

MS REEVES:   Thank you.  

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question thank you, Ms Reeves.  You mentioned the 

key activity centre and it is perhaps Ms Oliver or Mr Collins might 

need to answer this but in your view is the Commercial Core zone that 15 

is provided at Yaldhurst a key activity centre because it has not ever 

been described as such in the Commercial chapter or the Regional 

Policy Statement, are you familiar with the subtleties of that? 

 

MS REEVES:   Not really, but when I consulted the Council about what I 20 

should call it that was what the answer was but things have been 

changing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 25 

MS REEVES:   If that is not still correct then that means - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   I think it might be just a neighbourhood centre but that is not 

going to make any difference to your - - -  

 30 

MS REEVES:   No, in this case it is really, I mean the ODPs are concentrated 

in the residential areas but in some of the ODPs they just happen to be 

zoned commercial areas within the ODP boundary. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and any provisions relating to those zoned commercial 35 

areas, although that area might be shown on the ODP, the provisions 

just sit within the Commercial zone. 

 

MS REEVES:   The Commercial chapter, so the difference is in the living G 

zones and in some of the preliminary other ones, other ODPs we had 40 

some local centres indicated but we have taken those out because of the 

uncertainty of whether they are actually viable or not, and exactly 

where they might go so the only ones that are now shown are the ones 

that are actually zoned. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Well that was going to be another question I was going to ask 

Ms Oliver so thank you for answering that.  I mean I think some of 

them, I think one or two of them may still say local centre but from 

your perspective the only ones that you are intending to show on the 

ODPs are the ones that are already zoned? 5 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Then I think there is a permitted activity provision for local 

centres that refers off to the relevant business chapter zones. 10 

 

MS REEVES:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You are intending that to only apply to the zoned areas as 

well? 15 

 

MS REEVES:   No, the zoned areas go with whatever they are zoned and the 

local centres go with it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   With the Residential New Neighbourhood zone, with the 20 

permitted activity within that zone? 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Those are not on locations that are shown on the ODP that 25 

might be another location. 

 

MS REEVES:   No, the possibility of them is mentioned in the narrative. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The narrative, yes. 30 

 

MS REEVES:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is very clear, thank you very much for that and 

thank you also for your work in advance with Ms Schroder, I 35 

understand the design guide because although it is not finalised is very 

helpful to see, thank you. 

 

MS REEVES:   Thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Ms Reeves, I do not have any questions but Mr Stoaks do 

you have any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MR STOAKS:   No. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, any questions arising? 
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MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Laing, you are free to go Ms Reeves, thank 

you very much for your help too.  Are you going to call your next 5 

witness? 

 

MR LAING:   Ms O’Brien? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.24 pm] 10 
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<BRIDGET MARY O’BRIEN, affirmed [12.24 pm] 



 Page 58 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [12.24 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Bridget Mary O’Brien? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have appeared before on a number of occasions but do you 

confirm that you hold the position set out in your evidence and also the 

qualifications set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 10 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you have not only an evidence-in-chief and also a statement 

of rebuttal evidence as well? 

 15 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any corrections to either document, sorry 

do you now confirm that those documents are true and correct? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Would you now read your summary? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sure.  My evidence considers the technical merits of the 25 

submissions on Residential and New Neighbourhood rezoning in terms 

of water and wastewater servicing.  The Council has plans to provide 

water and wastewater services for most of the proposed RNN areas in 

Christchurch that are not already serviced.  The exceptions are 

Highfield and part of Belfast and these will be funded by developers.  30 

All budgets for servicing these areas will be sought in future Council 

long term plans. There are therefore no water or wastewater 

infrastructure issues with the proposed Residential New 

Neighbourhood zoning.   

 35 

 Some requests seeking rezoning to Residential New Neighbourhood 

can be accommodated in terms of capacity of the Council’s water and 

wastewater networks or planned upgrades to those networks.  Where 

this is the case I do not oppose the rezoning sought.  However, there are 

other requests seeking rezoning to Residential New Neighbourhood 40 

which exceed the current or planned capacity of the Council’s water 

and wastewater networks, where this is the case I oppose the rezoning 

sought. 

 

 I therefore oppose the rezoning of additional land as RNN in Belfast, 45 

West of Prestons, Upper Styx and East Hendersons which I will talk 
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about further shortly.  In terms of the submissions on South Awatea I 

do not oppose Commercial Local zoning of this land as the wastewater 

flow is expected from this zoning are lower than from RNN zoning.  

Higher wastewater flows would be expected if this land was rezoned 

Industrial General or Industrial Heavy. 5 

 

 I oppose the rezoning of 350, 396 and 410 Wigram Road as Industrial 

General or Industrial Heavy as there is insufficient capacity in the 

receiving pump station 123.  The remainder of the area will be in the 

pump station 115 catchment and there is capacity in the existing 10 

wastewater to accommodate the rezoning of up to 20 hectares as 

Industrial General or 3.8 hectares as Industrial Heavy. 

 

 In terms of the submission seeking rezoning of John Paterson’s Drive 

to RNN there is sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional 15 

water supply demand and wastewater flows however, it is 

approximately one kilometre to the water and wastewater mains 

providing the developers fund and construct the new pipelines to 

connect to those mains, I do not oppose the rezoning sought. 

 20 

 The detail design for the South East Halswell wastewater scheme is 

complete and the Council will be putting the physical works out to 

tender shortly.  Construction is expected to be complete by the end of 

2017 and this will provide a wastewater service for the North Halswell, 

South Halswell, South East Halswell and Henderson’s Basin RNN 25 

areas. 

 

 The design of the South East Halswell wastewater scheme is based on 

option one in Ms Oliver’s evidence for Hendersons Basin which 

includes areas of future potential residential land that is outside the 30 

boundary shown in map A of the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement.  This is because wastewater infrastructure planning is for a 

much longer time horizon than the 10 year planning horizon for the 

district plan. 

 35 

 There is spare capacity in the proposed pump station 104 for an 

additional 421 houses in the West Hendersons and South Halswell 

RNN areas.  I therefore do not oppose the rezoning of additional land 

as RNN in these areas providing the number of houses that could be 

developed does not exceed 421.  At a net density of 15 households per 40 

hectare, this equates to 28 hectares of RNN zone land. 

 

 There is no spare capacity for wastewater from additional houses in the 

East Hendersons ODP area in the design of the South East Halswell 

wastewater scheme.  To accommodate additional RNN area beyond 45 

what is shown on the East Hendersons OPD option one in Ms Oliver’s 
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evidence would require a further upgrade to pump station 68 or its 

pressure main or a new pressure main from the development area to the 

proposed pump station 104 near the corner of Sparks Road and 

Hendersons Road. 

 5 

 The Council has no budget in its current long term plan for such an 

upgrade. A density of less than 15 households per hectare or a 

reduction in the developable area, for example by excluding the area 

outside the Greenfield priority area boundary, would need to be 

adopted to accommodate any of the rezoning sought in the submissions 10 

for East Hendersons.   

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 Mr Lewis, in his rebuttal evidence for Cashmere Fields and Cashmere 15 

Park Trust is correct that upgrades as a result of growth are funded by 

development contributions.  However, only projects that are included in 

the Council’s long-term plan are used to calculate development 

contributions, any further upgrade to pump station 68 or its pressure 

main beyond what is already included in the current design to 20 

accommodate the additional RNN area proposed by these submitters 

would need to be added to the next long-term plan, and only then could 

the Council collect development contributions for that project.   

 

 Given that the upgrade to pump station 68 and its new pressure main 25 

are to be built by the end of 2017, I would be reluctant to recommend a 

further upgrade so soon after.  I therefore remain opposed to the 

rezoning of additional land as RNN in East Hendersons.   

 

 I am happy to answer questions from the Panel.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  There are no notices of cross-examination so far as I 

am aware, so I will just test with Panel members.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions, thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask one question please, Ms O’Brien?  I would 

quite like a map to understand what you have been talking about in that 

East Hendersons area.  Would option 1 from Ms Oliver’s evidence be a 45 

suitable map? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Yes.  Are you talking about the wastewater scheme itself? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Well just you have said that option 1 is included in your 

long-term funding. 5 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So even though there are other reasons why Ms Oliver has 

said it cannot be zoned at the moment, the Council is looking to 10 

provide the wastewater capacity for some additional area outside the 

map A boundary, thinking for the future, I think that is what you have 

just told us, but that Mr Lewis and his group of submitters are asking 

for even further areas of housing over and above the option 1 boundary.  

Am I understanding that correctly? 15 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is right.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So maybe you could show us that? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   So the map on the screen shows the extent of the area that is 

assumed to be zoned RNN for the purposes of the waste water scheme 

design.  So you can see East Henderson is on the right hand side there.  

I compared that area with areas sought by submitters for Cashmere 

Fields and I believe that the area that they are seeking would equate to 25 

an extra 300 households above and beyond what is shown on that map.   

 

MS DAWSON:   In just that area alone, that East Hendersons area? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So going out into the green paddocks that are shown in the 

yellow? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, so their submission seeks for additional RNN land to the 35 

north heading towards Sparks Road, and also to the south of Cashmere 

Road. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right.  And that is the area that you have said “even if the 

option 1 could be zoned, that would be over and above that and it has 40 

not been funded, has not been provided for in the funding in the long-

term plan? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is correct. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you very much for explain that. 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms O’Brien, I do not have any questions, thank you, on 

this occasion.  I will just test if there is any re-examination. 5 

 

MR LAING:   No re-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  All right.  Well, Ms O’Brien, you 

are free to go, thank you very much. 10 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.34 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Norton I think? 

 15 

MR LAING:   Mr Norton is the next witness.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.   
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<ROBERT BRIAN NORTON, affirmed [12.34 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [12.34 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Good afternoon, Mr Norton.  Your full name is Robert Brian 

Norton? 

 5 

MR NORTON:   Yes.   

 

MR LAING:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief and 

also a rebuttal statement? 

 10 

MR NORTON:   That is correct. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   And do you hold the position and have the qualifications set out 15 

in your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any corrections to your evidence? 20 

 

MR NORTON:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   So can you confirm the contents are true and correct? 

 25 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And now would you read your summary please? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes.  I apologise, I am a bit under the weather so, coming 30 

back from a long trip and airplanes, so – the Land Use Recovery Plan 

and the Christchurch Regional Policy Statement direct the Council to 

provide for a development in existing urban areas and greenfield 

priority areas.  

 35 

 Over the years I have worked collaboratively with carious land owners 

in the Greenfields priority areas and other areas identified for growth to 

come up with storm water infrastructure solutions.  All of the ODP 

areas proposed by the Council to be zoned Residential New 

Neighbourhood have conceptual level designs for a collective storm 40 

water mitigation system developed as part of either the Council’s 

south-west area or Styx River Storm water Management Plans.   

 

 However, since the notification of the Proposed Replacement District 

Plan there have been a number of submissions either seeking 45 

amendments to the ODPs as notified or seeking site specific rezoning 
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to the RNN zone.  The suggested changes, if implemented, would have 

an impact on the provision of storm water infrastructure, and my 

evidence discusses my support for or opposition to these submissions.   

 

 I reviewed the submissions primarily on the basis of whether or not 5 

mitigation could be provided to address the effects of development, ie 

storm water quality and quantity, and mitigate the impact of flooding 

on new dwellings. 

 

 I was happy to support relief sought by most submitters, as highlighted 10 

in my evidence-in-chief.  Most of my evidence, therefore, focuses on 

submissions I do not consider would be able to adequately mitigate 

their storm water effects or flooding effects with a sustainable and 

integrated storm water solution.   

 15 

 With respect to Hendersons Basin and Cashmere Stream ponding area, 

there have been considerable changes to the ODP with the main one 

being the revision of the boundary of the New Neighbourhood areas.  

This has resulted in two versions of the ODPs for Hendersons Basin, 

east and west, options 1 and 2.  Within the Hendersons area the original 20 

urban boundary line as indicated by the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement was somewhat arbitrarily set to the 19.0 metre reduced level 

contour line which was intended to protect new development areas 

from flooding.  This boundary line is no longer relevant for the reasons 

highlighted in my evidence, ie due to earthquake related changes to 25 

ground levels and refinement of the Council’s flood model which now 

provides more accurate flood levels for the 2 percent and 0.5 percent 

annual exceedance probability flood events.   

 

 I have confirmed that I am able to give support to option 1 which 30 

features some future potential residential land outside of the RPS 

chapter 6 map A area from a storm water and flooding perspective.  I 

am also able to support option 2 which has restricted RNN zoning to 

only those land areas which can be mitigated from a storm water and 

flood perspective and which are located within the Regional Policy 35 

Statement chapter 6 map A Greenfield priority area.   

 

 Development of option 1 may involve some minor filling of the 

shallow periphery of the 200 year flood hazard area.  The minor filling 

of the RNN land identified on the option 1 Hendersons Basin East and 40 

West ODPs has been tested in the Council’s Heathcote River flood 

model and has been demonstrated to have a less than minor effect – ie 

no measurable increase in flood levels on other low-lying rural land 

within the Hendersons Basin. 

 45 
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 My approach then to the assessment of re-zoning requests in or around 

Hendersons Basin is governed primarily by the need to protect the 

existing natural flood storage in the ponding area as identified in the 

Council’s most up to date Heathcote River flood model.   

 5 

 I recommend rejection of relief sought for land to be zoned RNN where 

it lies within the 200 year flood hazard area of a ponding area.  

However, if some rationalisation of the irregular flood plain boundary 

was required in development of the ODPs to create development blocks 

with practical sizes and shapes.   10 

 

 I am also not convinced that some submitters within the Hendersons 

and Cashmere ponding areas have been able to demonstrate that the 

effects of the basin capacity and/or flooding of other low-lying 

properties are able to be adequately mitigated.   15 

 

 In response to Mr Lewis’ rebuttal evidence filed in behalf of Cashmere 

Fields and Cashmere Park Trust, I consider that the Council’s current 

accepted Heathcote River storm water model is the most recent and 

comprehensive modelling analysis of Hendersons and Cashmere 20 

Stream ponding areas done to date and that the remodelling effect 

currently being undertaken by the Council, which is primarily an 

exercise to combine all of the Council’s river models into one city-wide 

model, is unlikely to significantly alter peak modelled flood levels in 

these areas to an extent that would allow additional land within these 25 

areas to be zoned Residential New Neighbourhood. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

 In terms of submissions impacted by the Halswell River flooding area, 30 

I have generally opposed zoning of new land within the 200 year flood 

extent of the Halswell River, but do not oppose zoning of land above 

the flood plain to RNN or other residential zoning, or where I consider 

that the effects of development within the flood plain are able to be 

mitigated by filling of land and/or provision of compensatory storage.  35 

 

 Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Now, Mr Woodford, are you ready to ask 

your questions? If you would come forward to the microphone, thank 40 

you. I just think it might be helpful just at the beginning of questioning, 

just to explain to the witness what your interest is – in other words, I 

think you are South Halswell? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   That is right. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   So my interest in examining Mr Norton is exclusively in 

relation to South Halswell. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WOODFORD [12.41 pm] 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Mr Norton, I refer to paragraph 15.7 of your evidence-in-10 

chief, dated 7 December, and I note that you acknowledge there that 

storm water modelling does confirm that parts of South Halswell land 

do flood, and the consequence of that flooding from the Halswell River 

into Greens Drain, which you refer to as Greens Stream, but it is a 

manmade drain we are talking about really. Can you please confirm the 15 

maximum calculated elevation of this flooding? I presume you are 

working on a 200 year event? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is correct. The peak flood level for the Halswell River 

model for South Halswell Outline Development Plan was 21.3 metres 20 

RL. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   21.3 metres RL? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Could you confirm the area of South Halswell which is 

within that elevation? 

 

MR NORTON:   Not off the top of my head, no. 30 

 

MR WOODFORD:   I think you knew I was going to ask that question, 

Mr Norton.  

 

MR NORTON:   No. 35 

 

MR WOODFORD:   I stated when I served the statement of service, that I 

would be asking that type of information. But presumably you would 

agree that this particular part of South Halswell, which at the moment 

is not clearly defined, should not be developed. 40 

 

MR NORTON:   No, I do not agree. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay, so you are saying that even if it is below that 

elevation, it can be developed? 45 
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MR NORTON:   If the land is filled to above the flood protection elevation it 

could be developed. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay, so it has to be raised above that, thank you. 

 5 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You have agreed, I understand that from your evidence 

here, that the Halswell River does back flow into Greens Drain, is that 

correct? 10 

 

MR NORTON:   I believe in a long duration storm event that could be an 

effect, yes. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You certainly state that in your evidence that high 15 

intensity rainfall events, or due to back water effects from Halswell 

River? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WOODFORD:   I think you are probably aware that in some of the 

Council documentation, at times there’s actually confusion as to which 

way Greens Drain does run, it runs essentially of course from east to 

west, but occasionally it does back fill up the other way, and some 

Council documentation actually refers to it flowing that other way. So 25 

there is confusion there, but I will move on from that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, okay, all you have done at the moment is make a 

statement. 

 30 

MR WOODFORD:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is not evidence. Now, have you got a question for the 

witness? 

 35 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, I do. Would you agree that in those situations where 

there is back water from the Halswell River that there is no alternative 

path of exit from the manmade Greens Drain, or what you refer to as 

Greens Stream, do you agree that that is the only exit from South 

Halswell into the Halswell River? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   I cannot confirm that. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You cannot? 

 45 

MR NORTON:   No. 
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  [12.45 pm] 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay, thank you. Can you explain how your mitigation 

strategy, your first one, which is to upgrade Greens Stream to increase 5 

its capacity to carry peak flows from upstream catchments, given that 

we have back flow going both ways, so the Halswell River is already 

flooded on many occasions, how will upgrading the drain allow more 

water to get into the river? 

 10 

MR NORTON:   In the situations where the river is low and there is a high 

intensity storm event, enlarging the stream would allow storm water to 

travel more quickly to Halswell River.  

 

MR WOODFORD:   But only in a situation where Halswell River is well, well 15 

below the flood elevation levels that you were talking about before? 

 

MR NORTON:   In those situations, yes. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   In those specific situations, thank you. Your second 20 

mitigation strategy is to fill new development areas, and you have just 

referred to that, can we please have the – yes, this particular photo, 

which is in my evidence - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just for the record, so we are looking at figure 7, flood 25 

waters crossing into South Halswell, 22 June 2013, from your 

evidence. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you. So here we are looking at the flow of water 

through into South Halswell and all of that area behind the trees there, 30 

which is all flooded, that in fact has been proposed as the high intensity 

land development, that’s the south-east component, which Mr Laing, 

you specifically referred to earlier. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just address the witness, and is that a question? 35 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, I am just clarifying so he knows what we are talking 

about.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay. 40 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Would you agree there that you chose not to comment on 

this evidence which I presented, would you agree that we there have 

substantial flooding going through into South Halswell? 

 45 
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MR NORTON:   It depends on your definition of substantial, I suppose. June 

2013 was a very large storm event in excess of 100 year return period. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Sorry, 2000 and? 

 5 

MR NORTON:   13. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The same date as the figure, is it? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, I assume if this photo is from the June 2013 storm - - - 10 

 

MR WOODFORD:   This is 2013, there have of course been several other 

events similar to this just in the last two years. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just questions remember. 15 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. Can we see the next photo please? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this next photo, for the record, is figure 8, Halswell 

Quarry Park and South Halswell on 22 June 2013, again from your 20 

evidence, Mr Woodford? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. It is a little bit difficult from what you can see there, 

but you can see all the Halswell Quarry Park, which is covered in 

water, and there is residual flooding which is actually widespread 25 

across all of the South Halswell. So you would be wanting to raise this 

level, you would be suggesting is the mitigation strategy? 

 

MR NORTON:   It is difficult to tell where the boundary of the proposed RNN 

area is on that map or on that photo. 30 

 

MR WOODFORD:   All of the area behind Halswell Quarry Park is the RNN.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On that assumption, your question. 

 35 

MR WOODFORD:   So you would be proposing to in-fill that area? 

 

MR NORTON:   To fill the land to above 21.3.  

 

MR WOODFORD:   Given that this is a natural flood plain, so this water that 40 

now goes there currently would have to go somewhere else, so where is 

that water going to go? 

 

MR NORTON:   So the idea would be twofold, one is the entire catchment for 

the ODP area is about 40 hectares in size, of which about a third of it is 45 

within the ODP area, the catchment extends, like you said, through 
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Halswell Quarry Park. By providing detention storage for the new 

development area on the full flood attenuation basis and also providing 

compensatory storage for any filling of land that floods, so you would 

be widening and deepening the flooding area to compensate for the lost 

storage.  5 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Can we see the next photo please, which is figure 9 from 

my own submission. This is looking down from Hyndhope Road across 10 

into the areas which would be used for detention areas, and across on 

the right of the photo – you might struggle a little bit from there but 

you have already seen it in my evidence, and you will see that there is a 

deep flow of water flowing across there.  Thank you.  So it is flowing 

from the right across to the left and we already have natural storage in 15 

there in these detention areas.   

 

 So you are going to put a lot more water into those areas, which 

currently spreads out across South Halswell, and then you are going to 

also have detention areas for the fact that South Halswell will now be 20 

developed, is that correct? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay.  Thank you.  If I turn to your rebuttal evidence, I 25 

note that you refer to the photographic documentation of flooding that I 

provided as being anecdotal - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got a paragraph reference for that? 

 30 

MR WOODFORD:   This would be in the rebuttal evidence, this is paragraph 

2.2. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 35 

MR WOODFORD:   Where Mr Norton says he does not feel that he needs to 

respond “because Mr Woodford is not an expert in hydrology, however 

I consider Mr Woodford’s anecdotal observations”.  Could you just 

please give me a precise definition of how you were using the word 

“anecdotal”? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   If we knew exactly where the photos were taken and what 

time on those particular dates, if that information could be used to say 

calibrate our storm water model. 

 45 
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MR WOODFORD:   Okay, thank you.  So the key issue is that you do not have 

precise times on that date? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 

 5 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you.  What calculations has the Council done to 

date on flows through that South Halswell catchment?  And let me 

clarify, as I understand the models that you have, which allow you to 

talk about an elevation of 21.3, I think it was, metres, essentially that is 

talking about the main Halswell River and where that expands out and 10 

reaches particular levels - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that your first question, and then you have got to get 

some - - -  

 15 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, well what I am trying to just clarify - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I just want to clarify what your question is, Mr 

Woodford. 

 20 

MR WOODFORD:   My question is, specifically to South Halswell, which is 

the water before it gets into the main Halswell River, have you done 

any modelling on that South Halswell catchment which comes through 

the Quarry Park? 

 25 

MR NORTON:   The modelling that has been done has been used to determine 

the peak flood levels for the area as a result of Halswell River flooding.  

So there has not been any additional modelling done. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   So there is no modelling specifically of the waters that 30 

flow down through the quarry park, through that major catchment? 

 

MR NORTON:   No, that is in the model as well, so we could do other runs for 

other types of events and see what the extent of flooding would be, and 

what the flows would be. 35 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You would agree that the flooding that we are talking 

about is actually above the 21.3 because it is in a different sub-

catchment – would you agree with that? 

 40 

MR NORTON:   Not necessarily, no. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You would not?  Okay.  Thank you.  That is all. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you, Mr Woodford.  Now just we will 

have questions arising at the end.  So just before Mr Pickering, you 

start, Ms Dawson just wanted to make a statement for the record. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just for the record, I just want to acknowledge that I acted as 5 

a Commissioner for the Highfield Plan Change that Mr Pickering was a 

submitter on and I presume is going to talk about again now.  Just to 

acknowledge that.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Pickering, is there any reason why you have to 10 

sit down?   

 

MR PICKERING:   Not at all, I just - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh well you can stand by the microphone. 15 

 

MR PICKERING:   Yes, sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, that is a better form for questioning.   

 20 

MR PICKERING:   No problem. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is all right.  We will just go ahead.  Now again, as I 

asked Mr Woodford, if you could help the witness understand first of 

all by just saying what your cross-examination relates to, you have 25 

made a submission, and can you explain briefly, for context, what that 

relates to so you can think about the questions you ask? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Certainly.   

 30 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR PICKERING [12.54 pm] 

 

MR PICKERING:   Good morning, Mr Norton.  My name is Luke Pickering, I 

am a property owner in the area that you refer to in section 7 of your 

evidence dated 7 December 2015.   35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Pickering. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 40 

MR PICKERING:   Just so that we can key yourself into this, were you part of 

the Council team in relation to Private Plan Change 67? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR PICKERING:   Okay.  And so therefore, referring to section 7.5 of your 

evidence, in fact, you will be aware given that you and I had 

discussions during Private Plan Change 67 of where my property is? 

 

MR NORTON:   I do not specifically recall where your property is.   5 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  So there were up on a screen a number of shots 

showing my property, showing the relative levels, showing some 

flooding and other such things and we discussed the realignment of 

Horners Drain and the resultant storm water issues that I might 10 

experience on my property if the surrounding land area was increased 

by two metres, which was the proposal at the time.  So does that assist? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So does that assist in which way? 

 15 

MR PICKERING:   Just in terms – Mr Norton was - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just a minute, Mr Pickering, we are going to cut to the 

chase – where is your property? 

 20 

MR PICKERING:   So my property is on Prestons Road.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now by reference to that piece of information, 

could you ask your next question please? 

 25 

MR PICKERING:   Sure.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just that we have to focus on what is relevant for this 

hearing.  The witness has previously answered your earlier question 

regarding recollection of your property – let us cut to the chase about 30 

what your concerns are regarding your property and this matter.   

 

MR PICKERING:   With respect your Honour, I was just trying to key him in 

so that he did recollect the one that I was talking about. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And with respect, Mr Pickering, get on with it. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  Fine.  So, Mr Norton, are you aware that Highfield 

Park Limited has gone into liquidation owing $2.4 million, and that it is 

highly unlikely that Highfield Park as proposed will go ahead? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well where is the evidence for that for us, Mr Pickering? 

 

MR PICKERING:   That was given to the Panel last week, your Honour. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right.  Well put the question, are you aware of 

that? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am not aware of the details of their financial situation.   

 5 

MR PICKERING:   Okay. So therefore if we look at 7.4 where you were 

speaking about a benefit of the Highfield development on the existing 

storm water network in relation to realignment and enhancement of 

Horners Drain, would you accept that if a company is in liquidation, 

owing that amount of money, and that in a time of high property sales 10 

has not even turned a sod, that it is fairly unlikely in the short to 

medium term at least that there would be any change to that storm 

water network? 

 

MR NORTON:   I guess it is possible that some other developer could pick up 15 

the project.  I cannot speculate on when the area will be developed or 

when the works would be done.   

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay. 

 20 

MR NORTON:   I am not sure how else to answer that.   

 

MR PICKERING:   Sure, no, that is fine.  Just for the record, the evidence that 

I did provide does show that other people have looked at that and that it 

is fairly unlikely to happen. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - -  

 

MR PICKERING:   That is in the liquidator’s report, your Honour, which was 

presented there. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Just, Mr Pickering, I am not wanting to 

intervene all the time, but bearing in mind this witness’ expertise is 

actually quite specific, he is giving evidence in that capacity, you will 

have the opportunity to present your submissions on all of these things. 35 

 

MR PICKERING:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just to reassure you that you will have your opportunity 

for that. 40 

 

MR PICKERING:   I am about to ask him some technical questions with 

respect to his areas of expertise, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 45 
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MR PICKERING:   But I needed to establish whether he was aware of some of 

these things or not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Well you have got your answers.   

 5 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you.  Just wondering, Mr Norton, you come back to 

Horners Drain being the main reason, I believe, of your opposition to 

my request that the area remain rural.  In terms of Horners Drain itself, 

my rough calculations show that there would be 400,000 square metres 

of house roofs in the proposed Highfield development area.  I presume 10 

that they would dissipate the water directly to Horners Drain, is that 

correct? 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the first thing is I think you need to ask the witness 

whether he agrees with your first proposition as that is the premise for 

your second question.  Or do you want him just to accept that? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Well that is very approximate but we have 260 hectares, 20 

2200 sections of which houses would be placed upon so I think - - -  

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, I think we can agree that that would be a significant 

increase in the previous area as a result of housing, yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and put that second question again. 

 

MR PICKERING:   So would that runoff then go into Horners Drain? 

 

MR NORTON:   No, the runoff from new development would be directed to 30 

storm water treatment and detention facilities, the blue areas of the plan 

prior to discharging to Horners Drain. 

 

MR PICKERING:   So where do they discharge into? 

 35 

MR NORTON:   They discharge to Horners Drain. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Correct, so ultimately it ends up in Horners Drain.  If the 

land remains - - -  

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you want to ask that last question? 

 

MR PICKERING:   No, no, that explains to me, your honour, I was asking that 

(INDISTINCT 1.19) 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I want to know - - -  
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MR PICKERING:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - does it ultimately go into Horner’s Drain, Mr Norton? 

 5 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR PICKERING:   So if the area were to remain rural, given that there would 10 

not be such a significant direct discharge to the retention areas and then 

to the drain, and given the current permeability of the ground and so 

on, would there be likely to be less direct effect on Horners Drain? 

 

MR NORTON:   As it currently exists most of the land is rural.  It is being 15 

used for agricultural grazing purposes so as it currently exists there are 

discharges of nutrients and other contaminants from those types of 

uses. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Mr Norton, what is the answer to the question that 20 

was put to you?  You went on to nutrients, the question was around the 

nature of that existing land use.  What is the answer? 

 

MR NORTON:   I would say that the effects of an urban land use with 

treatment and detention would be different than that of a rural use but 25 

not necessarily better or worse. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pickering, was your question around the quantity, 

relative quantities? 

 30 

MR PICKERING:   Effectively, your honour, I am just trying to establish 

really whether there is any detriment to the area remaining rural. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well he has answered about nutrients.  Did you have 

a question about relative quantities between remaining rural - - - 35 

 

MR PICKERING:   It was relative quantities - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and urbanisation? 

 40 

MR PICKERING:   - - - was my (INDISTINCT 2.59) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the answer on that point, Mr Norton? 

 

MR NORTON:   When he said effects, I assumed he meant both water quantity 45 

and water quality. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And dealing with quantity, what is the answer? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Quantity is the question. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is the answer on quantity? 

 

MR NORTON:   The answer is that the storm water detention areas that are 

intended to mitigate the additional runoff from urbanisation would be 

designed to emulate the predeveloped runoff from the site, so - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What does emulate mean? 

 

MR NORTON:   To - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be the same as or mitigate? 

 

MR NORTON:   Be the same as or not worse than the predeveloped condition. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.   20 

 

MR PICKERING:   In terms of the dimensions of any drain realignment that 

you have talked about, what would the approximate land area of that 

be? 

 25 

MR NORTON:   I could not say what the land area is but I think for Horners 

Drain we were seeking a 30 metre wide corridor. 

 

MR PICKERING:   So would you accept that the land area would be maybe 

between half a hectare to a hectare in total? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   I would have to get my calculator out. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, would it be comparatively small in relation to the 

260 hectares that is currently in discussion with regard to the Highfield 35 

Park area? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, the area of land needed to enhance the Horners Dain 

would be small in caparison to the rest of the development. 

 40 

MR PICKERING:   So has the Christchurch City Council discussed directly 

with the landowner over whom you wish to realign Horners Drain the 

possibility of realigning it separately to this proposal? 

 

MR NORTON:   Not at this time that I am aware of. 45 
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MR PICKERING:   Okay, so there is an option for the Council to do that 

separate to changing the entire 260 hectares just to realign a drain? 

 

MR NORTON:   There is that option, yes. 

 5 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, thank you, that is all my questions at this stage. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Pickering.  Now, Mr Stoaks. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR STOAKS [1.05 pm] 10 

 

MR STOAKS:   Yes, sorry Mr Norton, Mr Stoaks, Living G Yaldhurst zone. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Stoaks, can you give us an estimate of your time given 

that I have not got you down for cross-examination and I am 15 

significantly behind on time.  What is your estimate? 

 

MR STOAKS:   Certainly, okay.  Could I just have those handed out please? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is your estimate of time? 20 

 

MR STOAKS:   Five minutes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Five minutes, thank you. 

 25 

MR STOAKS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will see how we go, if you run over five minutes I will 

- - - 

 30 

MR STOAKS:   Okay, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just wait for this to be distributed I think.  I have 

got a copy of this already, yes.  Thank you, Mr Stoaks. 

 35 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you, just while we have got that page up there is which 

page 1 of my letter to the Council of 23 December 2015.  Have you 

seen that, Mr Norton, that letter? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am sorry? 40 

 

MR STOAKS:  It is in those pages just given to you.  There is a page 1 there 

which is a letter from me to the Council dated 23 December 2015. 

 

MR NORTON:   I have not seen this letter, no. 45 
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MR STOAKS:   Sorry, I was advised by the Council that they have been in 

consultation about it with the staff. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Mr Stoaks just get on with the next question, he has 

given you the answer. 5 

 

MR STOAKS:   Oh, okay, okay.  Those two pictures on that page there, the 

one on the left there is a part of a storm water catchment plan, are you 

familiar with that? Does that look familiar to you showing the 

commercial area of the Yaldhurst New Neighbourhood zone? 10 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   And the one on the right there is a similar section from the 

overall development plan? 15 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Would you accept that those purple basins shown on the left 

hand side that are requirements for the commercial area in that zone are 20 

not shown on the ODP? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 

 

MR STOAKS:  Thank you.  I would just like that noted that they should be in 25 

there, and the - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the next question you have not put to the witness 

about should they be there.  We cannot rely on your statement about 

that.  If you want to ask a question go ahead. 30 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you.  Mr Norton, should they be shown on that ODP 

given that they have been required by the Council already? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 35 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you. Down the bottom there underneath that on the 

same page 1 there is a light blue area there which relates to a storm 

water provision that has just come into the ODP in the last few days, do 

you accept that? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Would you accept that that light blue storm water provision 

shown there has not been in the existing Living G zone ODP? 45 
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MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   So you accept that is a completely new thing that has just 

come in now, in the last few days? 

 5 

MR NORTON:   I do not know when that ODP was developed, I was not 

involved, so I cannot say whether it is the last few days or not. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Do you accept that that area of land is outside of the ODP? 

 10 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Do you accept that the reason that that has come in in very 

recent times is to allow for the lack of storm water provision that the 

Council and the developer have allowed for in previous consents? 15 

 

MR NORTON:   I believe this is an alternate storm water layout that was 

presented by the developer. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Was it in relation to the lack of storm water provision allowed 20 

for by the Council and the developer initially? 

 

MR NORTON:   I cannot confirm that. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Okay. Can you confirm that you have done engineering 25 

calculations on that provision for storm water there? 

 

MR NORTON:   Myself personally, no. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Do you know what height that land is in relation to the land it 30 

is supposed to drain storm water from? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am aware that the natural land does sit slightly higher than 

part of the development area it is mean to service, but it is not 

uncommon to run drains against the natural grade of land, particularly 35 

where the grade is very shallow. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Has there been any engineering calculation done to see if it is 

feasible in this particular case? 

 40 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   By yourself? 

 

MR NORTON:   No, by the developer’s engineering consultant. 45 
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MR STOAKS:   Have you seen those calculations? 

 

MR NORTON:   I have seen preliminary calculations, yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Have you seen that those calculations actually work? 5 

 

MR NORTON:   Work, how do you mean? 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 10 

MR STOAKS:   I will put it to you that we have had communications before 

regarding this matter and you have said that no calculations have been 

done for it, but you are generally satisfied that it could possibly work 

given the “devil in the detail” was your wording, would you accept 

that? 15 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   So when the devil in the detail comes along at a later stage and 

the devil in detail perhaps shows that it does not work, does that mean 20 

that some of the land within that ODP will not be able to be subdivided 

because of the devil in the detail showing it does not work, do you 

accept that? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, if the storm water area shown is not built then the land it 25 

is meant to service cannot be developed. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Just to clarify that, so if the devil in the detail shows that storm 

water provision cannot be provided on that land, then the land that it 

was purported to drain to, it will not be able to be subdivided? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   Well, unless there is an alternate scheme proposed. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Yes, and if there is no alternative scheme available then the 

answer is it will not be able to be subdivided? 35 

 

MR NORTON:   I suppose so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Norton, again, has a confined expertise, Mr Stoaks, he 

is doing his best, I think in that sense, to answer the question, but you 40 

need to understand your question is calling for a whole lot of 

assumptions to be made around appropriateness. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We have not gone to your five minutes, how much more 

do you need? 

 

MR STOAKS:   I do not need much longer, your Honour, I am not going to go 

through the point. Do you accept in the original consent conditions that 5 

all of the storm water was required to drain within the ODP and be 

captured on the land? 

 

MR NORTON:   I do not recall the specific original consent conditions.  

 10 

MR STOAKS:   Could you look at page 2 of the next sheet on the letter I sent 

to the Council? There is a condition 9.5 about midway. I put it to you 

that that is a condition that was in the original consent that required the 

developer, the consent holder, to not market and sell certain amounts of 

land until the final design analysis showed that that land was not 15 

required for storm water provision. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, that is what that condition appears to say. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Okay, so this recent change to the ODP has effectively wiped 20 

that condition out in saying that provision can go on other land? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, Mr Stoaks, again, you need to understand this 

witness is a storm water engineer, the question you are asking there is 

about the legal interpretation of existing consents and proposed plan 25 

provisions. You can make your representations on that, Mr Laing might 

want to make his, but it is not really a question, I do not think, that this 

witness can help you with much. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you. Just a final question then, Mr Norton. Has there 30 

been any consultation with the owner of the land that sits underneath 

that proposed storm water provision? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am not aware of any. 

 35 

MR STOAKS:   So he has not been notified, in your knowledge, that you are 

even proposing to put a storm water provision in there? 

 

MR NORTON:   I am not proposing to put a storm water provision anywhere. 

 40 

MR STOAKS:   Do you accept that it is proposed to go into the City Plan, the 

District Plan, that that is where storm water is proposed to go to? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR STOAKS:   Yet no consultation, to your knowledge, has been undertaken 

to even discuss that with the owner of that land? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   He has answered that question, Mr Stoaks. 

 5 

MR STOAKS:   Okay. Thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks, Mr Stoaks. We will now take the 

morning recess. I think we can only allow ourselves 30 minutes, we are 

running way behind time, I want to catch some up. So we will be back 10 

in at 1.40 pm. Thank you. 

 

 I beg your pardon, Mr Norton, I am sorry, you are still under cross-

examination during the break. 

 15 

ADJOURNED [1.14 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.45 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Apologise to parties for being a little bit late. 20 

So we have now got Mr Norton still, Panel questions, so Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 25 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just on question, Mr Norton. We had an exchange before lunch 

about South Halswell and the flood issue, I guess the question I want to 

put to you is the modelling that you used for that work, has that been 

calibrated using that June 2013 event? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   I do not believe the Halswell model has been calibrated yet 

using that event. Two things, I believe – so at the moment the Halswell 

model used to be operated by Environment Canterbury and so we have 

only recently taken that and added it to the Council’s collection of 35 

storm water models, so the exercise is being undertaken at the moment 

of combining all of the river models into one city-wide model will 

involve a city-wide calibration exercise.  

 

 The other thing I would like to point out is that as part of subdivision 40 

development we require that the developer build a storm water model 

with more detail for the specific facility that will accompany the 

development. So there will be further modelling done as part of the 

subdivisions that come through in that area. 

 45 

MR WILLIS:   I see, okay. Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question from me too, Mr Norton. In one of the 

evidence we have received, I think it might be Mr Wenborne’s 5 

evidence, there was a resource consent for, I think it is for the south-

west area storm water management. Am I correct in understanding that 

the provisions provided for in the ODP for South Halswell are 

consistent with a resource consent that has been obtained for the storm 

water discharge from that area? 10 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, so there is a consent that the City Council holds for 

discharge of storm water within the south-west area, and it includes the 

South Halswell ODP as part of that plan. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   The storm water facilities and the scale of them, albeit at a 

conceptual level on the South Halswell ODP, are consistent with what 

has been consented for that area? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. That is all from me, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Norton, I have just got one sort of area of slight 

anxiety I suppose, just in terms of the answers you gave to Mr Stoaks 25 

in regard to Yaldhurst on storm water. 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   My slight anxiety is that your answer suggested that you 30 

were not entirely au fait or over the detail of what is proposed in that 

ODP, am I fair to understand that? 

 

MR NORTON:   That is of particular interest because part of the development 

is underway at the moment and there has been a series of changes to the 35 

subdivision consent for Noble Village - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are answering my question, are you? 

 

MR NORTON:   So, you asked me if I am up to speed with the changes to the 40 

ODP for - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, no, I said that that was my impression from your 

answers and I asked you whether or not you agreed that that was a fair 

assessment in terms of those answers.  45 
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MR NORTON:   Sorry, maybe you could just repeat - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I will put it another way, you are the Council 

Officer that has particular responsibility for storm water management 

and we have got an updated ODP in front of us which Mr Stoaks 5 

questioned you on, I do not particularly want to go back over that 

questioning at all, but I guess make an observation that I am not so sure 

from your answers whether we can be satisfied that what is depicted by 

way of storm water management for that ODP is appropriate or not. 

 10 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MR NORTON:   So the only difference between the previous Yaldhurst area 

ODP and this one, in terms of storm water, really is the addition of the 

extra facility. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and your familiarity with that seems rather limited. 

 

MR NORTON:   At this point it has come out of a conceptual level discussion 

with the developer’s consultants.  So they have said we want to add a 20 

new facility to deal with a portion of the ODP development area, and so 

it has not been flushed out in detail but we expect that it will obviously 

need to be as part of subdivision of those areas that it serves.   

 

 So it is sort of a moving feast in that we agree it could be used as a 25 

conceptual location for a storm water facility but that the details of its 

size and levels and how it will function needs to be included as part of 

a detailed subdivision consent. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When you said “we” in that answer, do you mean you?  30 

You consider that or the Council considers that, how much personal 

familiarity do you have with it? 

 

MR NORTON:  I have some familiarity. This project in terms of the 

subdivision pre-dates me to some extent, being a Council officer, so 35 

this started years ago.  I did not give evidence on the prior plan change 

and I sort of came in halfway through the subdivision process. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  I am not sure if I can take that any further with you 

at the moment but Mr Laing, I have still got an element of just a simple 40 

anxiety coming from effectively not knowing for sure whether the 

Council’s expert on storm water is fully au fait or clear about the 

soundness of the ODP on this or not. 

 

MR LAING:   The only way I can really address that would be to seek leave to 45 

call further evidence. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I know. 

 

MR LAING:   And to be fair Mr Norton has been away and some of these 

issues have only just arisen - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is right, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - some of them are ongoing but this latest thing from 

Mr Stoaks has arisen - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and I certainly think you came to grips with it very briefly 

last week. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well do you want to give it some thought in terms of 

process.  If there was a need for further reflection and a little bit more 

evidence on this confined topic, it might be able to be managed 

sensibly anyway, in terms of a timetable, bearing in mind we are 20 

already looking at a timetable of subsequent written. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, well can I come back to the Panel on this point.  I will need 

to talk to Mr Norton - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and perhaps other Council officers as well, but I think we 

can (INDISTINCT 3.35) certainly want to assist the Panel on with 

this. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And I have not had a chance to fully confer with 

other Panel members, it was just on the question. 

 

MR LAING:   I think Mr Norton is being very cautious about what he says but 35 

I think if there are some gaps then they should be filled and we will 

deal with it that way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well if you could give that some thought, confer 

with Mr Norton on it.  Anyway, so I do not have any further questions, 40 

thanks Mr Laing, and I will just go through the normal process of 

testing.  Mr Stoaks, any questions arising? 

 

MR STOAKS:   No, I do not need to bother you any further with that, sir, 

thank you very much. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, sorry, I am doing this slightly out of 

order.  Mr Woodford, did you have any questions arising from the 

Panel’s questions? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Only your honour, that - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well if you could stand I think and - - - 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, sorry, got you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You might have to come to a mic and just wait for the 

microphone. Bearing in mind this is just questions arising from what 

the Panel has asked. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Your honour, I will take your advice on this one but I felt 15 

that you asked a very cogent question in relation to the Yaldhurst one. 

And which it did not quite clarify is I would like to ask Mr Norton 

whether he felt himself au fait with the details of South Halswell- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No that did not come out of my questioning. 20 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Right, thank you then. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Laing, do you have any objection to that 

question being put? 25 

 

MR LAING:   No, no, sir. 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well you can put the question anyway.  If you 

give the microphone back please.  Just put the question anyway. 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WOODFORD [1.55 pm] 

 35 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, thank you very much.  Mr Norton, given that you 

could not answer whether you thought for example there were 

alternative exits apart from green stream from the area, my question is 

do you have personal knowledge of the hydrology and the flooding and 

do you consider yourself to use your words “up to speed” in relation to 40 

South Halswell? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pickering, did you have any questions? 45 
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MR PICKERING:   No, thank you, your honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Pickering.  So I think on that basis 

what we will do, Mr Laing, is if, if you just, as I say it is just an 

immediate impression that I had, I have not had a chance to confer with 5 

other Panel members about it very much but if you want to make an 

application for any supplementary evidence from Mr Norton just let us 

know, obviously confer with Mr Stoaks, if there is a need to do that, 

and we’ll see what we can do by way of considering such an 

application if need be. 10 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, your honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right well thanks very much, Mr Norton, 

again for your help, you have been in front of us a number of times, 15 

thank you.  On this occasion as well you are free to go.  All right, so 

Mr Kingsbury. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.56 pm] 

20 
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<PETER ALLAN KINGSBURY, sworn [1.56 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [1.57 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Is your full name Peter Allan Kingsbury? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Correct. 5 

 

MR LAING:  You prepared a rebuttal statement of evidence and your 

experience and qualifications are as set out in your evidence-in-chief of 

13 February, I think that is 2015 - - -  

 10 

MR KINGSBURY:   Correct. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - for the Natural Hazards proposal.  Do you wish to make any 

changes to your evidence? 

 15 

MR KINGSBURY:   No changes.   

 

MR LAING:   So you confirm it is true and correct? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Yes. 20 

 

MR LAING:   And would you now read your summary please. 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Thank you.  My rebuttal evidence is provided in response 

to evidence-in-chief filed on 16 December 2015 by Dr Peter Harmand 25 

and Mr Keith Woodford, both being on behalf of Keith and Annette 

Woodford. 

 

 By way of background I presented evidence-in-chief and 

supplementary evidence to the Hearings Panel in February and March 30 

2015.  In January 2015 I was one of four expert witnesses that took part 

in caucusing on liquefaction hazard issues and in particular in the 

preparation of guidance on the type and scope of investigations 

required to adequately assess potential liquefaction hazard risk. 

 35 

 My 2015 evidence concentrated mainly on support for the Christchurch 

City Council’s proposed approach to managing liquefaction through the 

identification of two liquefaction assessment areas for Christchurch.  

The essence of the planning approach proposed was to ensure that 

adequate investigations were undertaken to specifically determine the 40 

risks from liquefaction.   

 

 My rebuttal evidence presented today is consistent with my February 

and March 2015 submissions to the Hearing Panel in the sense that 

appropriately staged geotechnical, geological and geomorphological 45 

investigations will ensure that risk from liquefaction to urban 
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development will be identified and quantified and either avoided or 

mitigated. 

 

 Also by way of background and in response to Mr Woodford’s cross-

examination notice of intent letter of 5 January 2016 I have a BSc in 5 

geology and geography and an MSc Honours in engineering geology.  I 

have 25 years local government and central government experience in 

investigating natural hazards, assessing risk and developing mitigation 

strategies including providing technical input on hazard and natural 

resource issues for regulatory matters and other local and regional 10 

council functions as well as engineering lifeline studies. 

 

 The majority of my natural hazards work experience has been 

earthquake hazards and principally earthquake induced liquefaction, 

slope instability, and active faulting.  I am currently an active member 15 

of Risk New Zealand and was elected to the management committee in 

2006 serving the maximum allowable six years. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 20 

 I consider that I am appropriately qualified and experienced to make 

the comments I have made in my rebuttal evidence to Mr Woodford’s 

evidence.  In spite of there being several statements in Mr Woodford’s 

evidence that I do not agree with including his conclusion that 

liquefaction and flooding posed undue and I quote, “undue risk to all 25 

parties”, collectively the evidence of both Mr Almond and Mr 

Woodford gives a generally fair and accurate assessment of the 

potential liquefaction hazard for the south Halswell area.  I will explain 

the matters of disagreement more fully shortly. 

 30 

 Overall, from the evidence of both Mr Peter Almond and 

Mr Keith Woodford, my knowledge of the geology of the greater 

Christchurch area and my understanding of the ground damage 

liquefaction effects of the 2010/2011 Canterbury earthquakes, I agree 

that there are significant potential constraints to urban development in 35 

the south Halswell area.   

 

 The two aspects of Mr Woodford’s evidence that I do not agree with 

are firstly his contention that there are unusual and unique features of 

south Halswell which and I quote, “make it highly susceptible to a 40 

pulse of energy transferred through the aquifer from seismic events”.  

While there are significant variations in the nature and extent of 

alluvial sediments and groundwater levels and localised behaviour to 

ground shaking from earthquakes in the greater Christchurch area as 

manifested during the Canterbury earthquakes, the evidence available 45 

at this time would suggest that the south Halswell area is not at a 



 Page 93 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

significantly greater risk than other highly susceptible areas in eastern 

Christchurch that we either currently still occupy or that we are likely 

to occupy at some time again in the future.   

 

 I note that Mr Almond’s evidence, while recognising the potential for 5 

liquefaction to occur, does not attempt to validate Mr Woodford’s 

supposition on the exacerbating aquifer effects.  I also note submitter, 

Mr Matthew Wenborn, of Davie, Lovell-Smith Limited or his rebuttal 

evidence in response to Mr Keith Woodford’s evidence clearly state 

and I quote, “the issues are not such that the area is unsuitable for 10 

residential development.  The extent and nature of future potential 

urban development is the question that needs to be answered through 

appropriate investigations”.  

 

 The second matter that I do not agree with in Mr Woodford’s evidence 15 

is how he reaches his point blank conclusion based on his observations 

and his understanding of liquefaction hazard and I quote, “Urban 

development of South Halswell is inappropriate” and I quote, “These 

natural hazards pose undue risks”.  As stated earlier, Mr Woodford has 

presented a generally fair and accurate account of the manifestation of 20 

liquefaction in the South Halswell area during the Canterbury 

earthquakes.  However, as for other parts of Christchurch the geology, 

groundwater conditions, aquifer features in relationship to groundwater 

conditions and earthquake sources relevant to South Halswell form a 

complex and generally poorly understood combination of controlling 25 

factors.  I am not aware of any investigations that have been carried out 

specifically in South Halswell that can conclusively validate 

Mr Woodford’s finding that urban development in South Halswell is 

inappropriate. 

 30 

 There are now well established and well accepted hazard and risk 

assessment and investigation techniques available to determine the 

suitability and appropriateness of development in areas of 

liquefaction-prone soils.  The uncertainty of the appropriateness of 

South Halswell for urban development means that these investigations 35 

as I have previously mentioned are required.  

 

 While taking into account potential physical mitigation options, it is my 

opinion that a carefully staged investigation approach will determine 

objectively the extent and nature of any future urban development in 40 

the South Halswell area.  In his evidence in support of Mr Woodford, 

Dr Almond fittingly states and I quote, “Any development in the area 

would need to be preceded by detailed geotechnical investigations 

followed by appropriate mitigation”. 

 45 

  [2.05 pm] 
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 Finally, in my view, the Hearings Panel stage one natural hazards 

decision at section 5.6.1 adequately addresses technical information 

requirements for resource consent applications in the liquefaction 

management area within which the subject land is located.  Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Woodford, thanks. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry. 

 10 

MR WOODFORD:   Could we do a swap, perhaps? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WOODFORD [2.06 pm] 15 

 

MR WOODFORD:  Thank you, Your Honour, Mr Kingsbury, it seems that we 

are in agreement on major issues but there are some areas of 

disagreement that I would like to focus on.  To help clarify that, could 

we please have the pictures up there? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So this is the liquefaction map?  Yes, if you explain what it 

is each time it will save me having to do it. 

 

MR WOODFORD:  Yes, yes, this is figure 17 in my evidence.  What you will 25 

see there and I see you've got that in front of you which is helpful, you 

will see I have starred the area of South Halswell and in terms of trying 

to clarify what is unusual and not unusual, my understanding is that 

you are suggesting that the higher liquefaction in that area relative to 

some other areas is due to closer proximity to the Darfield earthquake.  30 

Would that be correct, Mr Kingsbury? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   That is possible but I would need to consider other 

ground soil features as well but the logical comparison would be to 

compare that with a greater map or a map showing a larger area of 35 

Christchurch than what this map shows.   

 

MR WOODFORD:  I agree that we have here the Halswell catchment but I 

believe you said that paragraph 3.4 that the significant flooding here is 

more likely to be attributed to higher levels of ground shaking closer to 40 

the earthquake source, so you would now concede or acknowledge that 

there are other factors likely to be operating there as well? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Absolutely. 

 45 
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MR WOODFORD:   Thank you, and also perhaps that will give an explanation 

why all the areas to the northwest which would have been closer to the 

epicentre but they do not have liquefaction in them? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   It is not just the distance from the earthquake source, it is 5 

also the soils and the, as you are aware, the groundwater conditions as 

well. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   So would you agree that in this context we may well have 

some situations that we might debate over the word what is usual and 10 

unusual but some characteristics that are quite different than all the 

other area around the Halswell basin there. 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   You are going to have to rephrase that I am afraid. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just not a question.  Could you put it in a way which 

actually poses a question for the witness that brings some clarity to 

what you are trying to say; that does not say anything. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you, I - - - 20 

  

JUDGE HASSAN:  What is it that you want to ask about regarding this 

particular part of the district? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   I simply will, therefore, seek clarification or confirmation 25 

that you agree that there are different soil and water conditions here in 

South Halswell to the other areas shown on that map? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Not necessarily and you have got to be very careful when 

you are comparing what you have got here which is a snapshot of part 30 

of the Canterbury Plains without the context of the wider effects of that 

earthquake, that particular earthquake in the south Halswell area. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Could you elaborate as to what is missing, what would be 

provided?   35 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   What we see here is, as I said, one particular area of the 

Canterbury Plains and if you were to compare this area with, for 

example, the eastern part of Christchurch and when I say “eastern part” 

I mean generally east of Cathedral Square, it is likely that you would 40 

see similar mapping results or as you see on this map here, which 

incidentally does not have a legend, you would see a similar pattern of 

liquefaction for some of those areas.   

 

  [2.10 pm] 45 
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 It is important to note that given the action of the rivers over the 

Canterbury Plains over many, many thousands plus years, there is a 

significant variation both laterally, horizontally and with depth, and in 

some areas depending on the groundwater table, you will get quite 

different expressions or manifestations of liquefaction within relatively 5 

close locations because of that huge variation.  And that is something 

that many others would have observed as a course of the whole 

earthquake sequence, not necessarily just the 2010 earthquake.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   I would like to turn now to figure 18 from my evidence.  10 

This one is showing for the Christchurch earthquake of 4 February 

2011, the previous one was for Darfield. I would ask you, 

Mr Kingsbury, here we seem to have, for example, quite a lot of 

liquefaction in South Halswell, but to the north-east of that, closer 

towards that epicentre, once again the Henderson Basin, that part of the 15 

Henderson Basin and the other parts of Halswell were not affected.   

 

 So once again, you would agree, I question you – or would you agree – 

that there are specific soil and water conditions and perhaps other 

issues which have given this characteristic effect in South Halswell? 20 

 

MR KINGSBURY:  Yes, there are, like anywhere within the greater 

Christchurch area.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   I would like to now turn to figure 13 from my evidence, 25 

and if we can bring this one up a little bit that would be helpful also.  

This is a Google Earth photo and this is taken approximately seven 

hours after the earthquake, and it is showing the extensive liquefaction 

throughout all of South Halswell.   

 30 

 My first question to you, Mr Kingsbury, have you studied the Google 

Earth maps of that day of the earthquake to see whether there are 

equivalent areas of flooding elsewhere within the Halswell or the 

Heathcote catchments? 

 35 

MR KINGSBURY:   No, I have not studied specifically the Google Maps. 

 

MR WOODFORD:  Have you studied any other maps taken that come 

immediately in the hours after the September 2010 earthquake? 

 40 

MR KINGSBURY:   I have looked at various air photo runs that were done a 

short time after the various earthquakes.  I have seen the odd Google 

Map, but I am not in a position to make a comparison necessarily 

between those that I have seen of other locations around Christchurch 

with this particular image that you have got here. 45 
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MR WOODFORD:   Thank you.  Would you say that prima facie we have 

some evidence there of extensive liquefaction right across South 

Halswell? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:  From my knowledge and understanding of the widespread 5 

effects of liquefaction in Christchurch, I would say that this represents 

– if that is quite the right word – or is similar to liquefaction that has 

been observed or was observed in other places around Christchurch.  

And just on that, it is important to note that this is a rural area shown on 

this particular image, and the manifestation of liquefaction in the rural 10 

areas is somewhat more obvious than what you would get in an urban 

area because of the location or the existence of roads and structures and 

things like that which often tend to mask the true spatial extent of 

liquefaction.   

 15 

MR WOODFORD:   So if I were to say to you – are you surprised when I now 

say to you that I have studied the Google Maps of all of the Heathcote 

and Halswell areas, and - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this in your evidence? 20 

 

MR WOODFORD:   And there are no equivalent areas - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, is this in your evidence? 

 25 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, it is.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you take the witness to your evidence where you 

refer to that please.  Bearing in mind he does not have to agree with 

you. 30 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR WOODFORD:   No. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does he? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes.  I will have to just find that particular point.  I state 

on page 15 - - -  

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where do you refer to your studying of these maps? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes.  On page 15 of my evidence I stated there that the 

Google Earth photos of Christchurch taken that morning are publically 

accessible online and they demonstrate that the sudden flood conditions 45 

at South Halswell and immediately adjacent to the south-west – ie 
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immediately on the other side of Kennedys Bush spur and beyond, 

were a unique outcome not experienced elsewhere in Christchurch on 

that day.   

 

 Now Kaiapoi to the north is another situation, but in relation to the 5 

Heathcote and the Avon and the Halswell, are you surprised by that 

statement, Mr Kingsbury? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What do you mean, “are you surprised by that statement”?  

Are you asking whether he agrees with your statement or disagrees 10 

with your statement?  Whether or not he is surprised by your statement 

doesn’t help us. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay.  Do you agree with that statement? 

 15 

MR KINGSBURY:   I don’t agree that what is shown on that particular image 

is a, and I quote “unique outcome not experienced elsewhere in 

Christchurch on that day”.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   Do you have any evidence of that elsewhere? 20 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   My evidence of that would be my personal experience 

and drive by/drive around fieldwork on that particular day.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   Mr Kingsbury, clearly you are an expert in engineering 25 

geology.  Do you include aquifer hydrology within your area of 

expertise? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well he has given his CV to the Panel. 

 30 

MR WOODFORD:   It is not clear from that, your Honour? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So you are asking whether he wants to add to 

his CV this question of expertise you are now raising.  What do you 

mean? 35 

 

MR WOODFORD:   I have questions related to aquifer hydrology - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 40 

MR WOODFORD:   - - - and the witness has stated that he does not agree with 

me in relation to the pulses through the aquifer.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 45 
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MR WOODFORD:   So I am just trying to clarify the breadth of his expertise, 

given that we have engineering, we have geomorphologies, and we 

have aquifer hydrology which all contribute to the liquefaction story.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   5 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Could you just clarify that please? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   I am not a hydrologist. 

 10 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you.  Would you be aware that the hydrologists 

have some different views than the engineers in relation to some of 

these issues? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.   15 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Specifically - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  Which hydrology experts before the Panel are you 

referring to in that question?  Otherwise I am not going to let you put it.   20 

 

MR WOODFORD:   In my evidence I refer to Dr Simon Cox, the principal 

scientist at GNS in Dunedin. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so - - -  25 

 

MR WOODFORD:   And to his evidence which relates to groundwater 

changes – this is published evidence – I have the journals here - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WOODFORD:   - - - which are referred to and cited in my evidence, 

which refer to the importance of changing groundwater and artesian 

pressures which effect the extent of liquefaction.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now put your question.  Thank you. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes.  Are you aware of Dr Cox’s research? 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   I am aware of his research in relation to the paragraphs 40 

which you included in your evidence.   

 

MR WOODFORD:   Do you agree that, therefore, either it would seem that 

you agree – you have stated that you do not think energy pulses 

through the aquifer are important, so would that imply that you 45 

disagree with what Dr Cox has written in various publications? 
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MR KINGSBURY:   The reason why I disagree in the way that I do, it is about 

the uncertainty of the relationship between the aquifers and 

groundwater conditions, and as you will note in Dr Cox’s publication, 

or in his report, it is talked about in terms of this being postulated.  It is 5 

a theory and there may be some validity in that relationship between 

pulses and the aquifer and such, but the evidence suggests across 

Christchurch that there were similar amounts, or the degree of 

liquefaction was similar across Christchurch, in parts of Christchurch 

as it was in South Halswell. 10 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Does that extend to the flooding being equivalent 

elsewhere too in South Halswell? 15 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   If you are talking about flooding in relation to ground 

shaking and liquefaction there was instantaneous flooding across large 

parts of Christchurch as there obviously was in South Halswell and I do 

not see that there is any particular difference in that instantaneous 20 

flooding which was simply an outcome of the ground being shaken to 

the levels that it was. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   You talked in your presentation today, you acknowledged 

that a lot of things were poorly understood.  You said that there were 25 

lots of uncertainty and then you also said that certain things were not 

proven.  In a risk management context do we deal only with proven 

situations or do we have to take due cognisance of major uncertainties 

and lack of total understanding of very complex situations? 

 30 

MR KINGSBURY:   The approach that we take is a classic risk management 

approach where we look at the susceptible, in this case we go through a 

staged approach of looking at what the contributing factors are and then 

on the basis of that determining the uncertainties and placing a degree 

of confidence on those uncertainties. 35 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Could we now see the next photo which is the last one I 

will be showing which was figure 19 from my evidence.  This one if 

we can bring it up a little bit further would be helpful, that is fine.  This 

was taken on 8 January 2015 and it is simply to show the effects which 40 

the underlying effects in the geomorphology.  Given what you see there 

and the interpretations which you have put on all those brown strips 

flowing through there, would you concede that this is likely to be an 

area with very extensive liquefaction issues? 

 45 
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MR KINGSBURY:   The brown lines or strips as you described on the map are 

related to the channels of the Waimakariri River and its various 

tributaries moving over or flowing over that ground in times past.  

They are no different from the type of geomorphic evidence that you 

would see across any other parts of Christchurch which in many cases 5 

have been obliterated because of - well masked because of urban 

development. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you, but you do agree that we are looking here at 

the effects of the Waimakariri which last travelled through there about 10 

600 years ago would you agree with that statement? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think he never made that statement has he, has he 

not just said that Mr Woodford. 

 15 

MR WOODFORD:   Okay, then there is an issue about how recent that is but 

this is not back millennia, this is quite recent. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Mr Kingsbury, do you agree with the 500 to 

600 year timeframe stated in the evidence? 20 

 

MR KINGSBURY:   Yes, the Waimakariri River used to flow out on that side 

of Banks Peninsula so those features that you would see there would be 

related to the Waimakariri River or some of its tributaries.  Bearing 

also in mind that the Waimakariri River has flown or has flowed from 25 

that side of Banks Peninsula all the way around to its current location 

so those sorts of features and those sorts of deposits are what you 

would see across large parts of Christchurch. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you, your Honour.  I will take up some of those 30 

issues again tomorrow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, Mr Neill any questions? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:    No questions, thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions from me, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I found your evidence clear as well, I do not have any 45 

questions now, any questions arising Mr Laing? 
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MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I should say re-examination.  All right, you are 

free to go Mr Kingsbury. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.25 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Mr Milne? 

10 
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<ANDREW MILNE, affirmed [2.25 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [2.25 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Andrew Parkerson Milne? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, that is correct.  5 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief and also a 

rebuttal statement, is that correct? 

 

MR MILNE:   That is correct, yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   Your position and your qualifications are as stated in your 

evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any changes to your evidence? 

 

MR MILNE:   I would like to draw attention to an inconsistency in my 

evidence that I think is helpful to the Panel to highlight. 20 

 

MR LAING:   You proceed. 

 

MR MILNE:   On page 16 of my evidence-in-chief I talk about the Yaldhurst 

Outline Development Plan.  Now that paragraph on page 16 on the 25 

second line refers to a planned signalled intersection with Yaldhurst 

Road.  I just want to point out that is not in fact, that is the case the 

signals are planned for that intersection whereas the narrative 

associated with the outline development plan for Yaldhurst in Ms 

Oliver’s evidence refers to the roundabout but it should be a signalled 30 

intersection. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will get Ms Oliver to correct that. 

 

MR LAING:   Subject to that qualification is your evidence true and correct? 35 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, now would you please go over your summary? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   In my evidence I have considered the (INDISTINCT 2.51) 

issues arising from the individual site specific submissions that seek to 

be zoned typically from Rural to Residential New Neighbourhood.  I 

also respond to specific submissions in regard to Council’s notified 

RNN proposals.  In assessing the site specific zoning submissions I 45 

have considered the effects of each request in terms of the likely 
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impacts on the road network, particularly in relation to the strategic 

road network. 

 

 I have taken into account in assessing the site specific zoning 

submissions I have considered the effects of each request in terms of 5 

the likely impacts on the road network, particularly in relation to the 

strategic road network.  I have also taken into account the extent to 

which opportunity exists to access submission sites by modes other 

than the private car. 

 10 

 The growth of the city outwards poses challenges for transport 

providers in that such growth areas must be capable of offering a 

genuine choice of travel options.  In my evidence I explain why request 

of zoning on the periphery of the city makes it harder to provide 

genuine travel choices and hence does not achieve the higher level 15 

transport goal of improved integration between land use and transport. 

 

 In my evidence I refer to analysis that shows how congestion is 

predicted as a consequence of planned growth and that a shift in 

investment away from providing additional road capacity towards 20 

walking, cycling and public transport use is the policy response 

demanding transport demands of urban growth in Canterbury.  In my 

evidence I therefore conclude that zoning of sites for residential 

intensification on the periphery of the urban limits and that are remote 

from planned public transport services would not contribute towards 25 

the transport goal of balancing car trips in favour of public transport 

trips. 

 

 In specific regard to the North Halswell RNN proposal I describe how 

the need for a third access onto Halswell Road should not be 30 

diminished.  In recorded mediation statements and evidence presented 

to the Panel I maintain that the further access as shown on the revised 

ODP as a flexible road access should be maintained, thus enabling the 

full and final location of the access to be determined at a time when it 

is actually needed. 35 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that complete your summary? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   That completes my summary, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Sorry, so there are no cross-examination requests.  

Mr Neill, any questions? 

 45 
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MR NEILL:   Just a couple of questions, particularly with regard to the 

Yaldhurst ODP.  What provision has been made or should be made 

with regard to cycling facilities from the city, I call it the Yaldhurst 

corner, to that subdivision, because it is on a main arterial? 

 5 

MR MILNE:   I cannot answer the wider cycle network I am afraid. 

 

MR NEILL:   In your transport alternatives that is not part of your 

requirement? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   It is not something I have touched upon in specific regard to this 

location. 

 

MR NEILL:   With regard to that subdivision, what provision is there for bus 

services to and from and through the subdivision? 15 

 

MR MILNE:   Well the ODP does show a north-south collector road between 

Yaldhurst Road and Buchanans Road so that would form the main bus 

spine route through that site. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Are there issues in respect of the width of the road as it relates 

through that subdivision relating to bus transportation? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, there was some debate about a year ago where a spine road 

of 11.5 metres was accepted by Council engineers but that was 25 

challenged.  And indeed that the minimum requirement for an urban 

collector road should be 12 metres.  So as a response to that issue, 

Council engineers recommended that parking be taken off of one side 

of that collector road, thus providing enough space for cyclists, buses 

and general traffic. 30 

 

MR NEILL:   In looking at the ODP and giving consideration to that 

subdivision and the west coast extensive subdivision to the west of that 

subdivision, what provision if any is being made for park and ride from 

that area, having regard to the transmission line facility that goes 35 

through in the area that could be available for Park and Ride? 

 

MR MILNE:   Park and ride, as far as I am aware, has not been considered 

suitable for that location.   

 40 

MR NEILL:   Has not been considered full stop, or not considered for that 

location? 

 

MR MILNE:   As far as I am aware it has not been considered. 

 45 
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MR NEILL:   Have you given it any personal consideration as you have looked 

at it? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, I have not but I would not consider that a terribly good 

location for park and ride. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   Well from the point of view of people coming from the west to 

the city, where is the appropriate location for park and ride then? 

 

MR MILNE:   Well there may not be an appropriate location for park and ride 10 

for people from the west.  It depends on the demand, the scale of travel 

demand. 

 

MR NEILL:   Is it part of your responsibility, because I realise you share these 

responsibilities with Environment Canterbury over transportation on 15 

buses, is it part of your responsibility to encourage people to you use 

other faciliti3es other than the private motor car? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes it is, yes. 

 20 

MR NEILL:  So what alternatives are you proposing with regard to that 

subdivision and the subdivision further into the city called Riccarton 

Racecourse to prevent the congestion that will flow from the additional 

housing that is from that area? 

 25 

MR MILNE:   Well both those sites are quite challenging, they are out to the 

west.  Other than create the opportunity for bus services to access those 

sites and also to show pedestrian and cycle links connecting those sites 

to existing urban areas, that is the main extent to provide for those 

alternative modes of travel. 30 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   But since the earthquakes the bus numbers have declined, not 

increased.  So to that end what is being done to get cars off the road 35 

and to get people into other forms of transportation? 

 

MR MILNE:   I think ECan have provided a new hubs and spokes strategy as a 

way of improving bus services to the city.  That is really an 

Environment Canterbury responsibility.   40 

 

MR NEILL:   In part of your answer you talked about having cycle ways and 

yet there is no provision for cycle ways to the Yaldhurst subdivision. 

 

MR MILNE:   We do show links I believe.  May I just look at the ODP? 45 
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MR NEILL:   Sure. 

 

MR MILNE:   What we have shown on the outline development plan, there is a 

key that says pedestrian cycle link route location.  And on that we have 

shown a few cycle links through that site. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   That is through the subdivision. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   But you are on highway - - - 

 

MR MILNE:   76. 

 

MR NEILL:   - - - 3 to the north. 15 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes.  It is a tough site to cycle to.  It is on the periphery of the 

city. 

 

MR NEILL:   And my final question therefore is in your capacity and in 20 

response to transport, should it not be something that you are pushing 

for as part of the ODP? 

 

MR MILNE:   Well the Outline Development Plan really stops at its 

boundaries.  What we are interested in is making sure there is provision 25 

within the site to accommodate those modes and that there is suitable 

connections within the site to the existing infrastructure. 

 

MR NEILL:  Okay, thank you, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No question, Mr Milne. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions for me, thank you, Mr Milne. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just following up, Mr Milne, if we look at the Yaldhurst 

ODP under access and transport, that narrative is relevant to the 40 

answers you gave as well? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, yes it is.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks very much.  Any questions arising?  

Thank you.  Thanks very much, Mr Milne, again, and that is all we 

need from you at this occasion, you are free to go. 

 

MR MILNE:   Thank you. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.37 pm] 



 Page 110 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

<SARAH OLIVER, affirmed [2.38 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [2.38 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Sarah Jane Oliver? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I have. 

 10 

MR LAING:   - - - and then a rebuttal statement - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - and then also a supplementary statement - - - 15 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - to deal with a specific matter relating to the South Masham 

ODP? 20 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any corrections to your evidence? 

 25 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I do.  This is in regard to my rebuttal evidence and it is the 

revised proposal in attachment A.  So turning first to page 9 and it is 

the subdivision standards clause 8.2.3.1A sub-clause 2.  Mr Collins has 

highlighted these changes, I will just highlight them again. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just get that in front of me, 8.2.3.1A, yes. 

 

MS OLIVER:   So it is page 9.  So this is to do with clause A first, we have to 

delete the “or F” below in the second sentence.  The other change is to 

clause E of that where it refers to sub-clause E in the reference whereas 35 

it should be D and the same at the end of that sentence, where it refers 

to (e) it should be (d). 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 40 

 Turning to one page over to page 12, this is in regard to the rule on 

minimum lot width.  Through informal mediation it was agreed with 

Mr Jones for the Prestons and Wigram developments that we would 

change the wording so it is sub clause (e).  It reads correct until such 

point as the word “defined” then it should read “Either in the outlying 45 
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development plan or” then continues on, and then to delete the words 

“for the following outline development plan areas”. 

 

MR LAING:  So can I interrupt you now because I have got a copy of that 

change which we could table. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  That is all right.  Thank you, that was exhibit A, I think, 

wasn’t it?  Oh, exhibit B. 

 

EXHIBIT #B – REFERENCING AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO 10 

STANDARD 8.2.3.1A(2) 

 

MS OLIVER:  I have then turned to – best way to locate this is at the top 

right-hand side of the rebuttal which is page 90 and it is to do with the 

Yaldhurst outline development plan and Mr Milne has just highlighted 15 

to you that incorrect reference to a roundabout.  It should be signalised 

intersection. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So where is that reference again? 

 20 

MS OLIVER:  It is page 90, section 3, Excess in Transport.  It reads “A 

primary north-south collector road, this route should provide access of - 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  By a signalised? 25 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, so it should read “signalised intersection” not roundabout.  

Just turning to page 94 so two pages over, this is in regard to the 

Riccarton Park Outline Development Plan and just going to the last 

section, section 5 on Water and Wastewater.  It was agreed through 30 

informal mediation that we deleted the words – so it is the second 

sentence there – “Will be upgraded on” delete the words 

“Yaldhurst Road” and the final correction is to page 104.  It is to do 

with the Awatea Outline Development Plan.  I do have an exhibit to 

include; it is the Tangata Whenua layer diagram and this was included 35 

in our 10 November revised proposal.  We failed to include it in the 

subsequent revised proposal so apology there. 

 

EXHIBIT #C – APPENDIX 3T(vii) TANGATA WHENUA LAYER 

DIAGRAM (AWATEA) 40 

 

MS OLIVER:  I will just note to that exhibit, it is got some appendix 

referencing there but we just would need to change that in the final. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So is that just following page 104? 45 
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MS OLIVER:  Yes, it is just part of the Outline Development Plan illustration.  

Those are my corrections. 

 

MR LAING:  So, thank you, now please confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct? 5 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes. 

 

MR LAING:  And now would you turn to your summary please. 

 10 

MS OLIVER:  Yes.  I have been the chapter lead of stage 2 of the Residential 

chapter 14 and my involvement in the Residential Neighbourhood 

zonings and provisions has principally been focused on the zoning and 

area specific provisions of the Greenfield priority areas currently zoned 

Living G under the Operative City Plan and the zoning of the 15 

remaining Greenfield priority areas, these been not yet zoned for urban 

purposes under the Operative City Plan and in the outlying 

development plans I have worked with Ms Reeves to revise and update 

those.   

 20 

 I was part of the recent October and November expert conferencing and 

mediation processes.  In my evidence-in-chief I have provided some 

background information on the implementation of policy and directions 

relating to the Greenfield priority areas.  

 25 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 Some key information of statements I have made is that there is some 

10,000 households are expected to be provided through Greenfield 

development to meet the 2028 household target of 23,000 households 30 

approximately. The Greenfield priority areas have an estimated 

potential yield of 19,800 sections, however, to date just about half of 

this land’s been rezoned as Living G, that is under the Operative Plan.  

Whilst our infrastructure constraints the development of approximately 

11,000 houses, planned upgrades will ensure there is more than 35 

sufficient land available to meet the targets and the major infrastructure 

programmes due to be completed by 2026.   

 

 My evidence-in-chief supports the rezoning of all the Greenfield 

priority areas in the Regional Policy Statement as this will give effect 40 

to the chapter 6 Regional Policy Statement objectives.  It will achieve 

Action 19 of the Land Use Recovery Plan requiring Council to provide 

for the development of Greenfield priority areas.  The infrastructure 

programmes have all been aligned to facilitate the development of all 

of the Greenfield priority areas and I note is albeit is somewhat staged 45 

across the areas. 
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 Constraining the Greenfield land supply could inadvertently lead to 

high house prices should intensification target numbers not be achieved 

and there is a myriad of reasons given in my evidence and that through 

the Stage One hearing as to the risks to achieving such targets.  And 5 

also that it is unlikely that all of the Greenfield priority areas will be 

offered to the market within the 2028 period.   

 

 My evidence-in-chief also supports the updating and, in my view, 

significant improvement of the outlying development plans to guide the 10 

development of these areas, that the narrative works together with the 

plan to form an IDP where it is clear, we have made attempts to make it 

clearer, what the development requirements are to be consistent with 

the outlying development plan and what other additional elements are 

important factors in these particular areas with regard to subdivision 15 

design and layout. 

 

 And the ODPs work together with Chapter 8 and 14 rules to give effect 

to policies under the Regional Policy Statement; in particular 6.3.2 and 

6.3.3 and in my view, they better achieve the Council’s area plans, that 20 

is the southwest Christchurch and Belfast area plans.  Attention has 

been given to where there are development constraints that are very 

likely, in our view, to impact on the subject leading from yielding the 

required 15 houses per hectare.  Specific rules have been included for 

Prestons, Yaldhurst and Wigram, the Living G zones, which have been 25 

for the most part consented or near consented to ensure that 

development of the land is not frustrated. 

 

 Almost all submission points have, in my view been addressed and 

changes sought incorporated in some manner or to some extent, into the 30 

updated outlying development plans and area specific rules.  I also 

consider a number of the rezoning requests to rezone a Greenfield 

priority areas from Residential New Neighbourhood to Rural.  I do not 

support these submissions as they will not, in my view, give effect to 

the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement nor the Strategic Directions.  35 

I do, however, support a rule to provide for rural use of the land until 

such time as it is developed for residential purposes, and these requests 

relate primarily to the Highfield and South Halswell outlying 

development plan areas.   

 40 

 I also in my evidence provide advice or my views on the rezoning of 

the Urban Rural Fringe zoned land which is outside the Greenfield 

priority area to Residential Neighbourhood.  I do not support these as in 

my view, the replacement plan cannot allow new urban activities other 

than as specified in policy 6.3.1.4 of the Regional Policy Statement, 45 

that is Map A.   
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 Also addressed in my evidence-in-chief in rebuttal there remains a few 

outlying development plan areas where my view differs from that of 

submitters and their planning consultants.  Riccarton Park – Ms Reeves 

has addressed the matter of the treatment of adjacent to the distribution 5 

lines – and I support her view in this manner.   

 

 South Masham Outline Development Plan and the Residential New 

Neighbourhood zoning; Fulton Hogan seek a more explicit recognition 

of quarry extraction potential of the land within this Outline 10 

Development Plan, I do not consider this is necessary as Fulton Hogan, 

as major landowners and holders of a resource consent to quarry part of 

the site, can effectively achieve what they are seeking, or for the most 

part. 

 15 

 In relation to Tegel’s submission together with the Council’s 

submission has raised the matter of reverse sensitivity effects on the 

poultry farm should the South Masham area be developed for 

residential purposes. 

 20 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

 Luneys, being the land owners of the north part of South Masham, 

where Ms Harte’s evidence raised concern on the potential and 

unnecessary restrictions on the land’s development, should a rule or 25 

change of zoning be imposed to manage these effects, change in zoning 

by changing it to Rural. 

 

 It is my view that controlling subdivision and residential building 

within the odour buffer as per the revised proposal – that is based on a 30 

200 metre setback from the poultry farm – as a restricted discretionary 

activity is the most appropriate approach until such time as an odour 

assessment is undertaken, and I understand the matter may be raised of 

a non-complaints covenant as well as a mitigation measure.   

 35 

 In regard to Awatea, the land south of the motorway, there continues to 

be a longstanding constraint on the residential development until the 

kart club is relocated.  I do not support the Awatea Residents’ 

Association request that the land be rezoned for industrial commercial 

purposes at this stage, given that there are two feasible relocation 40 

options and funding has been allocated by the Council to relocate the 

kart club. 

 

 In regard to Hendersons Basin, while I support the merits of option 1 

for the Outlined Development Plan contained in attachment G of my 45 

evidence-in-chief, which I note would meet some of the submitters’ 



 Page 116 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

rezoning requests, it is my position that only option 2 in the Outlined 

Development Plan contained in the revised proposals can be accepted 

as it combines the RNN zoned land within the Greenfield priority area 

boundary.   

 5 

 Just a further note, in my rebuttal, paragraph 3.2, I do discuss the status 

or support Mr Collins’ view on discretionary status for non-compliance 

within the Outline Development Plan.  In my view significant work has 

gone into identifying what we consider to be the most important 

development requirements, and non-compliance with them, in my 10 

view, there should be an opportunity to consider the other District Plan 

and the Regional Policy Statement objectives and policies if someone is 

seeking to vary what has been directed to be achieved through the 

Outline Development Plan. 

 15 

 That concludes my summary. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  Would you now answer any questions please. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Limmer? 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.   

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [2.52 pm] 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Oliver, would it be fair to characterise your opposition to 

the Fulton Hogan submission as being to the policy recognition of 

quarrying in these areas as opposed to words on the ODP?  Or is it just 

the ODP changes that you are opposed to? 

 30 

MS OLIVER:   So it is just the ODP changes, so specifically – yes, so it is just 

the ODP. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you are not opposed to policy recognition for quarrying 

within New Neighbourhood zones? 35 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, I am not.  Although I will note in consideration of what we 

have done with the Outlined Development Plan is it is also having 

regard to this as being identified as a Greenfield growth area, so that is 

one of its primary purposes for this land. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So any policy support for quarrying would be subject to 

the outcomes in the ODP being not compromised? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   That probably gets rid of quite a few questions I had, 

Ms Oliver, but I just wonder if then the Panel decides that the plan 

should look to provide more recognition for quarrying as a potential 

interim use in these New Neighbourhood zones, would you consider 

that that is best placed in a policy such as 8.1.4.1, or an ODP, or both? 5 

 

MS OLIVER:   I think it is best placed in a policy.  So South Masham area is 

the only area where I know there is an interest to quarry land.  All the 

other Greenfield priority areas the land is owned by land developers or 

people seeking to develop it.  So in my view it is better placed in the 10 

policies. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Those are my questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms Limmer.  So we have got 15 

Mr Pickering.  Mr Pickering, are you going to ask some questions? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, your Honour.   

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR PICKERING [2.54 pm] 20 

 

MR PICKERING:   Good afternoon, Ms Oliver.  I own land that is located in 

the Marshland west area which you have written as Highfield Park 

area.  Have you done any benefits and costs assessment on this 

proposal? 25 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MS OLIVER:   The Highfield? 

 30 

MR PICKERING:   Yes. 

 

MS OLIVER:   The cost benefit analysis in terms of the section 32, I mean, 

that was undertaken through plan change – I do not recall the number 

but - - -  35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   67. 

 

MS OLIVER:   - - - 67.  So no, I have not personally. 

 40 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  You state that there is no major infrastructure or 

planning issues.  Have you considered the significant geotechnical 

issues? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, to the extent that there is no evidence to suggest that the 45 

geotechnical constraints would seriously compromise the future 
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development of this land, that it can be engineered to meet the 

standards required. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Have you considered that they will not address to issue of 

global settlement of the land in a future earthquake? 5 

 

MS OLIVER:   I am sorry – of global settlement? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Yes. 

 10 

MS OLIVER:   That is outside my area of expertise.   

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  Have you considered Mr Michael Theelan – I am 

sorry, I am not sure of how to pronounce his last name – view on the 

area of 1999 and 2015 stating that supporting infrastructure has not 15 

been planned and it will be extremely expensive - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Pickering, just pause a minute there.  A couple of 

little difficulties – one is that evidence you referred to was some time 

ago and I do not think it is before us by way of experts being called.  20 

The second issue is, if there is something relevant in it, to be fair to the 

witness and to us, you really need to put a document that you are 

referring to to the witness for the question rather than just ask her to 

make a comment in a vacuum.  So whether or not you want to pursue 

the question is for you, subject to what I have just told you. 25 

 

MR PICKERING:   I understand, your Honour, that Mr Theelan - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Theelan is not giving evidence on this matter. 

 30 

MR PICKERING:   Yes, I understand that he is the person in charge of the 

department that Ms Oliver - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I am not sure if that is the case at the moment either.  

But either way, the Panel is dealing with matters in the evidence before 35 

the Panel. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not aware of a brief from Mr Theelan on this matter.  40 

If you are referring to a previous statement, if it is relevant, you have 

got to have the document ready for the question. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  Well I will ask it in a different way, your Honour. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 
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MR PICKERING:   Ms Oliver, have you considered that the cost of the 

supporting infrastructure required for this area? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Can you be more specific in terms of what infrastructure? 5 

 

MR PICKERING:   So this would be water, sewerage, roading and other such 

things that the Council would be required to put in place. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Well the Council has – the Highfield development is part of all 10 

Council’s infrastructure programmes.  Some of the infrastructure will 

have to be provided for by the developer as well. 

 

MR PICKERING:   And are you aware that the proposer of this thing has gone 

into liquidation owing $2.4 million, having $787 to pay that, and is 15 

extremely unlikely to go ahead with this development? 

 

MS OLIVER:   I understand that that might be the case. 

 

MR PICKERING:   All right.  Well it is the case.  Have you taken any 20 

considerations of loss of rural amenity to myself and the other four land 

owning submitters on this matter? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I have.  In terms of rural amenity, those people who do 

not wish to develop their land will to a large extent retain their rural 25 

amenity by not developing their land.  If the adjacent land is developed 

well that is just part of the consequence of this land being identified as 

a Greenfield priority area and a growth area.   

 

MR PICKERING:   So would you accept that the placement of two metres of 30 

fill directly adjacent to a rural amenity with houses then placed on top 

of that would have an adverse effect to those anticipating a rural 

outlook to their land? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, the rural outlook will be lost as the adjoining land is being 35 

developed to some extent.  It depends on the site, its location, where its 

outlook is, where the house is, the existing rural home is located – it 

would have a number of factors about to what extent it may be 

compromised, but yes, that is, as I stated, that would be a consequence 

of the land’s development.   40 

 

MR PICKERING:   Have you considered the effect of damage to the adjacent 

land due to mitigated land in the event of a further earthquake?  

Bearing in mind it is a part of plan change 67. 

45 
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  [3.00 pm] 

 

MS OLIVER:   That question may also be beyond my expertise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think that is fair to Mr Pickering.  We have had a natural 5 

hazards hearing where we had a lot of expert evidence on a whole lot of 

these matters and really it is not really for this witness to be able to give 

an opinion on that in which you can rely on that evidence so you have 

got some difficulty and sort of testing her too much on that I think. 

 10 

MR PICKERING:   I do, your Honour, because the thing is that this is 

something that affects myself and four other submitters on this to a 

very significant extent. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just trying to help you in terms of when a 15 

witness says “I am not qualified to answer that” - - - 

 

MR PICKERING:   Sure, I have heard her say that but the issue is, your 

Honour, that having spent some considerable time in reflection and so 

on, on this, Ms Oliver and Mr  Norton are the only people that I could 20 

find that have actually had anything to say about this - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, but if they are - - - 

 

MR PICKERING:   - - - a natural hazards person has not. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, and you have your chance to make your case 

to the Panel.  What I am telling you is – and we have got to be aware of 

the time, I do not want to take up too much time and debate – the last 

thing I will tell you before I ask you to carry on with your questioning 30 

is that when you put a question to a witness which is beyond their 

technical expertise they are not actually entitled to answer it unless they 

know something of it and that is why they are qualified and say “I’m 

not an expert in that area.  Not trying to rebuff you, they are just not 

entitled to give us an opinion outside their expertise. 35 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But proceed. 

 40 

MR PICKERING:   Are you aware, Ms Oliver, that all of the submitting land 

owners on this area do not want this to occur? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 45 
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MR PICKERING:   Okay.  The changes that have been proposed versus the 

outcome of private plan change 67, are there any changes to the 

protection from earthworks and so on that were incorporated in the 

private plan change? 

 5 

MS OLIVER:  So earthworks is to be managed through chapter 8 and the rules 

contained within that was part of the stage 1 and stage 2 Hearing in my 

view would be adequate to deal with any effects arising from 

earthworks. 

 10 

MR PICKERING:   Could you explain the meaning of 8.2.1 which is located in 

your evidence – if I get the right one – page 6 evidence-in-chief 

attachment A. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Oliver, when you answer this, keep in mind if there is 15 

anything updated in your rebuttal to let us know. 

 

MS OLIVER:   So is it my paragraph 8 point? 

 

MR PICKERING:  8.2.1. 20 

 

MS OLIVER:   So this is to the revised proposal? 

 

MR PICKERING:   This was your evidence-in-chief of 7 December 2015.  I 

specifically refer to subsection 1CIC. 25 

 

MS OLIVER:   8.2 – my apologies. 

 

MR PICKERING:   8.2.1.1 which is written approval and non-notification 

under the rules. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, was it 1C? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Yes, it kind of goes right down the bottom.  If I read the 

very first part of it just to key you in, it’s “any land being subdivided is 35 

within”.  What I am asking is in effect what that whole thing means to 

me as a landowner because it is not clear and I have discussed this with 

other submitters to this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it reads, “Any application for consent under the 40 

subdivision rules and circumstances below” something about non-

complying, in brackets “Shall not require written consent of other 

persons and shall be non-notified”, then I under 8.4.10 Highfield where 

C.  I was a bit confused about this myself actually, yes. 

 45 
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MS OLIVER:   I cannot, sorry, I need to go back and look at previous versions 

because that reference number is incorrect. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you understand the question - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   I do understand the question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I think probably would be helpful to answer it in 10 

terms of what you understand it is intended to mean in order for 

submitters to understand it as well. 

 

MS OLIVER:   I am going to have to go back and review that.  These were 

carried through from a previous revised proposal and the referencing is 15 

incorrect and I need to go back to the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How much time do you need to look at that?  Because it 

might be that we have to go to other things and I (INDISTINCT 1.12) 

back through this. 20 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I need to go back and talk with Mr Collins as well if that 

could be - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What are you uncertain about?  As to whether in fact – are 25 

those supposed to be exceptions to the question of written notification 

or - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, they are. 

 30 

MR LAING:   This is in relation to Highfield though. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So an application for consent shall not require written 

consent of other persons and shall be non-notified.”  It almost seems to 

be saying if it is within 25 metres of a boundary of a neighbouring 35 

property it is not quite to be notified, but I do not know whether that is 

what it is meaning to say.  Is that what your - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   It is, it is, and these rules were carried through from the 

Operative City Plan but I need to go back - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well what I think we will do is reserve this little 

issue – Mr Pickering, are you able to come back tomorrow? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Yes.  I will be here, your Honour, because I will be 45 

presenting my final - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, so what we can do is we can recall you I think 

for this particular matter but if in the meantime you can get clarification 

on it as to which way it is supposed to be describing a non-notification 

regime and then you can ask some more questions about it if you want 5 

to, Mr Pickering, if you want to find some time for that we will do that. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  It needs clarification, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think it probably does.  All right, well that point 10 

noted Mr Laing will coordinate with you on when that happens 

tomorrow. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Sure, thank you.  Appreciate that. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, just go to the next thing. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, there is not a great deal more.  I am enquiring as to 

whether you have any real expectations of this development to go 

ahead in the light of the liquidation of the company that proposed it? 20 

 

MS OLIVER:   I am unable to answer that as I am not the developer. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, does the Council have any expectations of this 

development to go ahead? 25 

 

MS OLIVER:   As with most land in the Greenfield priority areas, the Council 

cannot force development of land and the Council is only able to 

consider applications as they come to Council. 

 30 

MR PICKERING:   Are you aware of the actual real costs that this is likely to 

put on those of us that are living in  the area and owning land over the 

next 20 years?  And what I refer to here is have you given any 

consideration – and I am not talking necessarily about your cost benefit 

assessment that you have not done which has only come through plan 35 

change 67 – but I am talking about the fact that our rates have gone up 

as a result of this and the fact that they will continue to go up and cost 

us real money over the next long period while this probably will not 

happen.  Has there been any consideration given to that?  Has there 

been any consideration given to the fact that I am now restricted in 40 

what I can do on my property that was previously Rural? 

 

MS OLIVER:   So regard to the rates question, I am not a rates officer and it is 

actually a separate matter that sits outside the district plan review.  In 

terms of the impact on what you can do with your land, we have 45 
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included a rule to enable rural activities to continue and you also have 

existing use rights. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Are you aware that existing use rights expire one year after 

they have been - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually, Mr Laing might be the best qualified to answer 

that question I think. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Am I permitted to ask Mr Laing that? 10 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you are not.  It is a question of law. 

 15 

MR PICKERING:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And section 10 of the Act explains how long existing use 

rights. 

 20 

MR PICKERING:   So I think the issue, because we had this issue, your 

Honour, during the plan change - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 

 25 

MR PICKERING:   - - - private plan change. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   See if you can rephrase the question without the legal bit 

of it. 

 30 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, if I chose to carry on the pig activity that I had 10 

years ago on my property would I be permitted to do that under what 

you have proposed? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 35 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Provided you did not seek to expand the activity then the rules 

of the Residential New Neighbourhood zone would apply. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   To help you along a little bit, Mr Pickering, on this sort of 

thing, I can tell you that section 10 of the RMA on existing use rights is 

very fraught and difficult to understand. 

 45 

MR PICKERING:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And it does not necessarily give people certainty on 

whether or not they can proceed with something, in any particular 

circumstance. 

 5 

MR PICKERING:   That is something that has occurred to me, you Honour, so 

I guess in the sense that Ms Oliver has specifically put some planning I 

suppose in place for rural activity I wanted to determine whether that 

covered what I was talking about as an example, under that planning or 

whether that was something that came under section 10 so I am 10 

assuming - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well put the question that way and see what you 

can do with that.   

 15 

MR PICKERING:   So under your proposal which permits rural activity on the 

land would I be permitted to re-introduce the pig farming that I was 

doing 10 years ago on the property? 

 

MS OLIVER:   You would be a discretionary activity. 20 

 

MR PICKERING:   Does that mean I - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   You would require resource consent. 

 25 

MR PICKERING:   So - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, I defer to the rule which is in revised proposal evidence-in-

chief attachment A rule 14.6.2.4 discretionary activities. So any activity 

not provided for is a permitted, controlled, restricted, discretionary, 30 

non-complying or prohibited activity, so you would be a discretionary 

activity if you sought to undertake that activity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So may or may not be given consent. 

 35 

MR PICKERING:   Right, so I have got to go through, I suppose – no I am not 

going to say what I consider it to be – but I cannot any longer do on my 

land what I have previously done on my land because of this so 

therefore would you accept that that is a considerable imposition on a 

landowner of a rural property? 40 

 

MS OLIVER:   So permitted activities – that is correct because the rural 

activities are as permitted in the Rural Urban Fringe zone subject to 

activity standards and a piggery is considered to be intensive farming 

and it is actually treated in the Council’s final revised proposal any 45 

intensive farming activity in the Rural Urban Fringe zone would be a 
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restricted discretionary activity.  However in this case because we have 

not specifically listed it, it falls in the Residential New Neighbourhood 

provision, it would fall to be considered as a discretionary activity 

under that discretionary activity one that I referred you to. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pickering whether or not this witness considers it a 

considerable imposition as your next question was put, it is a difficult 

question for a witness to answer.  It is very much a loaded question but 

that is part of the question which we have not got an answer to yet but 

you might be able to rephrase it but bearing in mind it is getting on 10 

towards quarter past three, I am just wondering how much more time 

you need. 

 

MR PICKERING:  Yes, thank you, thank you, your Honour, not very much 

more time I believe.  I guess what I am trying to ascertain really 15 

whether any consideration is being given in advancing this change and 

supporting this failed proposal, any consideration is being given to 

those of us that own land and live in the area and have farmed in the 

area for many years, as to the actual effect, the very real effect of some 

of these restrictions on our operation and our expectations of our land.  20 

And the answer may be simply no – I do not know. 

 

MS OLIVER:   It would have been me personally through the Urban 

Development Strategy, through proposed change one to the Regional 

Policy Statement and then subsequent in the Land Use Recovery Plan, 25 

these areas were identified for development, so urban development, at 

that point of time based on the decision and the need to provide for new 

housing areas it was identified as the most efficient and effective use of 

this land for urbanisation and through that plan change. 

 30 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

 So it is through that process and that consideration is where the 

decision to have it has an urban development occurred and as a 

consequence would over time and as the land is developed, yes it will 35 

to some extent compromise certain rural uses, such as intensive 

farming.  That is a consequence. 

 

MR PICKERING:   So you yourself or people within the Council have not 

taken that into consideration? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No that was not what she said.   

 

MR PICKERING:   No, that is what I was trying to clarify. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well I mean you yourself, well this is effectively a 

Council proposal.  This witness is only part of the Council team of 

witnesses giving evidence.  The Council is the one that has proposed 

this.  You could ask – I think you have been asking a question perhaps 

in similar ways for a little while now but if you are asking whether the 5 

Council considered your interests or not, whether this witness is aware 

of that or not – those are questions you can ask. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, your Honour.  Has the Council considered my 

interests in this matter? 10 

 

MS OLIVER:   I am not aware of your specific interest, but I am assuming it 

was considered as part of the plan change, Highfield Development plan 

change. 

 15 

MR PICKERING:  Okay.  Is the Council - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   You raised a submission to that. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pickering, you have to bear in mind one thing which 

is, I am sorry but a plans change, can change what occurs in what is 

permitted and what is not.  It is not unusual, it is part of the way the Act 

works that plans can be notified from time to time which can change 25 

the rules.  So it is a question of how far you can go with that. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, I think I have finished with that, your Honour, 

in effect.  There is one more related question to that and then one more 

question regarding my proposal.  What I guess I am trying to ascertain 30 

is that simply my understanding is that under the RMA there is meant 

to be a reasonable sort of cost-benefit assessment and the impact on 

people in these sorts of things.  I am trying to ascertain how much 

thought the Council has put into that or how much it is simply accepted 

from other detail (INDISTINCT 2.42) 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the witness has already advised that there are certain 

policies that have - - - 

 

MR PICKERING:   Correct, that has been (INDISTINCT 2.47) 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - anyway, you know, ones that have actually come into 

effect before this was notified and which this plan has to give effect, 

such as the changes to the Regional Policy Statement that were made 

from a Ministerial Direction, which I think you are aware of. 45 
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MR PICKERING:   A ministerial fear I would call that, your Honour.  So my 

final question related to this would be is the Council aware of the fact 

that I had an appeal to the RPS and to PC1 and to plan change 67 and 

that that was effectively wiped out by ministerial fear by Mr Brownlee. 

 5 

MR OLIVER:   Yes, in the information you have provided us and yes, I am 

aware of that. 

 

MR PICKERING:   My reason for asking is simply that some of these issues 

have not been tested.  And finally, do you have any particular issue 10 

with the proposal that we return to Rural 3 with a lot size of 4,000 

square metres?  Does that have any particular affect given that it will 

increase the land use as I understand has been asked for but it would 

also retain the predominantly rural outlook and use of the land? 

 15 

MS OLIVER:   No I do not support that because it would not give effect to the 

Regional Policy Statement’s minimum requirement of 15 houses per 

hectare. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, your Honour. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Pickering.  Thank you, Ms Oliver.  

Where are we now?  Mr Cleary - - - 

 

MR LAING:   May I question the witness please? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, yes, sit down a minute please.  Mr Cleary, are you 

here for Luneys Buchanan? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Pardon? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you here for Luneys Buchanans? 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so we should record you as an appearance on that 

matter and you will be cross-examining on that? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed, approximately 10 minutes, your Honour. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it Mr Stoaks? 

 

MR STOAKS:   Yes it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You did not make an application to cross-examine this 45 

witness? 
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MR STOAKS:   I made them at the very outset that I wanted to cross-examine 

all the witnesses.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Made it to whom? 5 

 

MR STOAKS:   Through the Secretariat. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What day, when did you do it, approximately what time, 

so I can check during the break? 10 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

MR STOAKS:  It would've been approximately mid-November I think they 

first notified - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, there was a notice of hearing for this matter, did you 

respond to the directions under the notice of hearing arising 

(INDISTINCT 0.13)? 

 20 

MR STOAKS:  Not specifically, what happened, I - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, that is what you should've done so you do not have 

leave to cross-examine this witness.  How long do you want to have? 

 25 

MR STOAKS:  Just a couple of minutes just to cover off - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, are you trying to intervene ahead of Mr Cleary?  Mr 

Cleary, do you have any issue with that? 

 30 

MR CLEARY:  No issue whatsoever. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Laing, do you have any issue with this? 

 

MR LAING: No, Sir, but I think Mr Stoaks has had plenty of opportunity to - - 35 

- 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think he has too.  I gave you a bit of licence this 

morning, it does not mean you can take it as an assumption that you 

can ask all witnesses all questions I will tell you that now, Mr Stoaks. 40 

 

MR STOAKS:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  We are already significantly behind on time; you say 

you're going to take two minutes? 45 
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MR STOAKS:  I will keep it very brief, Your Honour.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, well, zipping through the witness understanding 

your questions, we will see how we go and then, Mr Cleary, we will 

see how we go on time. 5 

 

MR STOAKS:  Yep, thank you, Ms Oliver, these questions are in relation to 

correspondence between us the last few weeks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Have we got that correspondence in front of us? 10 

 

MR STOAKS:  I have got it here, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, and you have not got that ready for us? 

 15 

MR STOAKS:  Yes I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, I will stand you down.  You have got it ready? 

 

MR STOAKS:  It is all here, yes. I do not need to refer to it. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Have you showed it to Mr Laing? 

 

MR STOAKS: No and I have - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Then sit down and we will deal with you after the break, 

thanks.  Mr Cleary? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [3.22 pm] 

 30 

MR CLEARY:  Thank you, Your Honour, good afternoon, Ms Oliver.  Just 

want to ask you some questions regarding the South Masham Outlying 

Development Plan area and that is appendix 8.6.5 and if I could take 

you first to the ODP and it is in your evidence-in-chief, attachment A.  

I think it is at page 124 but it should be brought up on the screens 35 

shortly.   

 

 And I want to focus the questions on the yellow area, which are areas 

identified as Residential Development Area subject to (INDISTINCT 

2.30) constraints but my first question, Ms Oliver, is generally speaking 40 

that these yellow areas are, they are used in the ODPs to identify areas 

where there are constraints that might physically prevent a density of 

15 households per hectare being achieved, is that correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, that is correct. 45 
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MR CLEARY:  And in terms of the extent of the yellow area, I mean the 

northernmost yellow area. 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, okay, and could you explain the basis for the extent of 

this yellow area as notified and this is the yellow area as notified isn’t 

it.  I mean, why did - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, so at the time it was re-notified that was an area that was 10 

considered might, might have been constrained by the poultry farm so 

it was upon review of that I am actually now thinking about this a little 

bit further, that our response – sorry, I will just answer that question.  

That was at the time thought to be possibly signal the reverse 

sensitivity or address, potentially address the reverse sensitivity of X of 15 

the poultry farm. 

 

MR CLEARY:  At the time it - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:  At the time it was notified.  Re-notified. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:  Rephrase the question another way, at the time it was notified 

that it was thought to be a sufficient setback as such from the poultry 

farm? 

 25 

MS OLIVER:  Probably would not go that far.  It was some attempt to identify 

that there was an issue with the poultry farm but Council made a 

submission and, you know, to suggest that that was not an adequate 

treatment or adequate response to the development constraint there and 

when I say “development constraint” just to clarify, it is probably not 30 

clear on the outline development plan that subject to the poultry farm 

issue, that land could yield 15 houses per hectare so upon reflection, 

that probably does not need to be yellow, it could just be orange.   

 

  [3.25 pm] 35 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay. 

 

MS OLIVER:  I may have confused that, see, yes, because the development 

constraint was intended to say that it may not yield 15 houses per 40 

hectare. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, ah, but that is not correct.  It could sustain - - - 
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MS OLIVER:  Well, we have changed the approach or I suggested a changed 

approach to deal with the reverse sensitivity issue in the subsequent 

revised proposals. 

 

MR CLEARY:  But that sole issue aside, your evidence is that development of 5 

this land could achieve density of 15 households per hectare or even 

more, even greater? 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, so as restricted discretionary activity it could be 

demonstrated that it can achieve 15 houses per hectare subject to either 10 

an owner assessment or there may be some other mitigation methods.   

 

MR CLEARY:  Right, and in terms of the extension of that yellow area and 

that is shown in your rebuttal evidence and that is an amended ODP 

and that is page 98 of your rebuttal evidence.  Hence so what you have, 15 

would you agree, Ms Oliver, what you have got it does significantly 

extend it, this yellow area and you've also got a quite substantial odour 

buffer area, that is correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:  That is correct. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:  That is correct and in fact it appears to me to roughly cover a 

half of the ODP area, would that be - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:  That would be correct. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:  That would be correct and the extension of this area was on the 

basis of the Council submission that you referred to which basically 

said, did it not, that the yellow area may be too small? 

 30 

MS OLIVER:  Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, okay, and - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:  Based on odour effects. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay, all right so - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:  Just to clarify that is what the submission was about, based on 

odour effects. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:  Was there any specific analysis undertaken by the Council to 

support the extension to the 200 metre buffer area from the poultry 

farm? 

 45 
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MS OLIVER:  Okay, so I have adopted the 200 metre setback based on what I 

understand to be best practice from intensive farming activities being a 

200 metre setback.  That has also been proposed through the Rural 

Urban Fringe rules and so that is what I have applied. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, but there is no specific, shall we say, case by case 

analysis of the reverse entity of the issue for this poultry farm 

operation, is that correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:  No odour assessment has been undertaken as it relates to this 10 

activity on that land. 

 

MR CLEARY:  No, but you have not answered – my question is you have not 

undertaken any specific analysis that would support a 200 metre 

setback in this particular instance? 15 

 

MS OLIVER:  The extent to my specific analysis is based on what I understand 

to be best practice for setbacks from poultry farms and that is just 

saying that that is area within 200 metres of an intensive farming 

activity, it is just really triggering what the status of the activity is, 20 

should be to require further consideration on whether it is appropriate 

for sensitive activities within the 200 metre buffer area so yes, that is 

what my analysis is only based on. 

 

MR CLEARY:  So it is essentially, shall we call it, a default setback of 25 

200 metres or a generic setback? 

 

MS OLIVER:  I would say it is a generic setback, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay, all right.  In terms of – would you agree, Ms Oliver, that 30 

in order for a reverse sensitivity effect to exist there must first of all be 

a primary – what I would refer to as a primary effect – and that primary 

effect would be there must be an existing established activity which is 

creating an adverse effect be it odour or noise or whatever on nearby 

land?  That is the primary effect.  You have got an existing activity that 35 

is creating a problem on nearby land, would you agree with that?  

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, reverse sensitivity effect is when – that is part of it but 40 

reverse sensitivity is also if you are changing the use on the adjoining 

land, what impact that would have on the existing operation. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But is that not what I would refer to as the secondary effect 

where you introduce new sensitive activities that may come into 45 

conflict with the existing activity that is causing that primary effect? 
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MS OLIVER:   No, that is not how I view reverse sensitivity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, I do not know whether you want to rephrase 

that.  I mean are you referring to the fact that there are activities going 5 

on on the land and if one was to assume that the land use change is next 

door then there must be a cause of effect to give rise to the sensitivity 

already occurring on the land? 

 

MR CLEARY:   It must be, yeah. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that what you are going for? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not sure whether you understood that or not.  So 

Mr Cleary is referring to the fact that there has to be an operation that 

has certain, if you like, impacts.  It might not be evident in the 

meantime because it is a rural land but if you assume that it is more 

sensitive land uses ie residences going in next door, I think he is saying 20 

you have to have a primary effect for those sensitive uses or not, how 

do you agree with that, there has to be some cause of - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   Absolutely, yes, indeed. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   I will put it colloquially, there has to be a problem with the 

existing operation in terms of it causing effect - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is right, yes, for it to be deemed to have a reverse 

sensitivity effect, yes. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Have you undertaken a site visit to the poultry farm and the 

surrounding environment? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, from the road side. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Is it your understanding, Ms Oliver, that there have been no 

issues with the environmental performance of the poultry farm 

operations since its establishment? 

 40 

MS OLIVER:   To my knowledge, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Ms Harte has set out the history of the poultry farm 

operation to the best of her knowledge.  Does that correspond to your 

understanding of the history of the poultry farm operation? 45 
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MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And there is no history whatsoever of complaints regarding 

odour from that operation and that is in the 50 plus years that that 

operation has been in existence. 5 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, to my understanding. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and in that 50 years the receiving environment I will 

describe it as changed significantly in terms of the development of 10 

Delamain? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that is immediately across the road from the poultry farm 15 

operation? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And residences in the Delamain development have been 20 

established within approximately 100 metres to the poultry farm sheds, 

is that correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   And there is no history of complaints or conflict between 

Delamain and the poultry farm operation? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Not to my understanding. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:   I put it to you therefore, Ms Oliver, that in actual fact that 

there is no primary effect in terms of the existing established operation 

causing odour issues beyond the boundary of its property.  Doesn’t the 

evidence strongly suggest that that is the case? 

 35 

MS OLIVER:   For the development that has occurred to the north of the site 

and further east beyond the – I think it is Canary Reserve, yes.  I will 

clarify that, that does not necessarily mean that land development to the 

west of the poultry farm may not give rise in the future should it be 

developed to complaints.  It is in a different location and in my 40 

experience with odour assessments prevailing winds do have quite an 

impact on where complaints are received so that is why. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So there have been no complaints whatsoever either from 

properties to the north, south, east, or west of the poultry farm 45 

operation, that is correct? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that a question? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes.  So there is no complaints, that is right. 

 5 

  [3.35 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   And given that unblemished so let us say past performance, I 

put it to you, Ms Oliver, that in actual fact no set back is required – or 

no odour buffer area shall I say is required – other than that which 10 

might exist, that would exist in terms of the separation between the 

existing sheds and the boundary of the South Masham New 

Neighbourhood Zone? 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, I disagree with that. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   And do you have any basis for disagreeing with that? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Based on best practice that activities within 200 metres of an 

intensive farming activity should at least be considered through 20 

resource consent, that is the setback. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You equated to best practice, you refer to it is as a generic 

setback. 

 25 

MS OLIVER:   No, I mean this was addressed through the rural hearing and 

through those standards.  It is also with Environment Canterbury’s 

discharge consents to air, they manage it within a similar manner and in 

my experience, I mean in Awatea we had a mushroom farm activity, 

there also was a chicken farm activity whereby we undertook odour 30 

assessments through the south west Christchurch area plan and 

generally 200 metres was an area where they considered sensitive 

activities make a (INDISTINCT 1.36) reverse sensitivity effects. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Generally? 35 

 

MS OLIVER:   Generally, I accept that.  But this is a - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   In this specific instance you have agreed, have you not, that 

there have been no issues in terms of complaints of odour effects from 40 

the poultry farm operation in the last 50 years? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I accept that, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and on that basis, I mean you said you do not agree that 45 

no setback is appropriate beyond what should exist but would you 
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consider a reduced setback would be appropriate in the present 

circumstances? 

 

MS OLIVER:   That could be considered for a resource consent, yes, that could 

be one.  If an odour – as a restricted discretionary activity, an odour 5 

assessment could be provided, all matters, additional evidence could be 

provided or assessments could be provided. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I do not want to interrupt you, Ms Oliver, but I am talking 

about the plan provisions in terms of the extent of the odour buffer 10 

area.  Would you not accept that in the present circumstances given the 

unblemished performance of the poultry operation that that setback 

could be reduced, it could be less than 200 metres?  So there could be a 

setback of 100 metres from the poultry shed or perhaps something less 

than that? 15 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, I do not have any evidence to I suppose provide me the 

comfort or the evidence at least to support something less than 200 

metres. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   And in terms of an odour assessment – and this might be a 

little bit speculative – but would you not expect that such an assessment 

would also conclude that there have been no issues associated with the 

environmental performance of the poultry farm? 

 25 

MS OLIVER:   I am not an expert in that so I cannot provide that statement. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But you are familiar with it? 

 

MS OLIVER:   I am familiar with it but this is a site specific matter. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  The proposed rule that you have suggested - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, are you going to be much longer?  Otherwise I 

will interrupt you to take the afternoon recess. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Have I gone a few minutes beyond? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Somewhat. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Another three to five minutes? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well if it is three to five we will take the afternoon recess 

after you have finished so carry on. 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Thank you.  So the proposed rule that you have suggested, it 

is rule 17.3.3.7 and that is on page 41, that should be brought up shortly 

of appendix 1 to the Council’s closing submissions on the rural 

proposal.  So sensitive activities or restricted discretionary activity if 

they are less than 200 metres from any building, compound or part of a 5 

site used for intensive farming on an adjoining site, that is correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, so all residential development within the odour buffer 10 

area in the South Masham ODP would be a restricted discretionary 

activity. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 15 

  [3.40 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Have you actually assessed that proposed rule against the 

objectives and policies of the Residential New Neighbourhood Zone, 

whether it is most appropriate to implement those objectives and 20 

policies? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Where in your evidence has that assessment been undertaken? 25 

 

MS OLIVER:   It is not within my evidence, I am just, my response to this rule 

or my proposed suggested treatment of, or the inclusion of this rule is 

based on dealing, specifically dealing with a potential effect.  You will 

not find in the residential RNN policies or even in the Panel’s decision 30 

any mention of reverse sensitivity.  I was specifically talking about 

rural activities. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Basically there is no evidence where this rule has been 

assessed against the residential objectives and policies essentially? 35 

 

MS OLIVER:   No. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, that rule actually only applies to adjoining sites, that is 

correct? 40 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and so in terms of the Luneys land, that is not adjoining 

the poultry farm site that is correct? 45 
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MS OLIVER:   Well it is less than 200 metres from any building compound 

used for intensive farming. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, that is part of the rule but the second part is on an 

adjoining site. 5 

 

MS OLIVER:   Well that is not the intent of the rule. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is, okay, all right and finally so that rule has been 

developed, that rule 17.3.3.7 that has been developed to apply to the 10 

rural urban fringe zone, so you have got a minimum allotment size of 

4 hectares and you would accept that that minimum allotment size 

would provide some flexibility as to where you could site new sensitive 

activities? 

 15 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, there is probably more opportunity to achieve that rule in 

a rural zoning. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Significantly more opportunity do you accept? 

 20 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, of course. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But there is no opportunity whatsoever in terms of this outer 

buffer area to make that rural, it is all caught by that. 

 25 

MS OLIVER:   Absolutely, it is, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And no flexibility.  Sorry, your Honour, I did have, I am just 

thinking of one further question and Ms Oliver referred to the potential 

use of non-complying covenant and it is not referred to anywhere in the 30 

evidence but you did mention it in your summary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Alluded to it without explicitly mentioning it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, alluded, I am wondering do you have any particular 35 

opinion on the use of the non-compliant covenant in this particular 

circumstance? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Only to the point that it could be offered as a mitigation 

measure for a restricted discretionary consent. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Could it be offered as a control activity consent? 

 

MS OLIVER:   It could be but - - -  

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Let me put it this way, if it is offered as a controlled activity 

consent then for starters it could be controlled but it is not offered, it 

might trigger to restricted discretionary would that work in your 

opinion? 

 5 

MS OLIVER:   Well I am not a lawyer and non-compliance governance 

require, as a legal instrument, to write that into a rule might become 

quite complex.  It is possible but I would have to give consideration of 

who other parties; yes, in my view I think the more appropriate 

approach is to have it as a restricted discretionary activity with that as a 10 

potential mitigation measure. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is despite you agreeing that there would be no issues 

with the poultry farm operation over the last 50 plus years? 

 15 

MS OLIVER:   That would be a matter again as consideration through a 

resource consent. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, I have got no more questions. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary, now I am going to take the 

afternoon adjournment. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 

 25 

 But, Mr Stoaks, just the first thing I am going to say is because you 

have taken Mr Laing by surprise in regard to documents which he has 

not seen in regards to your request for cross-examination of this 

witness, the only way I would let it occur would be that, number one, if 

you gave Mr Laing permission to talk to his witness in which case I 30 

could on this matter over the break with the document that you intend 

to put and then for Mr Laing to indicate whether he has a position on 

whether or not you can ask questions because in due process terms I do 

not like a rabbit out of a hat approach which is what you have adopted. 

 35 

 So, it is a matter for you, but the other concern I have is that you did 

say you were going to take five minutes, it is difficult to cross-examine 

for five minutes on a document sometimes and I want you to reflect on 

that over the break and confirm to us it will only be five minutes, 

notwithstanding that you are going to put a document and if we hear 40 

the right things from you and Mr Laing we will let you do it but at the 

moment we will take an adjournment for 10 minutes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you, sir. 

 45 

ADJOURNED [3.46 pm] 



 Page 141 

  

Ch8&14: Residential New Neighbourhood Zones  Commenced 11.01.16 

 

RESUMED [3.58 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, thank you everyone.  Actually Mr Laing, just a 

question, I have got a memorandum from Ryman seeking to having 5 

Mr Kyle excused and referring to their understanding that the Council 

no longer wishes to cross-examine Mr Kyle on the basis that it says, 

“Ryman and the RDO (ph 0.30) are now satisfied with the planning 

regime proposed by the Council officers to manage retirement villages 

in the New Neighbourhood Zones”, so they are wanting Mr Kyle to be 10 

excused.  Do you have any issue with that? 

 

MR LAING:   No, if Mr Kyle is now agreeing with the, which I understand 

from - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Sarah, could you provide this to Mr Laing because 

what I wanted to do is just, and I do not want to put you under pressure 

at all but if you did have a ready answer I would let - - - 

 

MR LAING:   I think I can do if- - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, on that basis, sir, I think he could be excused quite readily. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, yes, okay.  If that message could be 

conveyed to Emily please. 

 

MR LAING:   Your honour, over the break I have had discussion with 

Mr Stoaks. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   I do not think that the document that he wished to put to the 

witness has any value at all, probative or otherwise and I suggest that 35 

he might just want to ask the question direct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And on that basis it should be very short and to the point. 40 

 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I assume that two minutes is about right 

then Mr Stoaks. 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR STOAKS [4.00 pm] 

 

MR STOAKS:   Yes, thank you very much.  Just firstly on your expert Brian 

Norton’s evidence earlier he accepted that there were two commercial 

storm water basins that are required that were missing from the ODP - 5 

would you agree that they should be shown on the ODP, that they are 

required? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Well, yes, they can be shown. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   They should be shown is the question so the answer is? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MR STOAKS:   Thank you and regarding the storm water that has just come in 15 

recently that is shown outside of the ODP to the west on the uphill land 

where Mr Norton was not certain that that could be feasible, would you 

accept that it should not be shown there until it is confirmed that it is 

actually feasible? 

 20 

MS OLIVER:   No, that came through mediation with Mobil Investments who 

own the land by which it is proposed to be on to address storm water 

effects or storm water runoff from their adjoining development, so that 

came through mediation.  

 25 

MR STOAKS:   Is it my understanding that you believe that Noble own the 

land that that is (INDISTINCT 1.18)  

 

MS OLIVER:   That is what I have informed by - - -  

 30 

MR STOAKS:   I put it to you that it is not owned by Noble it is owned by a 

private landowner who has not been consulted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If that is the case you have to change your answer. 

 35 

MS OLIVER:   I still do not change my answer because it was put forward and 

it is my understanding through, that is the position that has been 

pursued through a resource consent.  That said it is very clear on the 

outline development plan that it is indicative in size, shape and location 

so the alternative is to put a similar sized facility or an annotation, we 40 

could do it within the Greenfield priority area boundary.  It is either 

either. 

 

MR STOAKS:   I put it to you unless that land is known to be available for that 

use it should be shown within the ODP? 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that is a matter of submission I think whether or not 

it should.  You can address us on this and you can make your 

arguments on that and Noble, we will listen to your arguments, is there 

any other questions? 

 5 

MR STOAKS:   That will be fine, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, so we have now got Panel questions, 

Mr Neill? 

 10 

MR NEILL:   No, no questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis?  Now bearing in mind we are going to have 

you hot tubbing shortly with Mr Collins, but these are the first round of 

questions. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   I will skip over the technical drafting questions that we will 

come to later but just a couple of very quick and hopefully fairly easy 

questions, Ms Oliver, as the non-local person on this Panel.  The 

poultry farm prevailing wind which directions the prevailing wind take 20 

current odour? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Okay, we have a north strong nor west so it goes from across 

the poultry farm to the land that is within that odour buffer area and we 

also have a prevailing easterly. 25 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, so the nor west, the land to the east and to the nor west of 

the site is currently, I can see the land to the north is clearly developed, 

the land in those other locations is clearly currently rural land which 

with little density is that correct? 30 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, and the site itself, it is a reasonable size site from my 

looking at the plan – is it fully developed and where are the sources of 35 

odour in relation to the site boundaries? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Sorry, is your question is the land within the - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   I am trying to understand whether the source of odour is 40 

potentially across the whole of that site or is it concentrated to the north 

or to the south or where it might be? 

 

MS OLIVER:   The poultry farm is just about where the words are. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where are the sheds? 
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MS OLIVER:   Actually I think Ms Harte’s evidence might - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   I do not recollect, I am just trying to work out 200 metres is - - -  

 5 

MS OLIVER:   200 metres is taken from the sheds - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   Site boundary. 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is what we have shown, in the hatched area that is 200 10 

metres so to be fair the annotation on the rural land is not necessary for 

this rule, it is only the hatched area that we have shown essentially 

which is also the yellow area. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   And that is because you are trying to or wishing to effectively 

import that otherwise only applies in the Rural Fringe area and apply 

that in the Residential New Neighbourhood area? 

 20 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, yes, so I have doubled up there, to be fair I have doubled 

up with the yellow hatching, sorry the yellow, we are just showing the 

development constraint with where the rule would apply under the 

odour buffer area. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, and maybe later we will come to it in the next session but 

you are quite comfortable with the current wording?  I guess I am 

raising some issues whether the current wording of that, the way you 

have tried to import that rule actually imports the rule and creates it as a 

Residential New Neighbourhood rule or is it still a rule that only 30 

applies in the Rural Fringe? 

 

MS OLIVER:   It is a rule that only applies in the Rural Fringe, however what I 

have done here is say that additional setback as set out in that rule, 

another way of approaching it is I rewrite that rule and I just put the 35 

odour assessor – I may have been trying to be a bit too creative there in 

terms of the cross-referencing but another approach, yes, rewrite it, 

rewrite it within the narrative or we have tried not to rewrite additional 

setbacks, say for example in Prestons rewrite them all within the 

Residential New Neighbourhood provisions.  It was sort of a matter we 40 

debated at quite some length through the mediation but that is the 

current approach. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, we may come back to that later on.  That is fine, that is it 

for now, thank you very much. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Oliver.  I have a few general questions for 

you now.  Just thinking about the Hendersons area and the fact that you 

have proposed option 1 and option 2, I just want to be clear in my mind 5 

how much difference there is because, sorry, the maps are quite small 

in places and I do not need a detailed one, but I just want for you to tell 

me whether option 1 is just slightly different but an improvement in 

your eyes but unfortunately goes over the map A boundary, and if so, 

why have you put it to us? 10 

 

MS OLIVER:   To answer, yes it is, it mainly differs in the East Henderson 

area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS OLIVER:   And in a way it may be more, as with all of the re-zonings 

outside of the greenfield priority areas we have, to be fair, taken this 

District Plan process to at least assess the merits of them, albeit that my 

conclusion is we cannot support them due to the policy limitations, so 20 

to that extent is why we have assessed it on its merits and come to what 

Council officers will certainly, if there was to be a review of the 

Regional Policy Statement map A, then that would be something that 

we would be supporting. So we have I guess utilised this District Plan 

process to come to a position on merits. That is why I have put it 25 

through as option 1 but certainly I accept the fact that I am not, I 

suppose there is little in my view that can be done through this 

Replacement District Plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you as a planner, are not asking us to do anything in 30 

relation to option 1? 

 

MS OLIVER:   No I am not, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if an opportunity arose and the Council may use the work 35 

that it has done for us, well in this process even though it is not really 

for us, as a basis for proceeding on some other process further on. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, yes, correct. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   All right, okay, thank you.  There is just a small thing, can 

you confirm for me that the Halswell Outline Development Plan does 

not have a KAC in it, it just has a Commercial Core Zone.  Are you 

familiar with the commercial provisions and where they got to? 

 45 
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MS OLIVER:   Yes I might have to actually – yes it certainly was a 

Commercial Core, yes.  Halswell has been identified as having a key 

activity centre.  There was significant debate over recent years about 

where that star in a way was to land, and even through the south west 

area plan it was something that we looked at, given the size, so it still is 5 

hovering, from my understanding it is still there but I think given the 

scale of that commercial core area it may be of such a size that it would 

meet the key activity but I would have to confirm that through the - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are not familiar with the list of key activity centres in 10 

the RPS - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   So Halswell - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and the – no and I am talking about Yaldhurst. 15 

 

MS OLIVER:   Oh, sorry Yaldhurst, sorry I thought you said Halswell, sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry did I, I might have, sorry.  Sorry, I might have but 

I did not mean to, sorry about that. 20 

 

MS OLIVER:   Okay, okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yaldhurst. 

 25 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

MS OLIVER:   Sorry, Yaldhurst?   

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry.  I might have, but I didn’t mean to.  Yaldhurst, yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The transcript is going to be - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, Yaldhurst.   

 35 

MS OLIVER:   I take that all back then.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry, that was my mistake. 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, Yaldhurst is Commercial Core – or I have to check, I 40 

apologise, but yes, we will have to go back and - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Because it says Key Activity Centre on the ODP there but I 

mean, I have just had a check of the Commercial decision, the 

provisions put forward by the Council and the Regional Policy 45 

Statement and it is not there. 
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MS OLIVER:   No.  Okay, so it is commercial. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is listed as a neighbourhood centre.   

 5 

MS OLIVER:   Neighbourhood centre.  Yes.  So we will have to amend that 

annotation.  So that should be amended. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Okay.  I am sorry about that, I was as confused as 

you between Halswell and Yaldhurst.  Now Tegel, and I may be - - -  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Halswell that ends well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - the Tegel site and the poultry farm site which is South 

Masham - - -  15 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - just following on from Mr Willis’ questions, and this will 

come out more generically I think in my questions of you and Mr 20 

Collins, but can you explain to me how you see this rule working when 

you have got a rule that is in the ODP so its compliance comes through 

the rule that says there needs to be compliance or accordance with the 

ODP, but then this rule says that non-compliance is not a matter that 

must be complied with through consistency with the ODP?  So how is 25 

that rule actually applied as a rule as opposed to just a guidance? 

 

MS OLIVER:   So it is an additional setback.  So the revised proposal in 97 – 

sorry, I am just checking a built form standard – so if I take you to my 

rebuttal evidence, page 51, and it is rule 14.6.3.5.  This is to do with 30 

building setbacks.  And if I take you to 1G and it had – well I have just 

realised that this is - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Well that is Prestons. 

 35 

MS OLIVER:   That is Prestons, that is right.  So these here additional setbacks 

are required from specific internal boundaries, and I should have 

amended that also to be within the South Masham area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So all right.  So that is what I found was lacking. 40 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So this provision in the ODP needs a rule to apply it? 

 45 

MS OLIVER:   It does. 
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MS DAWSON:   It is obviously not the consistency with the outline plan 

where we wouldn’t have accepted that, so it would need to be similarly 

to that G in Prestons? 

 5 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If it was going to be applied? 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is right.  And alternatively, we did consider putting the 10 

Prestons additional setbacks listed here, and then we, as I mentioned 

before, we decided we would keep them within the ODP narrative and 

because they were very area specific.  So similarly, the options are, in 

terms of drafting, we could re-write that rural rule here, or alternatively 

we can reference it here to the ODP. 15 

 

 The other option we considered was having a generic rule that said 

“additional setbacks are specified in some outline development plans” 

which give you a generic rule - - -  

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Because it is quite a few pages to read through to it. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, that is right.  So we went to a specific – we specifically 

have provided for them. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you for that.  That helps me understand.  

Now in paragraph 3.6 of your evidence, your evidence-in-chief, you 

say that all of the requests to go from rural to RNN are outside the 

urban area, or the map A, but perhaps I picked it up wrongly from 

Mr Laing’s opening, that there is a submission by Hay on Johns Road 30 

that may be inside the map A boundary.  There was one, I think you 

said all bar one. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 35 

MS OLIVER:   I think that would be clear in my attachment C, location of the 

rezoning maps.  So attachment C of my evidence-in-chief, the first 

page actually planning map 11 and you see I have got submitter – this 

is the submitter you are referring to, is 2595. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   That looks to be in about the right location. 

 

MS OLIVER:   You see there are a couple of access strips which are within the 

residential new neighbourhood.  We had to clarify this submission, it 

was not actually very clear and we believe that that is the land but the 45 

land that is shaded Rural Urban Fringe is outside so anything that is 
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zoned Rural Urban Fringe is outside a greenfield priority area, that is 

what it is based in and so what they in part sought or we believe we 

understood from this submission was some of the land but actually 

what they were seeking was all of that land to be - - - 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So the majority, the bulk of their land is outside the zone and 

in fact the access is already zoned so it does not need to be changed? 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is right. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So you are correct in what your understanding and - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Now if you just turn to paragraph 4.12 of your 15 

evidence, a submitter that has come up with us in the other hearings 

and it is – at the end of your paragraph where you say that the LURP 

and the RPS, well the bundle, I guess, are saying that these greenfield 

areas must be zoned to either Business or to Residential and the 

implication from you is that it should be zoned in this current plan 20 

whereas we have had previous evidence that it says well it is not quite 

as simple as that, that there could be a staged approach to it as 

infrastructure is available for example and that as long as there is not an 

undue delay and it is not causing the targets to be met that it does not 

actually have to happen now. 25 

 

MS OLIVER:   That is correct.  I mean certainly the other evidence I have 

given in preceding paragraphs is that we have sufficient to meet the 

targets, that is not the issue and staging of land and release has been 

considered – and I was involved in proposed change 1 for the Council 30 

as part of its team – and originally it was, we did have a staging. 

 

 What we found with that staging of land development and it was all to 

do with intensification, greenfield infill split, was that when the staging 

changed – and it was mainly based on infrastructure, it was the major 35 

highways, it was the major sewer upgrades – stormwater management 

was never an issue to stage landfill infrastructure because generally we 

can put that in place before development occurs so it was mainly to do 

with wastewater and roading transport, all the major to do with 

congestion. 40 

 

 We found that the infrastructure programmes changed significantly and 

even land developers would come forward with solutions to that 

particularly and Halswell West is a perfect example where all of that 

land was going to be in the latter years of our urban development 45 

strategy programme in terms of greenfield land release, and they came 
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up with the solution and we addressed all the matters of major 

constraint, so in my view relying on infrastructure programmes to stage 

land is not justified. 

 

 And then you turn to are there market reasons to, you know, to try and 5 

encourage intensification.  Well, I have not read enough evidence or 

seen enough analysis done on that to suggest that influencing the 

market in that way, it would be effective.  So that is just my personal 

position on that. 

 10 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:  So from your point of view although there may not be an 

absolute requirement to zone at all, all the Greenfields areas now, you 

can see no reason not to? 15 

 

MS OLIVER:  That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, thank you, that is all my general questions, thank 

you very much. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, we are running short on time and I do not have 

many questions, I just want to quickly come back to this reverse 

sensitivity matter, Ms Oliver.  One of the things I was struggling with 

in regard to this area was what policy direction are we following in 25 

dealing with reverse sensitivity?  Looking at that more closely, am I 

right to understand that the Regional Policy Statement policy 6.3.6 on 

business land is relevant to this where it refers to “ensures reverse 

sensitivity effects and conflicts between incompatible activities are 

identified and awarded or mitigated against”? 30 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So this is a form of business and for the purposes of that 

policy now then it comes to this sort of task before us.  You are 35 

effectively, I think, proposing a regime that would see that matter of 

reverse sensitivity addressed through rules effectively managed through 

the consenting process? 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, yes I am. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Another option for us to consider whether – well, it is 

relevant for us to consider though, isn’t it, the activity categorisation at 

this stage in terms of the same directive.  In other words, deciding 

whether or not there is a reverse sensitivity effect and conflict between 45 

incompatible activities actually alive before us on the evidence? 
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MS OLIVER:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Do you agree with that?  And that is where I struggle a 

little bit further because you have described what you called “best 5 

practice” but you did not actually help us any further than that other 

than refer to the Rural Urban Fringe zone.  What is your reference point 

in a document sense or in a policy sense to this concept of best 

practice?  The best practice of having this? 

 10 

MS OLIVER:  Okay, so I have taken my lead from the Rural chapter 

predominantly as a guide to where effects may arise and we require 

further consideration through a resource consenting process and I do 

not have in front of me but there is a particular in the Regional Air 

Plan, there is a rule – I wonder whether I did make reference to it but I 15 

am aware of a rule in the Regional Air Plan that sets a 200 metre 

setback from intensive farming to do with - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I think Ms Harte’s evidence to us is that her understanding 

is that the Tegel operation is operating as a permitted activity under that 20 

plan, is that your understanding? 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, yes in its current operations, I will just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And she appears to refer to that being as a consequence of 25 

when it was established, is that the nature of the rule, that it depends on 

when it was established as to whether or not you're permitted?  She 

says, “Given that it has been established prior to 2002”, is that things 

were established prior to that date that are permitted activities? 

 30 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, yes. 

 

MR LAING:  Your Honour, it is 4.3 of the rebuttal evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Oh, I apologise. 35 

 

MR LAING:  It might be an easy reference point. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I might have overlooked that. 

 40 

MS OLIVER:  Here we are, yes, rule 7.6.3. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So what is that? 

 

MS OLIVER:  So 4.3 of my rebuttal I do note rule 7.6.3 of the Canterbury Air 45 

Regional Plan. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Which refers to the 200? 

 

MS OLIVER:  200 metre setback. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  The other thing that – perhaps it is not a matter for you, it 

is perhaps a matter for the parties that are going to be calling evidence 

but it seems to me that we’ve got very little evidence from Tegel itself 

on the nature of its operation and really there is more evidence from 

Ms Harte as to that operation.  It is relevant, isn’t it, for us to 10 

understand the nature of that operation in order to understand whether 

or not there are conflicts likely to occur between incompatible activities 

rather than making it an assumption that they will occur. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 15 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I agree.  I mean, but so the position I was in was that there 

is a known poultry farm. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes but the nature of that poultry farm according to 20 

Ms Harte is one of a certain type rather than another type on another 

site.  She refers to it as one which does not typically generate odour 

effects of any significance, more or less. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   She refers to it as a certain type of operation. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Currently with rural land developed, yes, to the west but we are 

talking about urbanised, a lot more residents in close proximity to that 30 

poultry farm. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But what is your understanding of the poultry farm?  You 

have not been on site, you saw it from the street, you do not really 

know. 35 

 

MS OLIVER:   Quite correct and as I stated - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   They might be making Easter eggs or some other thing.  

We do not really know, do we?  We are just going on Ms Harte’s 40 

evidence.  Is that fair enough to say? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, that is fair enough and in my view a detailed odour 

assessment would have assisted greatly in this instance that they do 

take, and in my experience they do take matters such as prevailing 45 

wind, setback, the operation and they take all that - - -  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   None of which is before us really. 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, that is right.  So in absence of that I have gone to the 

Regional Plan and I have gone to what (INDISTINCT 1.25) - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS OLIVER:   - - - as guidance and that is all I have based mine on. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh well, perhaps Tegel can help us a bit further on that.  

All right well I do not have any further questions.  Any questions 

arising, now we just need to go through the list in the right order, 

starting with you, Ms Limmer? 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Pickering, any questions arising from our 

questions in regard to the areas that you asked about? 

 20 

MR PICKERING:   Your Honour I do have a question arising from one of the 

Panel questions but I am aware that time constraint - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well put the question, it is our job to deal with the time, it 

is your right to ask the question. 25 

 

MR PICKERING:   I could ask tomorrow when I am coming back to ask Ms - 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well this is your opportunity to ask the question of this 30 

witness. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR PICKERING [4.27 pm] 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay, just confirming, Ms Dawson asked you the question 35 

that there was no requirement to change these zones now and your 

answer was that is correct but there is no reason not to.  Am I correct? 

 

MS OLIVER:   My response was that I did not see there are any grounds to not 

(INDISTINCT 2.30) them at this stage. 40 

 

MR PICKERING:   Okay.  Do you include the Highfield area in that response? 

 

MS OLIVER:   I do. 

 45 
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MR PICKERING:   So the fact that the company has failed, there is no 

infrastructure planning in place, and nobody wants it is not sufficient 

reason? 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, I do not believe so. 5 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Pickering.  Right, Mr Cleary? 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So if you remain, Ms Oliver, under your present 

oath for what is going to happen next which is you are going to be 

joined by Mr Collins who will be re-sworn and then there will be 

questions put by the Panel of a drafting nature and then the opportunity 20 

for questions arising from that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Cleary, do you want to be excused? 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   This is an entirely different issue it is on behalf of Danne 

Mora. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   I notice Mr Brown there is nobody scheduled to cross-

examine him. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   If the Panel did not have any questions of Mr Brown I wonder 

whether - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, can I just check now, I do not have any myself.  40 

Well look we will check on that and come back to you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

45 
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<ANDREW COLLINS, on former affirmation [4.28 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We will let you know when we know, all right.  Okay, so 

under your former oath, now I think the questions were primary from 

Mr Willis and Ms Dawson but Mr Neill, any questions? 

 

MR NEILL:   No. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you.  Mr Willis?  Ms Dawson can you go 

first? 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we will just identify the witness that has been 

(INDISTINCT 4.34) 

 

MS DAWSON:   I do not know if I can do that because that is the point of 15 

having them both that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So the difficulty we have got here is that there 

is a joint responsibility for this draft.  If I could ask the witness to 

identify their – it will become obvious to the transcript but you might 20 

need to say, “I will answer that”, Ms Oliver, whatever, we will go for 

that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, so if we could just start, sorry I am working from the 

evidence-in-chief version just because that is what I have put my notes 25 

on but the pages will not be much different. 

 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

 My first question is you will not have seen the draft discussion version 30 

of the subdivision provisions that were put to the subdivision members 

of the Council staff, and we had a little hearing about, but would you be 

in a position when the subdivision decision comes out, to carefully look 

at the policies that are considered to be either applicable or not 

applicable to the RNN zone and make sure that there is consistency, 35 

that there are not gaps I guess, that something that you thought did not 

need to be applicable might need to be or vice versa, or that there does 

not seem to be some RNN amendments or additions to policies that 

might come out of the subdivision decision which do not refer to things 

that you thought they might? 40 

 

 So all of my question is – can you understand what I am talking about?   

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   And I think because that would be a helpful task for us.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Oliver. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much.  My next question, which is just a 

drafting one, is this use of the word “lost density” in policy 8.1.4.3A(2) 5 

and B – are you satisfied that the way that wording is used is clear 

enough to someone in five years’ time who is going to come back and 

look at this policy, for example?   

 

 As far as I can read, it just pops in at the end of 8.1.4.3A(2) and just 10 

says “the lost density is not required to be offset”.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Collins? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is that your drafting, Mr Collins? 15 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes.  Sorry, can I just check that you are talking about the 

policy here, or are you talking about the standard? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, the policy. 20 

 

MR COLLINS:   Policy.   

 

MS DAWSON:   It says “in residential areas the net density of 15 households 

per hectare shall be achieve”. 25 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then it says “in the areas shown on an outlined 

development plan”. 30 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And it just says “the lost density”. 

 35 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then so it is mentioned there, which is where the 

outlined plan say that the density can’t be achieved, and then it says 

that you can provide less than 15 but the lost density does need to be 40 

offset somewhere.  I guess I am asking you, do you think that wording 

is clear enough, or is that something that if you were given the 

opportunity to have another little go at it, that is something you could 

look at? 

 45 
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MR COLLINS:   I think I could look at that and come up with some slightly 

different wording? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean, does it just mean the difference between that 

whatever it is and 15? 5 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes.  So it appears twice actually in both A and also in B - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MR COLLINS:   - - - and it is wording that wasn’t initially there and was 

added I guess by collaboration through the mediation process, and I 

suspect we can come up with some improved wording.   

 

MS DAWSON:    Little but more clinical or - - -  15 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes.  

 

MS OLIVER:   May I suggest something immediately?  In the outlined 

development plans we talk about density variation, and then below that 20 

that is the link, so we could use the words, “how the variation in 

density will be offset” or “the variation to the 15 household per hectare 

requirement can be offset”.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Well we probably have not got time to resolve these all, but if 25 

that is something that you think could be looked at? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If we could turn to the standards please, the rules I mean – 30 

and right through to 8.2.3.1A.  And I guess what I am concerned about 

is consistency across the whole plan, not just this zone, with how 

outline plans are referred to.  Now, I know they are referred to as 

slightly differently like in the business zones I think they were talking 

about key structuring elements.  So I am not talking about that, it is just 35 

the wording, this one says “Subdivision shall provide for the 

development reserves infrastructure and other elements” and I think 

when it comes to the rule in the residential section it is, “An activity 

shall not result in an outcome that is inconsistent with”.   

 40 

  [4.35 pm] 

 

 I think in the Commercial zones it talks about “shall comply with” and 

other places it may well have other wording and so I would be grateful 

if a level of consistency is applied or if it is to be inconsistent that there 45 

is a very good reason for it.   
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 Have you turned your mind to that?  Have you turned your mind to the 

other chapters and to the consistency of wording and is there a reason 

why it is not consistent here?  

 5 

MS OLIVER:   So it is Ms Oliver.  I have actually had discussions with my 

colleagues on the use of the word “shall” and against the use of the 

word “will” and we have actually discussed this, looked at other district 

plans and where I am reaching is the fact that my understanding that we 

should not actually in drafting use the word “shall”, we should be using 10 

the word “will”.  So that is where I have got to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But that would be a big job across the whole plan. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Word search.  It could be done and I think actually in my view 15 

it should be done. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So putting the shall/will question to one side, there 

are numerous ways – have you turned your mind to the numerous way 

that consistency or compliance or whatever with the provisions of an 20 

outlying plan refer to in rules? 

 

MR COLLINS:   If I could answer that, I am Mr Collins, there is a different 

wording between the subdivision standard in 8.2.3.1A clause 1 and 

then I think the majority of the development requirements of the ODPs 25 

are to be provided for at the subdivision stage, so typically 

infrastructure elements or layout elements. 

 

 They are typically provided for by the subdivision whereas with the 

subsequent land use activities which may come along it is not so much 30 

a matter of them providing those development requirements but should 

they be anticipated in an area which has not yet been subdivided for 

example and it would be important that they are not going to result in 

an outcome inconsistent with the ODP. 

 35 

 So there is actually different wording there between chapter 8 and 

chapter 14 for that reason.  I am not familiar with the other chapters. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have not looked at chapter 15 and chapter 16? 

 40 

MR COLLINS:   But I am happy to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the other parts of chapter 14, I mean there are outline 

plans already in chapter 14 for West Halswell I think it is.  I am not 

saying that they should be consistent if there is a good reason not to be 45 

at the same time but not random inconsistencies. 
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 My next question and I know Mr Willis might well ask you some 

questions around this but I am concerned about the way that in 

number 2, 8.2.3.1A2, the residential net density, there is a mixture of 

standards in here and matters that create activity status, and as I 5 

understand the theory of the rules throughout this plan is that the 

activity status is in a table, the table is under 8.2.2 – there is a table of a 

list of controls and RDs and discretionary, et cetera, which then need to 

meet standards.  

 10 

 If those standards are not met there is another activity status specified 

in a table that says the status you are if you do not meet a standard, and 

when you read 2 some of it is not even really specified as standards like 

a developer may identify higher densities in letter E for example, now 

that is not really in as a standard and then it drops down into for 15 

example E4 on the one I am looking at, it might be E3 now. 

 

MR COLLINS:   D3. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it starts talking about D3 whereas D3 really is already 20 

mentioned in the rules.  So I know this has probably been designed by a 

group, what I would like to see is some thought given and I do not 

know whether you can fill me in why this has not happened, the clear 

distinction between something that is a standard and if it is a standard it 

is written as a standard and if that standard is to be not met then the 25 

activity status is referred to in one of the tables, can you sort of brief 

me about how this got to be like it is? 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 30 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I will try and answer that, it is Mr Collins for the record.  

I take your point entirely and by and large they should be separate and 

relatively easy fixed in this situation.  Sorry, I have got the rebuttal 

version in front of me and you have got primary evidence. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   I have got them both here 

 

MR COLLINS:   Okay, but I am looking at the rebuttal version, clause 2 and it 

is D3 where the land nominated for future higher density is not 

included as a part of a subdivision application.  The application will be 40 

assessed as a discretionary activity under the rule D3.  That could 

easily be deleted from here, that is the standard and included in the 

discretionary activity rule section and I think structurally that would be 

better. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I think so because it does not actually apply to this particular 

subdivision, it is actually a subsequent subdivision so it needs to be 

dealt with as an activity in its own right. 

 

MR COLLINS:   I would be happy to redraft something there. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Similarly even E it should really say something like where 

the density is less than 15 the following shall apply because you can 

have a density that is less than 15 as long as there is the written 

approval, a legal instrument and that is actually a standard that can be 10 

complied with and if that is not complied with then you will have a 

default status which is RD2A or something like that. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, that could well require some further looking at as well 

but the reason for 4E is that clause D applies to the, if you like, under 15 

density subdivision so it is when the initial subdivider is coming along 

seeks to if you like, transfer the density requirement to another piece of 

land an another state, so clause D would be the standards that apply to 

that under density subdivision.  What I felt was necessary was when 

that later time comes along for that later land - - -  20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry I have muddled you by talking about the numbering 

from the evidence-in-chief version, I am talking about D. 

 

MR COLLINS:   You are talking about D? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   D, yes, your D, yes sorry. 

 

MR COLLINS:   I am more than happy to look at redrafting D. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   D is a standard in its own right, it allows you to have less 

under density provided certain things happen, that should be written as 

a standard and then if you try to be, a subdivision comes along that is 

under the density of 15 and does not do 1 and 2 then there should be a 

default position in the activity tables that tells you where to go. 35 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I note that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, now I asked you earlier because just turning 

back to, oh sorry, I will get the right numbering here, what was B, C 40 

and D which is now the B that is crossed out and the second B and the 

C have you had, Mr Collins have you had any, even in the rebuttal 

version, the previous B is still there, it is just crossed out, have you 

given any thought as to whether the situations in B, the second B and C 

are all separate discrete standards?  I think I raised with you earlier 45 
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whether in your view the new C does actually repeat or stand in the 

same position as the crossed out B. 

 

  [4.45 pm] 

 5 

MR COLLINS:  What I believe, yeah, C does kind of state the same thing as 

the crossed out B and that is why B was deleted because it felt like 

there was a bit of duplication there, so what C say in my opinion and I 

have checked the Prestons ODP in the time since we asked the question 

and it is quite clear in that ODP narrative that the minimum density of 10 

13 applies throughout the ODP areas and then there is some specific 

density A and B areas where alternative densities apply again.  So the 

ODP is quite clear on that requirement and, therefore, I think this 

standard is quite clear that would prevail. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:  Okay, that is fine, thank you very much.  You might know 

about this, I just noted there are some areas like there is an area in 

southeast Belfast called Area 1A.  There is a higher density area in 

Awatea, there are no density areas that I can see on the ODP for 

Yaldhurst and yet from these rules it looks there are, how familiar are 20 

you with all the different areas of each of the ODPs to be sure that all 

the ODPs are very clear when C would apply because I know some of 

them you have, where they have got specific density areas, you say, 

when B would apply I mean, the development constraints ones would 

apply and why Yaldhurst is in here as having some different density 25 

areas when I could not see them on the plan.  I mean, is that something 

that could do with a good trawl through and having a look for?   

 

MS OLIVER:  Yaldhurst, so when we looked at Yaldhurst and through 

mediation and looked at the Living G rules and Ms Reeves was also 30 

very much integral in the identification of these different density areas 

but I will do my best, we looked at Yaldhurst and actually thought that 

the rules in this package provided sufficient flexibility to give them that 

range of housing density.  We did not really need any specific sort of 

density A and B but then through the mediation there were some areas 35 

where it was requested, you know, it was demonstrated to us that they 

had consented development and it would compromise that so that is 

why we have included specific mention of  some of those areas in the 

rules. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:  But they are not shown on the ODP that I can see, on the plan. 

 

MS OLIVER:  No, that is because they are actually in the consented, they are 

in the consent notice as part of the subdivision consent, so that is why I 

have included the words “or shown on a subdivision consent process”, 45 

now that was the mechanism that I wanted to be, I wanted to give them 
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an either/either or.  For Ngai Tahu property and CDL, they preferred it 

being shown on the map.  Others did not have that view so I have 

included both. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So I was wondering with this on an approved subdivision 5 

consent are you meaning that to be something that is approved as of 

now? 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, they are approved now. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:  So should there be a date or something?  I mean, you are not 

intending that if someone came along at a later date for say a 

discretionary or non-complying activity consent and got it later that 

they, I mean, it is not going to be retrospective is it?  Something that is 

- - - 15 

 

MS OLIVER:  No, no, I mean, they are approved and for the most part they are 

almost developed or designed and redevelopment of these sites - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:  So that is not going to happen though? 20 

 

MS OLIVER:  No. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So but it is really about ones that are approved as of now? 

 25 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And are they the same, is this the same as some of the rules 

that you have added in where you've actually put in the consent 

numbers in for Yaldhurst? 30 

 

MS OLIVER:  Yes, Yaldhurst is that, yeah, there is a particular consent that – 

now the alternative provided to me was an exhaustive rule, it was a 

very complex rule put forward so I chose not to include the complex 

rule. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:  So in the residential, I think it is in the built form standards 

you've referred to that particular - - - 

 

  [4.50 pm] 40 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you for that.  I think we have talked about the matters 

of control and matters of discretion – I have raised that with 45 

Mr Collins.  I mean, I could probably go on for ages.  Just while I am 
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still on subdivision, if you look at number 4, minimum – sorry, I am in 

the wrong one – number 3, land area for subdivision.   

 

 Again this is another one of these things where I wonder whether under 

3A and 3B you have got like in 3A you have got no minimum applies 5 

for restricted discretionary activities.  Is there a need for that part of the 

rule?  Wouldn’t that be automatic? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   You know, if you do not meet the minimum you are 

automatically – because, and this is what I mean by the muddling of 

activity standards with activity status and to have it nice and clean 

where there is no question about how it all works.  In number 4 it has 

got “minimum lot size residential lots”.  Why are lost words there?  15 

What is a residential lot? 

 

MR COLLINS:   This is lot - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, this is minimum lot size. 20 

 

MR COLLINS:   In the heading? 

 

MS DAWSON:   And in the heading it has got “(residential lots)”.  I mean, it 

only applies in the RNN zone.  Does it mean that there will be some 25 

other lots other than residential lots that these lot sizes will not apply 

to?  Well how are we going to know what they are? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Access rules? 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   At a subdivision stage.  But hey are provided for separately. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Well utility lots comes into my mind but possibly - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   But they are provided for separately in the main. 35 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes.  I would have no problem if “(residential lots)” was 

deleted.  It is probably a given.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I mean boundary adjustments - - -  40 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:    - - - adjustments of types of title, access, utility, they are all 

provided for separately in the main subdivision rules. 45 
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MR COLLINS:   Yes, I would be comfortable if those words were deleted. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If we could just look at the residential section for a minute, 

and then I will try and – you have made some changes that are different 

I guess from the main residential zones.  For example, in the bed and 5 

breakfast activity you have deleted “at least one owner of the 

residential unit shall reside permanently on the site” and you have 

taken out a whole lot of the outdoor advertising standards.  You have - 

- - -  

 10 

MR COLLINS:   (INDISTINCT 3.30)  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, in several of them, P6 you have added in a duration of 

no more than 90 consecutive days for temporary military training.  Can 

you just tell me why you have made those changes and what is the 15 

scope for doing that?  I mean, where did that come from? 

 

MR COLLINS:   So the – and you will appreciate the majority of this has been 

done prior to the Panel releasing its decisions on Residential Stage 1, 

although upon receiving that I have tried to go - - -  20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I have seen that, thank you for highlighting that.   

 

MR COLLINS:   - - - and make some changes, but maybe not everything has 

been picked up. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. 

 

MR COLLINS:   But the signage one - - -  

 30 

MS DAWSON:   It is really the deletions. 

 

MR COLLINS:   - - - the signage one, for example I understand there was a 

move to include that in a separate general rule section relating to 

advertising.  So it was not that the requirements were not going to be 35 

there, but that they were going to be picked up in general rules.  So you 

know, that was - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Right.  That may be the case.   

 40 

MR COLLINS:   That was the intention there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What about the bed and breakfast one? 

 

MR COLLINS:   P2? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   P2, yes.   

 

MR COLLINS:   I think it ought to be entirely consistent with your decision on 

Stage 1.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   There is no reason for it? 

 

MR COLLINS:   There is no reason for it to be different, so I should correct 

that if it is different.   

 10 

MS DAWSON:   I cannot remember, but - - -  

 

MR COLLINS:   I can find out, I have got your decision here, but - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And I notice you have made some other changes so 15 

I mean that is all helpful, thank you very much.  

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 

 So the other one I was concerned about is P19 and I think Ms Reeves 20 

might have helped me with this.  So this is a commercial local centre, it 

says “identified on an approved subdivision consent within an Outline 

Development Plan”.  I found that wording unusual because there is no 

such thing as a subdivision consent within an outline development plan 

and all of the RMN is in an outline plan, has outline plans.   25 

 

 And Ms Reeves said that the commercial local centres that are not 

already zoned are not on their own plans anyway now, so how does this 

work, this P19? 

 30 

MS OLIVER:   It is Ms Oliver, I will respond to that.  A P19 in fact we do not 

actually need the words “identified on an approved subdivision consent 

within an Outline Development Plan”, I think the rule would work as 

effectively in a Residential New Neighbourhood Zone because it has 

the activity standards which it needs to meet so it is – yeah.   35 

 

 If someone seeks to establish it, they will establish it and they will be 

subject to those rules. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is a local centre sites defined? 40 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I sought advice from Mr Stevenson on that and he referred 

me to the definition of a local centre or the rules. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, that may be something to have a look at because I have 

a feeling that the local centre might be defined by reference to its 

zoning and this will not be zoned. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, sorry, and in the section 32 assessment it refers to a local 5 

centre.  I definitely conferred with Mr Stevenson on that size and I 

would have to go back through my background information. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, and then P20, no, that is all right, I think P20 is written 

differently.  So I suppose what I want to say is P19 and P20 are both 10 

taking a set of rules from another chapter and applying them into a 

particular activity in this chapter but they are written differently and it 

would be quite nice to see some sort of consistency and approach.   

 

 How do you pick up some rules from another chapter and apply them 15 

to a particular activity in this chapter without repeating the rule, and 

maybe that is something that you could have a look at just as a 

consistent way of formatting those rules. 

 

 And then, sorry, so I just need to pop through to the C2, commercial 20 

residential developments.  What about the fire fighting water supply 

standard for example, is not applied which is routine (ph 3.38) 6.3.16.  

I am just concerned that some of the more important rules that we have 

received evidence about are becoming guidance rather than standards.   

 25 

 Are you satisfied that – I think it is 15 actually, water supply for 

firefighting for example, something that should just be a guidance on 

comprehensive developments, how comprehensively have you checked 

the rules? 

 30 

MR COLLINS:   Well I think fairly comprehensively but I think on this point 

you are correct to note that an area which you would not – well it 

should be a standard, not a guidance.  I approach this on the basis that 

those types we generally picked up at the subdivision stage so this with 

a comprehensive (INDISTINCT 4.59) that also requires a subdivision 35 

consent and there is really quite a full suite of standards that still apply 

so I did not see that being missed out. 

 

  [5.00 pm] 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   It has to be joint. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and was that the same with 40 and 6.3.16 which is 45 

consistent you will see with the outline development plan?  I mean that 
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is not a standard but are you again saying that you are satisfied that that 

will be picked up at the subdivision stage anyway? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I guess what I was thinking would be sufficient there is when 

I look at the matters of discretion, anyway we have got 14.9.25A, it is 5 

something that would be considered as part of an indication there.  So I 

did not see it as being a loophole that the ODP would not be considered 

with comprehensive residential developments.  But on reflection of 

your question, I equally would not, I think it could well be appropriate 

if both standards 15 and 16 were added to the required standards for 10 

comprehensive residential developments. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Semple, can I just ask you – we are clearly about three 

quarters of an hour behind time which means that Oakvale and 

Canterbury, which was scheduled to start about now, will be I think 15 

fortunate if we can get to Mr Lewis today.   

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes.  I anticipated this, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would your preference be to come back tomorrow?  Just 20 

so that you do not have to sit around forever only to find you are 

coming back tomorrow anyway. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I do not think she can. 

 25 

MS SEMPLE:  No, I can, I can.  I can make arrangements to come back 

tomorrow.  I noted that tomorrow you had the 10.00 am start and I 

wondered whether if we - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Start at 9.30? 30 

 

MS SEMPLE:   - - - if we could start earlier if that might - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When could you start tomorrow? 

 35 

MS SEMPLE:   I could start as early as the Panel was able to start. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   The earlier the better if at all possible. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Mr Laing, would it be a problem if we – I will 

check with the Panel but subject to that would it be a problem if you 

started at nine tomorrow? 

 45 
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MR LAING:   No.  I have got a meeting scheduled to deal with the issues 

arising with Mr Norton for 8.30. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR LAING:   I can make it by 9.15. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Well if we start at 9.15? 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is fine with me. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is important we get through this exercise in terms of the 

detail as well as the parties’ positions.  I am sorry but this is just the 

way it goes sometimes.  So we will start at 9.15 tomorrow with you and 

then we will go from there. 15 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, Ms Dawson. 

 20 

 The matter of how we ask these questions has been troubling the Panel 

a little bit.  One suggestion was made earlier in the day and I am 

wondering if I could come back to it, it seems more attractive.  It might 

be annoying for the parties a little bit but if we were to put some of 

these propositions in a minute and have the questions tested as a result 25 

of that, I wonder if parties would be more happy with that.  It would 

mean that we would get through the business more quickly.  

 

 I have got a few drafting questions, in some ways I would prefer to put 

them in a minute as well rather than have them tested viva voce like 30 

this which will take a bit more time, Mr Willis’ to come.  Would parties 

prefer that if the panel was to seek to issue a minute for this purpose, it 

may be to have to recall the witnesses.  Parties have the ability to ask 

questions arising if they wish, but on remaining matters I am 

wondering whether we might do that and have that minute issued some 35 

time tomorrow for the purposes of Wednesday.  Any views on that? 

 

 The difficulty the Panel has is that in the end we have got to deliver on 

a detailed plan of which we are about to issue one decision and where 

there are various matters of detailed drafting so my proposition would 40 

be that we put the pause button on this questioning now, we have the 

witnesses available to recall following the issuing of a minute on 

questions.   

 

 Mr Laing, have you got any thoughts on that?  I am just mindful that 45 

we could take another hour on this. 
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MR LAING:   Yes, your honour, certainly these witnesses can be available on 

Wednesday.  The only issue would be questions that the Panel may 

have on matters that were going to be the subject of evidence tomorrow 

and it might be useful that those sort of questions are dealt with now 5 

and I am not certain whether there are any but there is a number of 

discrete outstanding issues. 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no the only one that will also, I will just check on 

that because I do not think I have got any of that character myself so 

they are very much better ways of saying the same thing in terms of 

words, that is all. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I have tried to ask my questions about the matters that 

are in contention directly to the witnesses previously.  These are really 

just drafting matters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and it is all just obviously subject to our having to 20 

determine those matters in contention, it is really to make sure that on 

the proposition be advanced by the Council we have the best drafting 

for our deliberation purposes. 

 

MR LAING:   Well certainly I think that would help the witnesses to have 25 

those questions dealt with and at least some opportunity to think about 

those questions before. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well what I will do is I will confer with the 

Panel members and try to get a minute out at some stage tomorrow.  I 30 

will do my very best for that and I think, I will just check with Mr 

Willis, are you happy with that? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, all right, so in which case has that last question 

been fully answered?  I think it has? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think so. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will have a look at the transcript. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Anyway we will put it in the minute. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you both for your help today, you are now 45 

free to go. 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank You. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Free to go again.  In the circumstances I do not think any 

party would have any issue with you being free to talk to your client on 5 

these drafting matters.  They are really just about how to say things and 

then I think we will now move to, so you are now free to go for the 

moment and that brings us to the Crown’s case. 

 

<THE WITNESSES WITHDREW [5.06 pm] 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, if I may be excused for the rest of the day? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly and I think we will just continue to go 

through to our scheduled intended finish so that we can try to catch up 15 

a little bit.  Ms White we have read your opening so a matter for you 

whether you wish to summarise on that quite correctly on the basis that 

we are fully familiar with the relatively narrow points in contention. 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, unless the Panel had any questions I was just going to 20 

proceed to call Ms McIntyre? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think that would be good.  I think Mr Laing was 

also helpful in bringing those matters to our attention as well. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   My apologies, your Honour, I wonder if I could be excused? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you can and you got your message from the 

Secretariat that we do not need Mr Brown, his evidence can go on the 

record. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 35 
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<SANDRA JEAN McINTYRE, affirmed [5.07 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [5.07 pm] 

 

MS WHITE:   Your full name is Sandra Jean McIntyre? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MS WHITE:   You have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 16 December 2015 

and rebuttal evidence dated 23 December 2015 in these proceedings? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   That is correct. 10 

 

MS WHITE:   You have the qualifications and experience set out in paragraph 

1.3 of your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes. 15 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you have corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Just one correction, in attachment SJM2 which includes my 

recommended implements, in the second row of the table the 20 

amendment to policy 8.1.4.1A7 that I have identified there has a 

typographical error.  Now this provision has also been referred to in my 

evidence-in-chief at 6.5 and it is correctly typed there.  It has also been 

correctly translated into the revised proposal so this error is just in 

relation to this table. The error is that on the third line of my 25 

recommended amendments, there is a strike through over the words 

“and will guide” that should not be there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so the words “and will guide” become restored 

basically. 30 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 35 

  [5.10 pm] 

 

MS WHITE:  Subject to that change, do you confirm that the content of your 

evidence is true and correct? 

 40 

MS McINTYRE:  Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:  Would you please read your highlights package and remain 

seated for questions. 

 45 
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MS McINTYRE:  My evidence summarises the Crown’s submissions on the 

Residential New Neighbourhood zone and I appreciate the constructive 

approach taken by the Council in the revision of the provisions to the 

zone. This has resulted in most of the Crown’s concerns being 

satisfactorily resolved. There are only two remaining matters that I 5 

wish to highlight. 

 

 The first is the activity status for non-compliance with outline 

development plans. This is addressed in paragraph 7.5 of my 

evidence-in-chief.  The revised proposal makes the activity status for 10 

non-compliance with an outline development plan a discretionary 

activity. My opinion is that the requirements of the ODPs are now 

sufficiently confined and the scope of effects of non-compliance is 

sufficiently clear to make full discretion unnecessary.   

 15 

 Mr Collins, in his rebuttal evidence, supports discretionary activity 

status in part because the revised proposal does not provide for 

notification of restricted discretionary activities.  In my evidence I 

acknowledge the limited notification is likely to be appropriate in 

relation to non-compliance with some ODP requirements and I have 20 

recommended an attachment SJN2 an amendment to rule 8.2.2.2RD2A 

to provide for this.   

 

 Just reading from that attachment I have suggested a clause under the 

activity column of RD2A that says “Any application arising from 25 

non-compliance with standards for consistency with an ODP shall not 

be publicly notified but may be subject to limited notification and that 

is necessary because there is a general rule across the zone that says 

that except where otherwise identified there will be no notification or 

written approval required”.  I just wanted to highlight that because it 30 

was not apparent in Mr Collins’ evidence that he had actually noticed 

that that was there so just to make sure that you notice it.   

 

 In addition to that, I do not consider that the question of notification 

should determine the appropriate activity status as a separate 35 

consideration. 

 

 The second matter is the matters for discretion.  I have discussed this in 

section 8 of my evidence-in-chief. In that evidence I recommend 

amendments to the matters of discretion in 14.9.26 to align these with 40 

Stage 1 Residential Decision although the Residential New 

Neighbourhood provisions have been ring-fenced to enable the revision 

that has been undertaken. The final provisions will need to be 

integrated back into the broader framework of Chapter 8 and 

Chapter 14 and I consider the alignment of the matters for discretion 45 
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will make it easier to do this.  Essentially that is my only highlights 

remaining. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Ms McIntyre.  Mr Laing. 

 5 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [5.13 pm] 

 

MR LAING:  Ms McIntyre, let us start with your attachment SJN2 and you 

have consistent with your view that non-compliance with an ODP 

should be a restricted discretionary standard you have proposed a new 10 

notification rule.  In that proposed rule you say “should not be publicly 

notified but may be subject to limited notification”, isn’t it possible that 

there may be effects beyond limited notification to adjoining owners? 

 

MS McINTYRE:  The limited notification may not, may possibly not be just to 15 

adjoining owners, there may be other people such as infrastructure 

providers who are affected parties. I think that I cannot think of a 

circumstance I which you would not be able to clearly identify who are 

the potentially affected parties who should be directly notified through 

a limited notification. 20 

 

MR LAING:  You say that you cannot identify those parties but would it not be 

better to leave that opportunity to the Council to decide whether it 

should be limited notified or fully notified?  Isn’t the better option? 

 25 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

MS McINTYRE:   No, I do not agree that it is.  I think that there is sufficient 

certainty about the type of affects you are dealing with that there should 

be no need to do that.  And in addition to that I would say that the 30 

matters that are subject to the requirements of the ODPs are generally 

matters that are either going to affect the people who are if not 

adjoining certainly in very close vicinity to that area of the subdivision 

or else are going to be the council or other infrastructure providers. 

 35 

MR LAING:   Well you might say that but what about for instance roading 

patterns, access that could affect other residents in the area? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   We are only talking about the access points and I would of 

thought, well, I would consider that that is a matter that the Council can 40 

deal with or NZTA depending on who is the appropriate roading 

authority in relation to that. 

 

MR LAING:   So what you are really saying is that it leaves a lot of ringer to 

the Council to identify who might be affected by a non-compliance in 45 

the ODP.  It could be the wider public in terms of access points, 
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cycling, a number of matters so how do you rationalise that with 

limited notification status? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I do not think the matters that the Council would be having 

to look at are different from the matters that they will anyway be 5 

looking at themselves without public notification.  I do not see that 

there is a need for public notification where people may have an 

interest which is greater than the Council would anyway be dealing 

with as part of its responsibilities. 

 10 

MR LAING:   Can I just come back to the example of the access point for a 

connector road.  How would that be resolved if there was a wider issue 

there in terms of road safety?  It may affect other residents nearby, 

across the road or nearby. 

 15 

MS McINTYRE:   Well the people who are immediately nearby could be 

included in limited notification and I would expect that the Council 

would anyway be burying the broader considerations in mind itself. 

 

MR LAING:   The broader considerations in mind? 20 

 

MS McINTYRE:   In terms of whether there are any issues. 

 

MR LAING:   You are saying, Ms McIntyre, I understand your answer, that it 

is only going to be people who identify as adjacent or perhaps NZTA 25 

or something like that who would be subject to limited notification.  

My question to you, is it not possible that there are wider 

considerations that the public generally may have an interest in if there 

is a noncompliance with an ODP? 

 30 

MS McINTYRE:   Never say never, I think it is extremely unlikely, that is as 

far as I can go.  I think it is extremely unlikely. 

 

MR LAING:   Well even if it is extremely unlikely, is it not better to have a 

rule that does not preclude such notification at this stage? 35 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I do not think there is a greater need to take that cautious 

approach with this rule than there is with a number of other rules in the 

plan in which notification is limited. 

 40 

MR LAING:   Compliance with an ODP is a very important element of both 

the objectives and policies and rules in chapter 8, isn’t it? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, it is. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   And just erring on the side of caution, do you accept that it 

would be better to leave that former discretion to the Council rather 

than artificially limit it in the way that you are describing? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I am sorry, I am not sure what you are asking me. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Well I ask you whether – and you agree – well noncompliance 

of a ODP is a very important issue both in terms of the objectives and 

policies and the rules, do you agree? 

 10 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   So isn’t it better that that matter is then left to the Council’s 

discretion as full discretionary status even if it is fairly unlikely that it 

will be needed? 15 

 

MS McINTYRE:   You are talking about leaving the discretion about the 

matter of notification to the Council? 

 

  [5.20 pm] 20 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, sorry, yes. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   The problem with doing that, with fully opening out the 

potential for public notification is that it does not provide the certainty 25 

to the developers about having a reasonably streamline process.  

However having said that I acknowledge that if there are clear reasons 

why notification should not be limited, if there is evidence of broader 

effects that could not be addressed by limited notification, and I would 

say that I have not seen that so far, then I would accept that the 30 

limitation on notification is not essential.  This could still be a restricted 

discretionary activity with provision for full notification. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  So if I can just move on to a slightly different topic, from 

my understanding you are not intending for a limited discretionary, 35 

restricted discretionary status for non-compliance of density? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   No, I am not. 

 

MR LAING:   No, so you differ from Mr Jones in that respect? 40 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes I do. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you.  If I can just go to, again just ask you some 

more questions about this issue about consistency with the ODP.  45 

Under the Council’s revised proposal, do you accept that subdivision 
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applications that are consistent with the ODP and meet all other 

standards may nevertheless be restricted discretionary activities 

anyway?   

 

MS McINTYRE:   Subdivisions that are consistent with the ODP - - - 5 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, depending on the area covered. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Oh, if they fall below the four hectare minimum, yes. 

 10 

MR LAING:   Yes.  So just following from that, there will be subdivisions 

where an area say of less than four hectares, that will comply with the 

development requirements around an ODP but will still have to be 

assessed as restricted discretionary.  That is correct, isn’t it? 

 15 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  So is it not anomalous then that you contend for a similar 

status where there is non-compliance with the ODP? 

 20 

MS McINTYRE:   I do not believe that it is. My understanding of the 

distinction between a restricted discretionary activity and a 

discretionary activity is related to what level of certainty you have 

about the scope of effects, the type of effects that are going to happen 

and whether those effects can be identified clearly in matters for 25 

discretion. 

 

MR LAING:   Just going back to what Mr Collins said about sending the 

signal.  Is that not an unusual situation to have a subdivision which 

does not comply with ODP development standards having the same 30 

status as one that does?  Is that not an unusual situation? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I do not see why, no. 

 

MR LAING:   You do not see why?   35 

 

MS McINTYRE:   And I may just add in terms of, if the intent is to send a 

signal that non-compliances with an outline development plan would 

be something exceptional, and I do not agree that they are, but if that 

were the signal that were going to be sent then the logical conclusion of 40 

that line of logic would be that non-compliance with an ODP should be 

non-complying rather than discretionary, and that is not what has been 

suggested. 
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MR LAING:   No, but do you not agree that if Mr Collins is right about 

sending the signal then restricted discretionary, full discretionary 

standard would be more appropriate? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Not necessarily, no. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Can I ask you some questions about rule 14.9.25.  Now as I 

understand the process here, there was considerable discussion about 

this at conferencing and mediation and without going into what 

happened at those events, there was a general view, was there not, that 10 

all those matters should be in one place, so all those matters which are 

now in 14, 9 and 25, should be located in one place for easy access for 

people understanding the plan? 

 

  [5.25 pm] 15 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I do not know that I would go so far as to say there was a 

general agreement without any qualifications. Certainly the way I 

approached this was that the New Neighbourhood zone had been 

separated out from the larger context of the both chapter 8 and 20 

chapter 14 in order to be able to look at it and get it sorted out so it was, 

it had to be ring fenced for the purposes of this process. 

 

 Looking at in that way there was the opportunity to deal with things as 

a sort of holistic thing and putting everything in one place, however, I 25 

have always been aware that at some point this was going to have to be 

integrated back into the broader chapters and was not going to need to 

fit with that, and this is why I made comments a number of times 

throughout the thing as to whether various matters should sit in the 

subdivision chapter or the residential chapter and where the policy 30 

should sit and what policies should be ring fenced and ones should be 

referring back to the other ones. 

 

 Certainly in my view the position was not as black and white as your 

question would suggest. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Your position that you are now adopting in your rebuttal 

evidence is a very late entry, is it not? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   My position in my rebuttal evidence is essentially that with 40 

the decision on the Stage 1 Residential chapter, we now have to look at 

the provisions that relate to the New Neighbourhood zone within what 

is a slightly different framework to what we were looking at it before. 

 

 In terms of the process that we went through in working with the 45 

Council and the parties on revising the New Neighbourhood provision, 
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I supported the simplification that Mr Collins achieved in relation to 

the matters for discretion and I still commend him on the job he did in 

simplifying those. 

 

 However, we are now sitting with a broader Residential chapter in 5 

which a slightly different approach has been taken.  I think if we were 

to continue with a sort of a blinkered approach in saying we need to 

stick with these things that we have developed through the mediation 

process without looking at how that relates to the broader framework, 

then we potentially run into problems with people then saying, “Well 10 

why have we got different wording here than we have got in relation to 

essentially the same considerations elsewhere in the Residential zone?  

Is there a real reason for that and is that a reason that we need to assess 

in detail through the consent processes?” and so on.   

 15 

 In my view, it is much clearer and much more certain for people if we 

align these matters for discretion with those that have been released 

through the decision on stage 1. 

 

MR LAING:   The matters in 14.9.25 are currently standalone and in your view 20 

comprehensive? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   So with this your point of view, why would you then want to 25 

move to cross referencing to other provisions when these matters on 

your own admission are comprehensive? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Because they are addressing exactly the same matters but 

with slightly different wording and I think when you start to do that it 30 

gives room for confusion or uncertainty about what the intent of the 

different wording is and I think that it is better to avoid that if possible.  

 

 Now, whether the way in which I have recommended it be done is the 

best way, I certainly would not be confident there is not a better way to 35 

do it.  This was my attempt to get alignment but there may be other 

ways of doing it. 

 

  [5.30 pm] 

 40 

MR LAING:   Well if the original philosophy at least from the Council’s point 

of view and some of the other submitters was that it would be best to 

have a standalone provision here can that not be simply achieved by 

some wording changes if you have concerns? 

 45 
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MS McINTYRE:   Another way of doing it would be to duplicate the wording 

within the provision, that would be a possibility. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and are you still prepared to work with Mr Collins to sort 

that out? 5 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Perfectly happy to work with Mr Collins. 

 

MR LAING:   So that is all thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Mr Laing, any questions? 

 

MR NEILL:   Ms McIntyre just a couple of questions with regard to the 

Riccarton Racecourse ODP, can I better understand why you do not 

support landscaping treatments with regard to the electricity 15 

distribution lights? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   What I do not support is inclusion of those, of the provision 

that is in there as a development requirement.  I have no problem with 

it being identified in the context with other similar matters as a design 20 

principle that needs to be considered, but I think that is different from 

making it a development requirement that triggers the standard in 

relation to non compliance with the ODP.   

 

 I think the wording that the Council has put in is particularly 25 

problematic in terms of making it a requirement that say that measures 

may be needed to do that.  There is no certainty about that.  I think it 

sits much more easily with the other design principles and as a 

requirement and I note that doing that would be consistent with the way 

similar matters have been approached in other ODPs and I think Mr 30 

Jones’ evidence refers to some of those. 

 

MR NEILL:   As I understand it the transmission line follows the southern 

boundary right across the southern boundary. 

 35 

MS McINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MR NEILL:   In other subdivisions bunds have been required as a break surely 

some form of beautification should be something to encourage rather 

than - - -  40 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I agree that that there may be, that it is certainly something 

that should be considered in a subdivision and that it could potentially 

be the subject of conditions on that subdivision.  I think that is different 

from making it a requirement, making a specific, well actually the 45 

provisions in there are not very specific but making it something that 
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triggers a different activity status. If it was sitting in the design 

principles which sit about the development requirements in the ODP, 

then the Council would still have the ability to look at it in relation to 

its matters of control in setting conditions on the subdivision, I think 

that would be entirely appropriate. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   You have also indicated that you do not support some method of 

crossing the shoot by way of some form of roading can you indicate 

your reason - - -  

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:    I think that matter might be resolved, Mr Neill now.  It is 

fully resolved Mr Penny it not being recalled anymore. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay, that is fine, that is how it should be.  Right, that is mine, 

thanks. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Neill, Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Ms McIntyre I have just a couple of questions for you, the next 

issue of RDA versus discretion and sorry to raise it with you again, we 20 

have got to get to the bottom of it.  Mr Collins early this morning in 

answer to questions reminded me that compliance with the ODP is a 

RPS policy 6.3.3 matter that issue alone, the fact that one has got that 

status in imperative there is that a matter that you think ought to 

influence consent status is this case, reflected in the consent status? 25 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I think that depends on the way in which the policy is given 

effect to in the plan.  In this case the way policy is given effect to is that 

we have a policy which specifies what needs to be ODP and that policy 

is implemented by listing the various requirements that are in the ODP 30 

so I think that in terms of the flow through of giving effect to the RPS 

policy I think there is enough certainty provided in the development 

requirements of the ODP that there is no need to refer back to the RPS 

policy in relation to it.   

 35 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

 I think it can – because all the requirements in there and each of the 

requirements is actually, does fall within the scope of the matters for 

discretion.  I think that the requirement to provide for the requirements 40 

in the RPS can be considered through the matters for discretion if that 

makes sense. 

 

MR WILLIS:  It does but I again, I think it was probably a slightly different 

answer to the question I was putting which was I think Mr Laing 45 

mentioned a bit earlier the question of, I guess, the signalling of the 
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importance of this requirement to comply.  Is that been given effect to 

through an (INDISTINCT 1.03) discretionary but it is restricted 

discretionary, I guess that is the point of contention here. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  I do not think that is necessarily the case and in relation to 5 

that and I have been thinking about this a little bit today but I am a little 

concerned that given what I have just sort of described about the way 

that I see the RPS policy being given effect to, now if I am right and 

that it is appropriately given effect to in that way then if you then 

provide for a broader consideration of the policy outside that it is quite 10 

open ended and it suggests essentially that the way the plan has been 

constructed has not given effect to the RPS policy and I am not entirely 

sure where that takes you in terms of the assessment. 

 

MR WILLIS:  Yeah, I take your point, okay, thank you.  Let us just move on 15 

then to the second question, the final question I had for you which is in 

relation to 14.9.25 and this final matter H. I think you are still 

suggesting that ought to be deleted. I think that is a point you've moved 

on. 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:  Yes, no I have not moved on yet. 

 

MR WILLIS:  So the matters that are set out in those built form standards, are 

you suggesting that they are not matters that ought to be of – given 

consideration to and potentially controlled in a comprehensive 25 

Residential Development application?  

 

MS MCINTYRE:  No, I am not suggesting that at all.  I am suggesting that 

they are already adequately provided for in the other clauses of that 

matter for discretion. 30 

 

MR WILLIS:  Right, yes, okay, so you are saying that they can be – in fact or 

effectively by signalling them in those matters of discretion that they 

will be given regard to, but I guess the point Mr Collins made to us this 

morning was doesn’t it give the person assessing this application some 35 

degree of, some benchmark, some measure, some guide, if you like, as 

to what would be in the ballpark of being appropriate and what would 

not be, or is that an unhelpful thing? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  I think that maybe that, I think that is helpful in some 40 

circumstances but I do not – I am not convinced that it is helpful in the 

context of a matter for discretion.  I think it’s something that would 

more appropriately be done in the design guidance and that is because 

the standards and the details, the standards, essentially, act as 

thresholds above which you have to look at further assessment.  If you 45 

are dealing with comprehensive developments that are by their nature a 
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form of development which is not the normal, an expected form of 

development that has been, well, those standards have been developed 

in mind of then they do not necessarily provide the appropriate base 

from which to make that assessment.  I agree that they can be helpful 

but I would suggest that they’re better sitting in the New 5 

Neighbourhood Design Guide than in the matter for discretion. 

 

MR WILLIS:  Okay, and I said it was the last one but this is the last one, the 

fact that if H was not there would it, in your view, impede the ability to 

take those matters into account anyway? 10 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  No, and I had just done a check today after having 

discussion with Mr Collins and Ms Schroder to check that they are all 

covered and I am pretty comfortable that those matters can be 

considered under all the other matters for discretion. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Ms McIntyre, all the matters I 

had on my list have been well covered.  Any questions arising, 

Mr Laing?   

 20 

MR LAING:   Just one question arising out of H.   

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [5.40 pm] 

 

 Mr Willis asked you a question as to, I think, around why you do not 25 

think it is necessary.  Can you just expand on that please? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Because the built form standards in 14.6.3 that do not apply 

to the comprehensive residential development, with the exception of 

the water supply for fire-fighting one on which I am in agreement with 30 

Mr Collins on, is that because you are dealing with comprehensive 

developments that matter can be already assessed in relation to the 

subdivision aspect of the development.  With the exception of that 

standard, all the other standards are covered by matters B, C, D, E, F or 

G in 14.9.25. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Isn’t H useful as a flag to prospective applicants in terms of how 

they might comply with good design outcomes? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   It is useful as something for them to consider. What I 40 

would be concerned about is that by its nature, because these have been 

made restricted discretionary rather than controlled, they have been 

made restricted discretionary in order to provide greater flexibility for 

people to do things in an innovative way.  I would be concerned that 

this matter for discretion might act as a constraint on that innovation 45 
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because it might become something that unnecessarily constrains 

developers. 

 

 The standards in themselves do not necessarily tell you what a good 

design outcome is.  The matters that the standards are intended to deal 5 

with are directly linked to the design outcomes but the numbers in the 

standards may not actually tell you anything about what is a good 

design outcome. 

 

MR LAING:   Just one last question, though. Are those standards a useful 10 

starting point, Ms McIntyre? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, they are. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  So, Ms McIntyre, I have indicated 

I have no questions for you.  Are there any questions arising, Ms 

White? 

 20 

MS WHITE:   No, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, at this late hour you are free to go and thank you very 

much for your help along with I forgot to mention Mr Collins and 

Ms Oliver in that frame as well, significant work they have done. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.43 pm] 

 

 So at this point, Mr Lewis, you have been extremely patient and you 

are now an hour later than you anticipated.  Mr Laing has got some 30 

difficulties in the morning and you are down for cross-examination by 

the Council. 

 

MR LAING:   It is going to be fairly brief.  I am not certain with any update 

about the availability of his other witness or not. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder whether what we could do is Mr Lewis could 

present his 10 minutes and hold over cross-examination till tomorrow 

and then possibly, given that Ms Semple has got some difficulties, we 

would start with Ms Semple at 9.15 and come back to you and have 40 

you slotted in for cross-examination later in the morning. Would that be 

okay with you, Mr Lewis?  I am grateful for your indication of that.  

Now you had a witness too that you could not get in contact with, is 

that still the position? 

 45 

MR LEWIS:   I still cannot contact him. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, you heard Mr Laing indicate earlier I do 

not think he has got an issue with that evidence being able to be entered 

into the record effectively on the basis that the witness has not been 

sworn and has not been the subject of cross-examination and that does 5 

go to the weight which we would give that evidence, it has to as a 

matter of proper process.  So I am just indicating that that is the 

position, rather than not being able to call the evidence at all, it can go 

in as a brief but on the basis that it has not been cross-examined and 

has not been sworn. 10 

 

MR LEWIS:   I appreciate that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Lewis, if you could open with the matters you 

wanted to cover.  Well, in fact you are going to be called as a witness 15 

aren’t you because it will be cross-examination so what we will do is 

have you come forward and I will just need to find your evidence.  We 

will go through the formalities with that once we have found it. 

 

 Mr Laing, have you got an exhibit in front of you at the moment? 20 

 

MR LAING:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Let’s give Mr Laing an opportunity – I have not seen this, 

have you? 25 

 

MR LAING:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think it is attached to his evidence. 

 30 

MR LEWIS:   No, I have not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this attached to your evidence, Mr Lewis? 

 

MR LEWIS:   It is attached to my evidence.  It is probably the best summary of 35 

the evidence so if you could have that in front of you it would be 

helpful I think. 
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<WARREN RICHARD LEWIS, sworn [5.45 pm]  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, your full name is Warren Richard Lewis? 

 

MR LEWIS:  It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are here representing the Cashmere – what you 5 

describe as Cashmere Fields whose members own about 10 properties 

in the Henderson Basin ponding area and in the Cashmere Rural Flood 

Plain area? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is correct. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are also representing Cashmere Park Trust and 

you are a beneficiary and a trustee that owns land to the east of the 

Henderson Basin? 

 15 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are a director of a consultancy, Lewis and Barrow 

and you have the qualifications at 1.2. 

 20 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have been involved in the past hearings that you 

describe at 1.4 - - - 

 25 

MR LEWIS:   That is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - 1.3 and 1.4.  Now, you understand you are giving 

evidence in accordance with the code? 

 30 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Although I might ask you some questions on that.  The 

documents you refer to are described at 1.6? 

 35 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And your evidence comprises your statement and 

attachments, are there any corrections you wanted to make to that 

statement? 40 

 

MR LEWIS:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  And the document you have described as 

appendix X Outline Development Plan Cashmere Fields handed up 45 
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through the secretariat just now is a reproduction of a document of your 

evidence? 

 

MR LEWIS:   That is right. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well you now have an opportunity to 

summarise your evidence and once we have concluded that summary 

we will adjourn for the day and if you could liaise with the secretariat 

at that point concerning when you can come through tomorrow but I 

can indicate it will be after Ms Semple.   10 

 

 So you now confirm your evidence to be true and correct? 

 

MR LEWIS:   I do. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, slightly out of order but if you could speak to 

your summary, thanks. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you for letting me speak tonight, that is great and also 

like to thank the Council for the work that they have done on 20 

everything up until now.  The only thing that I want to present tonight 

is that I consider our ODP superior to the Council’s ODP which is 

included in their appendix 8.6.18 which shows the type 1 and type 2 

developments Sarah Oliver talked about earlier. 

 25 

 There are a few minor differences that we have.  The first one is 

Bridget O’Brien is saying that there is no money in the long term plan 

for the Council and therefore they cannot rezone or cannot put money 

aside or extra money aside to upgrade their pumping station 68. 

 30 

 It would seem to be me that at the time that they were upgrading pump 

station 68 that they would at least make sure that they have got that tiny 

little bit.  You saw all the shading on her plan and basically the bit that 

we are interested in is the bit that is north of the piece that is shown on 

the ODP. 35 

 

 Now, I will just, I thought I might show today but if you have a look at 

the eastern orange portion on the screen, if you extend that broad piece 

at the top up to the houses at Sparks Road that is the piece that we 

wanted to be extended. 40 

 

  [5.50 pm] 

 

 We think there is good reason that that can be developed and also the 

piece underneath the scallop, the orange scallop between there and 45 

Cashmere Road that has just been showed, thank you. 
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 It would seem that they are tiny areas in comparison to the overall area 

that they are going to cater for with their new pipework and pumps so 

the little bit of extra capacity required for those little areas just seems 

tiny in comparison. 5 

 

 It is a bit like the chicken and the egg, do you get into the long term 

plan first or do you get into the zoning first, if they are both dependent 

on each other you are not going to get anywhere.  Traffic, Andrew 

Milne, talked about that we by developing those extra properties that 10 

there would be extra traffic generated and therefore that would be 

detrimental.   

 

 I would venture to say that any development is going to be detrimental 

to traffic but I would have thought that being one of the closest areas to 15 

Christchurch that can be developed that this would get much more 

opportunity for buses, walking, biking and so on and should be 

preferable to further out development. 

 

 Flooding, Brian Norton, is wanting to restrict development to what has 20 

been shown on the Council’s ODP.  I can sympathise with him because 

the modelling has been up and down all over the show in recent years 

and until such time as they get this new model sorted out in March then 

it is a wee bit flexible as far as he is concerned. 

 25 

 What he has not done though is left any, if we take his point of view 

then those extra areas that we have talked about are going to be left in 

limbo for the next 10 to 20 years whereas if there could be some way in 

which they could be deferred residential or in the plans that CERA had, 

there was one there that showed the larger areas, the extra areas were in 30 

pink and if those pink could be extended into all the land owned by the 

Cashmere Fields people then it could be left then to the Council and the 

Cashmere Fields to negotiate what should be conservation areas and 

what could be residential areas. 

 35 

 Just to show, speak a bit louder - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually just at this point could the mobile microphone 

just be given to Mr Lewis?  I just want to make sure you are not missed 

from the transcript when you stand up. 40 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you.  Just to show you what compensatory storage is all 

about and I know you have heard a lot about that with subdivisions and 

retention ponds and so on.  It is a wee bit different when you come to 

the edge of a basin though in that you are actually excavating out land 45 
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to create dry land rather than excavating out land to make ponds to 

store more water.   

 

 Now you can see here that we are taking that amount of land out and 

we put it up there and in fact if that area is equal to that area then when 5 

you get a 200 year flood you have got the same storage regardless.  

That is by the way the maximum historic flood that has been recorded 

in the Henderson Basin. 

 

  [5.55 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lewis, these informal drawings, you were not 

proposing to have them entered as evidence, were you? 

 

MR LEWIS:   No. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  You will just need to bear in mind though that 

the transcript will only record what you say. 

 

MR LEWIS:   Correct. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so you need to be quite explicit. 

 

MR LAING:   Could Mr Lewis move back a bit so we can actually see the - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Laing. So Mr Laing has also been 

blocked from view.  So why don’t you bring that forward, yes that is 

okay, if you stand to that side.  All right. 

 

MR LEWIS:   And this is the example of the Cashmere Stream.  It is a little bit 30 

different.  You have got the stream down here, you have got a bank that 

you would not want to excavate below, so that is the level, so you can 

see with the previous diagram with compensatory storage in a basin’s 

edge you get 50 percent approximately that can be developed and 

50 percent that is given over to conservation, wetlands and so on.  35 

When you get to the edge of a stream it is not quite so good so you 

finish up with about two-thirds having to be given up to conservation 

and about one-third to become residential. 

 

 The other thing is, if you play with the flood level, if you increase the 40 

flood level a couple of hundred millimetres it does not make a lot of 

difference to the area.  All it does is shuffle the boundary line across to 

make less housing and more conservation. But it is not a game changer.  

And the same thing happens with the edge of the basin.   

 45 
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 I just wanted to explain that in a diagrammatic form.  It is explained in 

my evidence but a picture is worth a thousand words in my opinion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, do you want this picture for cross-examination? 

 5 

MR LAING:   No, I do not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not, okay, thank you.  All right, Mr Lewis, just 

whenever you quickly can resume your seat that would be good, thank 

you.   10 

 

MR LEWIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And we will just give the roving microphone back so it 

does not cause feedback through the other one. 15 

 

MR LEWIS:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   At this time of the night feedback might be quite a good 

thing.  All right.   20 

 

MR LEWIS:   The only other thing is that the reason why we have been a bit 

more insistent on this ODP rather than the ODP you see on the screen, 

is that there is a lot of work went into that ODP.  Sure the earthquake 

has changed things to some degree but that is not to say that it cannot 25 

be adjusted.  

 

 We have worked out where the road should go, where the wildlife 

corridors should go, reserves, et cetera.  There has been a tremendous 

amount of work and a lot of that work has also been put in by the 30 

Council.  It just seems a shame to me to waste all that work and then go 

on a broad brush ODP such as that was on the board. 

 

 The other thing is that this particular area has got all the infrastructure 

in place. It is the closest Greenfield site to the city centre. All the 35 

community facilities are there. I has very large reserves already and 

then when these become reserves and that gets included we can provide 

stormwater cleansing for all the drains in the area, we can balance 

carbon use for urban development with the absorption of carbon with 

the planted reserve areas.  The environmental effects overall are much 40 

better than any of the other Greenfield sites that I have seen. 

 

 And it also provides a great link between Westmorland and the likes of 

Hoon Hay School for children on bikes and that sort of thing.  And it 

just joins in with the network so much better the way we have planned 45 

it than if we just leave it in limbo with the ODP proposed.  Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lewis.  We will not take questions at this 

point as I indicated so you can gather your papers and you are now free 

this evening and we will see you back tomorrow, if you could make 

contact with the Secretariat in the morning to get an idea of the time. 5 

 

MR LEWIS:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.59 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, we will resume the hearing tomorrow at 9.15. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.59 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 12 JANUARY 2016 

 15 


